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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B 2 AR S

Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Gas Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 10 to 234, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2023, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B 2B S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

HRETSER

EAEETSER

ARBFTFEHERBERMANERHE R
REAPEEMBERENBETRSEZN
ER -ELEHEERMEBFBREAM
BHRELODASARETREEN - LMT
EHELFEERHEEBENER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNEFNAEBERETETHETRE

Recognition of gas connection and engineering design and construction income

HRREFRURIERGARETIRAZER

We identified recognition of gas connection and engineering
design and construction income as a key audit matter due to its
guantitative significance to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income and significant
judgments involved in the recognition.

A2 RRIMRRER AR TR&R Lt TRA 2 ER
RAREFTFH AREYGAEaREIMEmKA
BREEATETE BHEIASNEXRHAL -

As disclosed in note 3.2 to the consolidated financial
statements, revenue from gas connection and engineering
design and construction is measured based on the input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of the
Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance
obligation relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction
of that performance obligation. The Group recognised revenue
of approximately HK$6,776,066,000 from gas connection and
engineering design and construction during the year ended 31
March 2023.

BANG AT ERARNEI2EE  RARKRERUET
RBERFAEEIHRADREREAZTZE iR &S
BREKBHETFAEMNBHIIZEACGEERIERAEK
BHOEEHNBREN)ERLA - BEEBERHE_T =
—F=ZA=T—HLEFEBRRKENRRER UK LE
& at M TR U A 49 56,776,066,0007%8 JT ©

Our procedures in relation to recognition of gas connection and
engineering design and construction income included:

BHPRERRREBRARIER A REIRAZREF
B

o Understanding the management'’s process and key controls
relating to the approval of construction contracts for gas
connection and engineering design and construction and
the measurement of the progress of satisfaction of the
performance obligation;

e THULERREBRZERIERFIREIAOR
AEBNBRANERMIENEEERF RER
5l

o Discussing with management with respect to the basis of
recognition and measurement of gas connection and
engineering design and construction income;

e HEEREIRABMRER
WA B FER R st B R

XA KM TR R M T

Independent Auditor’s Report J& 7 1% Siih k&
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B ZBEN RS

Key audit matter

BRETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMHEFNAHBEEEFEHETREE

As set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements,
significant judgments are applied in determining the progress of
satisfaction of performance obligation, including costs incurred
to date and budgeted costs to complete.

BMINERE M MRMEAPTE - AMRERALTIER
ARETWAME  ERTEAHBEEROBTLY
ER BRESEELAZKRARKRIBEERA -

Evaluating the reasonableness of management’s estimates
of the progress of satisfaction of performance obligation
by:

BHPATIHAAFEEREBYBENEECEITE
BAFTHEEE:

o Examining relevant construction contracts and,
where appropriate, invoices and completion reports
from external parties on a sample basis;

s WMEBEEXRBNBESTHHEBEERER N
K@ BRERTETRE :

o Testing actual costs incurred, including material and
subcontracting costs, by inspecting invoices and
other supporting documents on a sample basis;

s WMERTEBEREMIANM WAAER
EELEKRA  BEMHRDBRA

o Assessing the reasonableness of budgeted costs with
reference to actual costs incurred; and

o ZEBTBEMAUFLRERLANSENE K

Considering the historical accuracy of the Group's
estimates by comparing the total actual costs incurred at
completion against the total budgeted costs for selected
projects.

BAETRATTIRELANAERKANREEE
A Z S - AR BERBEAETAEL ERENE -

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2022/23 HEMRRBIERER AT 2022/238 % HE



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B 2B S

Key audit matter

BRETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMHEFNAHBEEEFEHETREE

Impairment assessment of goodwill

72 28 Bl B ¥ 1

We identified impairment assessment of goodwill as a key audit
matter due to the involvement of significant judgments and
assumptions in determining the recoverable amounts of cash-
generating units (“CGUs"”) to which goodwill has been
allocated, which are derived from value in use calculations using
discounted cash flow models.

ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ@Zﬁﬁﬂﬁ%@ﬁ%%$ﬁ ESPERS

BErRRC o EEmEnBcsELEN((REELE
) zaEkeR(HERRASREEAAECRER
EL) S REBARHERERR -

At 31 March 2023, the Group has goodwill of approximately
HK$3,230,141,000 relating to CGUs principally engaged in the
sales of natural gas and gas pipeline construction business, sales
of liquefied petroleum gas business and provision of value-
added services in the People’s Republic of China which are
subject to annual impairment assessment. Details are disclosed
in notes 4 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

R-ZE-_=F=A=+—8" EECEENE
3Bmmom%ﬁ'%ﬁ%ﬁzxﬁ$§AE £ AN B
RERARHERMRIEEEIEERBRILEHRH
%%%&kﬁ%@%%%ﬁiﬁi SN - Zm B
ZHRNFEREBETGH FHEEREEMBHREMTIR
214058 -

During the process of impairment assessment of goodwill, the
management of the Group considered the assessment of certain
CGUs is highly judgmental and is dependent on certain
significant inputs including the discount rates and growth rates.
The carrying amount of goodwill of the identified CGUs at 31
March 2023 amounted to HK$1,584,703,000. During the year
ended 31 March 2023, no impairment of goodwill has been
recognised.

RAHEERERR E£EEEERAEETHSE
FEMNNFGAESEEEHE  MZABHIUARSE
FTERBAHE PREUBAXRRERE - BHANRS
EESVR_ZE-_=F=-A=+—BHNEEEREEA
1,584,703,000 L HE T -_=Z=F=HA=+—H 1t
FE WEREIADERE-

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment of goodwill
of the identified CGUs included:

BMAEBNREELFENHBRENENRETFEE
o Understanding the Group’s impairment assessment
process, including the impairment model and the

preparation of the cash flow projections;

e TR BEEBERENGEHNBERE(
ERERANGER)

BREBERE KR

o Evaluating the appropriateness of the impairment model
applied by the management;

e HHEEEERRMERIENBEML:

o Evaluating the basis of the management’s cash flow

forecasts by comparing the actual results of identified
CGUs to the previously forecasted results;

e FRABEBANRNCELEBMMNERGEREIAE
RERETHEBRATEEEEReRERANE
A

o Engaging our internal valuation experts to assess the

appropriateness of discount rates used; and

e ERZMANAMMEER
1 &

RetEFABREERNEE

o Assessing the reasonableness of growth rates applied in
the forecast based on historical experiences and trends for
identified CGUs.

e HMEBRMNRELBU ERNBELRIBEF
ERAAERERENGEMN -

Independent Auditor’s Report J& 7 1% Siih k&
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B ZBEN RS

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Hit & ¥
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B 2B S

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section
90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
B 2 BEN RS

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF %
HY

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going e

concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group'’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the e

consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial e

information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

B R P B |MRARE
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M AEMEEXEMBEPIRBRE
AIBGEAMBEHRRTOBERE-
REABORET R AERRMAN
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EERERALER BEXETRER
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B o

FERAMBHERNOEBEIF A
REBNAR BREE UREAH
BRERETPERBRZIFNEIR -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B AZ B E R

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s
report is Tsang Yiu Chung.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 June 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GERmREMEEIRAREK

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #H=

—E=F=A=1+—HItFE

2023 2022
—E_-=E —_E=-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M & FET FAET
Revenue PN 5 91,988,445 88,225,193
Cost of sales §H & B AR (79,953,770) (72,486,201)
Gross profit E 7 12,034,675 15,738,992
Other income E g A 6 1,373,913 1,378,291
Other gains and losses E b Y zs K g5 18 7 344,502 (474,156)
Selling and distribution costs $HE RO AR (2,950,007) (2,861,171)
Administrative expenses TR (3,153,578) (2,973,407)
Finance costs Bf 75 & 8 (1,855,358) (1,456,530)
Share of results of associates FEAG B & A B 2 4R 344,838 920,714
Share of results of joint ventures BIEEERRIZHEE (100,983) 514,583
Profit before taxation & 5% A1 g A 6,038,002 10,787,316
Taxation 18 9 (923,578) (2,004,446)
Profit for the year F 5 % F 10 5,114,424 8,782,870
Other comprehensive (expense) income Hih2mE (B xR) KA
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: 2 EH HIE B 7 HEH -
Exchange differences arising on translation BREEECZEREZRE (6,858,730) 2,746,757
Decrease in fair value of investments in equity EAFEFAEMEZEEK
instruments at fair value through other AZBATHIZEERF
comprehensive income (EN: S (84,144) (241,836)
Gain on revaluation of properties, net of MEEHWE  BEHBRE
deferred tax LRI 73,137 =
Other comprehensive (expense) income for FEEMmE2mE () KA
the year (6,869,737) 2,504,921
Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year & 2 (5 X ) Uk A 4258 (1,755,313) 11,287,791

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2022/23 HEIRARIZRER AT 2022/230 % HE



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
retEmREMEEWAREK

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZ=—ZE—-_=F=A=+—HItFE

2023 2022
—EBE-=F —=E-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Mo 3E FEx FBT
Profit for the year attributable to: FERNGE
Owners of the Company KABEA A 4,293,484 7,662,036
Non-controlling interests JEIE AR R S 820,940 1,120,834
5,114,424 8,782,870
Total comprehensive (expense) income 2EFEDWRABERE
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KABEA A (1,890,761) 9,845,102
Non-controlling interests JEPERR = 135,448 1,442,689
(1,755,313) 11,287,791
Earnings per share TR &N 14
Basic BN HK$;% 5t0.80 HK$7%7T1.39
Diluted s HK$;3% 7t0.80 HK$%&7T1.39

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 4341828 K H i 2 EU ARz
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

B SEMBMRRE

At 31 March 2023 RZZE==F=A=+—H

2023 2022
—E_-=E —_E=-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M & FET FH&T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment properties KEME 15 2,881,831 2,296,359
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE NMERE 16 66,891,255 68,064,728
Right-of-use assets FHEEE 17 3,792,673 4,295,717
Investments in associates REE AT ZIRE 18 10,245,589 10,662,967
Investments in joint ventures REBARIZIRE 19 12,045,110 12,222,808
Equity instruments at fair value through other 3% A SF{E & A H b 2 [ U A
comprehensive income ZIRAT R 20 922,498 738,064
Goodwill EES 21 3,230,141 3,473,229
Other intangible assets HEtEREEE 22 3,601,304 4,052,676
Deposits for acquisition of property, plant WiEWME BEEKELES
and equipment 342,457 683,535
Deposits for acquisition of subsidiaries, joint WEHEB AR &8 Q7 Mk
ventures and associates and other deposits ERAIZEE AR EMIRE 105,643 527,891
Deferred tax assets RIEFRTAEE E 34 1,012,269 705,006
105,070,770 107,722,980
Current assets mENE E
Inventories =g 23 5,655,445 5,701,218
Contract assets BHEE 24 12,706,697 17,138,269
Trade and other receivables = %FEHKEEIE&/H\@@WE%IE 25 16,702,411 16,247,196
Amounts due from associates JE Ui B 2 ’A HIE 26 474,088 541,621
Amounts due from joint ventures FEWEEATIRIE 26 5,959,576 5,501,944
Held-for-trading investments BIEEEKR ﬁ 27 104,536 104,638
Pledged bank deposits BEHEFIETER 28 178,696 177,968
Cash and cash equivalents RENBESESEHAEHR 28 10,438,990 10,010,518
52,220,439 55,423,372
Current liabilities mEA G
Trade and other payables Z S ENRE &ﬁ MEERIE 29 19,557,328 21,078,723
Amounts due to associates JFE 1< Bt 2 1 A IE 26 72,050 70,399
Amounts due to joint ventures B A& QA RIHE 26 156,108 69,309
Contract liabilities EHBaE 24 9,080,132 9,443,070
Tax payable & 1~F 758 18 806,268 1,269,249
Lease liabilities HEAE 30 200,709 213,802
Bank and other borrowings — due within BITMEMEE—NR—FR
one year 2=t 31 21,907,608 22,142,596
51,780,203 54,287,148
Net current assets mMENEEFE 440,236 1,136,224
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRESAE 105,511,006 108,859,204

12 China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2022/23 HEIRKIEBRER AT 2022/238 15K E



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSIT\ION
mongtns | R

At31 March 2023 RZZT=—=F=F=+—H

2023 2022
—E-=F —_E-—
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5 THERT FHET
Equity 5
Share capital & 7 32 54,403 54,403
Reserves .y 57,846,181 63,523,490
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 2B A A G HEHA A Z 57,900,584 63,577,893
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR R S 6,889,795 8,491,260
Total equity # SR 64,790,379 72,069,153
Non-current liabilities FERBBE
Bank and other borrowings — due after RITEEMEE—NR—F&
one year ) £ 31 38,103,193 33,086,493
Lease liabilities HEaRE 30 1,175,335 1,356,116
Deferred tax liabilities BRERBARE 34 1,442,099 1,447,442
40,720,627 36,790,051
105,511,006 108,859,204
The consolidated financial statements on pages 10 to 234 were approved and  E10E2M B 7 GV BERZE R T =
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2023 and are signed =% /XA —_+tXERKREE S £ &‘ |
on its behalf by: B OUWAHUTALIRRES
LIU MING HUI ZHU WEIWEI
2| 85 12 KER
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
2 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CHANGES IN EQUITY

GEERBER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE—-ZT—

=F=ZA=t—HLHFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

SRANTDERA
Investment ~ Properties Treasury Capital Non-
Share Share  Translation  revaluation revaluation Special shares Capital ~ redemption ~ Statutory ~ Accumulated controling
cpitl  premium reserve reserve feserve reserve resene reserve reserve funds profits Subtotal interests Total
RAEfE  NEER ERRH X EAER
A RAEE EXRE R Hh  BARE L L B EEEE  EHEd Nt EBRES &3t
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR ThAR TAR TEr  ThAn ThR T Thn  TEn THRL TR Tin TR
(note33)  (note33)  (note33) (Noted) ~ (Notev) (Note i) (Note i)
(i) (Wetss)  (W&s3) (W& (W) (WD (Migtii)
At 1 April 2021 KZF=-%MA-A 52,124 11522188 1,322,706 (81,289) 1,601 1,602 - (31,09) 1794 265,231 3669099 51936860 7,927,272 59,864,132
Profit for the year FEET = = = = = - - - - — 766203 7662036  1,12083% 8782870
Other comprehensive income ~ FEEM2ARA (FR)
(expense) for the year - — 2424902 (241,836) - — - — — — — 2,183,066 321855 2504921
Total comprehensiveincome £ 2ERA () 2%
(expense) for the year = — 24490 (241,836) = = = = = — 7662036 9845102 1442689 11,287,791
Acquisition of additional interest A E K B A 1B s ER
of subsidaries (note 36) (Ki&E36) = = = = = = — (2812,18%) - - — (812188 (513267 (3325453
Acquistion of subsidaries WEHEAR (KiE37)
(note 37) — — — - — - — — — — — - 211,103 21,103
Disposal andwindingupof ~ HEHBAFRKEAR
subsidiaries ER - - - - - - - - - - - - (75,033) (75,033)
Capital contribution from WEARFERES
non-controling interests of JHE
subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - - 349,030 349,030
Issue of shares, net of transaction %777 (B B E)
costs (note 32) (H332) 3920 11,598,871 — — = = = = = = — 11,602,791 — 11,602,791
Repurchase of shares BER G (1,641)  (2,845,464) - - - — (1,085,120 - 1641 - (1,641)  (3,932229) - (3930
Dividends paid by subsidiaries to - B2 AR 12 R iE &
non-controlling interests ke — - - - - - - - - - - —  (850534)  (850,534)
Dividends recognised as EREARZES
distributions (note 13) (FizE13) - - - - - - - - - —  (3062449) (3,062,449 — (3,062,449
Transfer 4 - - - - - - - - — 729209 (729,209) - - —
At31 March 2022 R-B--%
ZfA=1-H 54403 20275595 3747608 (323,129 1,601 1,602 (1,085,120) (3,043277) 3435 3385440 40559731 63577,893 8491260 72,069,153

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2022/23 HEIRARIZRER AT 2022/230 % HE



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN

B

EQUITY
BE)R

nVT\
For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE T -_=F=A=+—HItFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
BRANAREA
Employee
Investment  Properties Treasury  share-based Capital Non-
Share Share Translation ~ revaluation  revaluation Special shares  compensation Capital redemption  Statutory Accumulated controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve  reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve funds profits  Subtotal interests Total
REEfE  NXEM EFRS EESROEM &%  43EE
Bx  REER ERER L BE  RHRE % i HE BF iREE  RitEd Mt FERER #it
HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$000  HKS$'000 HKS000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000
Fi#n TEn F#n Fin Tén  TEx T#n T#n Fi#n TEn T#n Fi#n TEn Tén T
(note33)  (note33)  (note 33 (Notei)  (Noteiv) (Note ii) (Note ii)
(W33)  (W&Ess)  (W&E33) (W& (W) (M 3tii) (H3tiii)
At1 April 2022 RZF-Z§MA-A 54403 20275595 3,747,608 (323,125) 1,601 1,602 (1,085,120) - (30432m) 3435 3385440 40,559,731 63,577,803 8491260 72,069,153
Profit for the year EEER - - - - - - - - - - - 4203484 4293484 820040 5114424
Other comprehensive (expense) — FEEMZE () A
income for the year - - 61328 8414 T3 - - - - - - - (618425 (385490 (6869,737)
Total comprehensive (expense) FR2E(RY)UALE
income for the year - - (6,173,23) (84,144 73,137 - - - - - - 4203484 (1890,761) 135448 (1,755,313
Acquisiion of additional interestof ~ WREEF B 2 Al B0 E S
subsidiaries (note 36) (HE36) - - - - - - - - (194708 - - - (194708) (1,287,350)  (2,082,058)
Disposal and winding up of HENBLAARKELE
subsidiaries 44 - - - - - - - - - - - - - (6,903) (6,903)
Capital contribution from HBLRFERES
non-controlling interests of P
subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - - - 162697 162,697
Recogtion of equity-settied EARTEENRA A
share-based payments ERNER - - - - - - - 35 - - - - 345 - 345
Shares vested under the share Thth it HE SRR
award scheme - - - - - - 380 (i) - - - (209) - - -
Dividends paid by subsidiaristo -~ ¥ B A AR g &
non-controlling interests 28 - - - - - - - - - - - - - (655367)  (655,357)
Dividends recognised as ERESRZIRE
distributions (note 13) (HiE13) - - - - - - - - - - - (2,902,185 (2,992,185 - (2992185)
Disposal of an equity instrumentat &R AT EF AL
fair value through other SEHAZBREIE
comprehensive income - - - 67,869 - - - - - - - (67,869) - - -
Transfer E-1d - - - - - - - - - - 311,872 (871,872 - - -
At31 March 2023 RZ2==Z%
=h=1-H 54403 20275595  (2,425630)  (339,400) 4738 1,602 (1,084,740) 174 (3,837,985) 3435 3757312 41,421,080 57,900,584 6,889,795 64,790,379

Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity 4r& S EB)ER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

wm

=N/
1; 2 \I“ﬂll\ﬁ%

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE—-Z—

Notes:

(0]

(ii)

(iii)

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal
value of the shares of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the group
reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares in 1995.

Capital reserve represents the effect of changes in the ownership interests in
subsidiaries on the equity attributable to owners of the Company upon the
acquisition of non-controlling interests.

In accordance with statutory requirements in the People’s Republic of China,
other than Hong Kong (the “PRC"), subsidiaries registered in the PRC are
required to transfer a certain percentage of the annual net income from
accumulated profits to the statutory funds, until the statutory funds are
accumulated up to 50% of its registered capital. Under normal circumstances,
the statutory funds are not allowed to be distributed to the subsidiaries’
shareholders as dividends. The statutory funds shall only be used for making
good losses, capitalisation into paid-in capital and expansion of its production
and operations.

Treasury shares reserve comprises the consideration paid for the repurchase of
the Company’s shares for treasury shares held under the share award scheme of
the Company as disclosed in note 35 and transaction costs thereon.

=F=ZA=t—HLHFE

GEX

(iii)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HRERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE

ZE=F=A=+—HItEE

2023 2022
—E-=F —_E-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES )
Profit before taxation R B A% ) 6,038,002 10,787,316
Adjustments for: AT A
Changes in fair value of investment properties REMERNTEEZE (133,850) (349,682)
Gain on transfer from inventories to investment MEFEEREREMEZ RS
properties (254,020) —
Impairment losses (reversed) recognised for EMEERAGHEE (BD)ER
financial assets and contract assets, net BEE 18 F 5 (32,084) 497,084
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME- - BEMEKEITE 2,283,191 2,084,222
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEECIE 339,565 331,486
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESHE 189,408 176,835
Changes in fair value of held-for-trading BEEEREZATEES
investments 102 581,991
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEW¥E - MERXREZEE 13,281 13,419
Finance costs 51 7% & A 1,855,358 1,456,530
Share of results of associates BB E AR EE (344,838) (920,714)
Share of results of joint ventures BIEEERRIZHE 100,983 (514,583)
Interest income A B WA (301,294) (282,600)
Net foreign exchange gain B 5 W s 5 58 (20,855) (63,728)
Loss (gain) on disposal and winding up of HEMRB R RNEB QRS
subsidiaries 2 E5E (W) 5,370 (42,409)
Gain on deemed disposal of partial interest in an BIELEBME N D ERZ
associate g 25 - (228,797)
Loss on derecognition of financial assets measured ~ #% | HERIL B X AN EN S
at amortised cost BEECIEX 367,212 =
Gain on loss of significant influence in an associate 4k Z5 ¥ B & A Rl & K2 2 M &
Bz W (320,217) —
Gain on disposal of investment properties HEREYE KRG (10,639) —
Share-based payment expense AR ABERMREX 345 =
Operating cash flows before movements in working 2B &S EHAI 2 KL EKR S
capital M= 9,775,020 13,526,370
Increase in inventories FEEMm (562,751) (182,653)
Decrease in contract assets A HNEER D 3,251,362 92,302
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 FE AR T J E 4th fE IR 1R
1% 40 (1,630,179) (1,224,856)
Decrease (increase) in amounts due from associates & U B4t & N &) ZIE 5L 4> (3% hn) 23,083 (77,113)
Decrease (increase) in amounts due from joint FEE & N al AR (%)
ventures 627,567 (1,884,516)
Increase (decrease) in amounts due to joint ventures & & & A &) 2 A & 0 OF ) 91,948 (257,919)
(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables B 5P RRTE & H T AR IE
R 1840 (279,038) 729,395
Increase in amounts due to associates JFE A~F B 2 N m) FRIE B2 N 6,051 23,299
Increase in contract liabilities EXBEE N 338,137 1,102,822
Cash generated from operations REEEMEBR® 11,641,200 11,847,131
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid ENPRHEEMER (1,613,916) (1,970,792)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEXBHERFR 10,027,284 9,876,339

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows #F&IRERER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

an\ IE:%/)H:E%%

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZ_-Z—

=F=A=t+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E_-=E —_F -
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FAT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEY
Interest received B U F & 301,294 282,600
Deposits paid for acquisition of subsidiaries, WEEWB AR A& R ML
joint ventures and associates UNCITRR B (6,857) (50,545)
Placement of pledged bank deposits BEERFRITERTFA (435,231) (315,547)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits EREERRITERX 421,283 424,427
Additions of investment properties REREME - (1,369,737)
Additions of and deposits paid for acquisition of NEYVE BEMREBELRENESE
property, plant and equipment (5,878,633) (8,810,615)
Additions of right-of-use assets REFAREE (81,661) (195,754)
Additions of other intangible assets RNEEMBEEEE - (2,669)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEME BMELEREZMENRIE
equipment 146,635 139,791
Proceeds from disposal of right-of-use assets LEFRAEEE 2B RIE - 14,967
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties HEREMEZFBRE 154,639 —
Proceeds from disposal and winding up of subsidiaries €& B 2 7] K& i B A 55 & 2
P15 318 22,628 230,112
Proceeds from disposal of equity instruments at fair & 3% A FE =+ A H 42 E A
value through other comprehensive income IR ART A FiEE 3,521 24,126
Net cash and cash equivalents acquired on acquisition UWWEEMTB A a2 Fr5IR 4 RIRE
of subsidiaries LHIBEEFHE 5,443 (157,410)
Additions of investments in joint ventures RERGERRZIKRE (711,100) (1,316,236)
Additions of investments in associates RERBERAIZKRE (335,094) (356,276)
Additions of equity instruments at fair value through AR ZE3Z A FEzH A H 42 mE kA
other comprehensive income ZBATH - (348,321)
Advances to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries  [A] Fff B8 /2 7] 3E 122 J& 42 25 & 3¢ (33,657) (7,645)
Repayment from associates BEE N RIENR 4,215 58,774
Advances to joint ventures B ENGIE-E S (1,493,915) (736,828)
Dividend received from associates BB E R E R A 255,180 167,425
Dividend received from joint ventures BREELFIRE 154,017 120,319
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES RELBAAREFE (7,507,293) (12,205,042)

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2022/23 HEMRRBIERER AT 2022/238 % HE



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
nVT\ IE%/)“:EZ:—%

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE T - =F=F=+—HIFE
2023 2022
—E_-=E —EFE-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEY
Interest paid 2 F B (2,477,891) (2,111,360)
Payment on repurchase of ordinary shares Ol B8 & 38 AR FUR - (2,847,105)
Payment for purchase of treasury shares under share 18 % i& {5 #2 B &t 21 & B & 17 18 (5
award scheme pARE - (1,085,120)
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares, BOLBRAEHRIEHERR S
net of transaction costs DY) - 11,602,791
Dividends paid E IR B (2,992,185) (3,062,449)
New bank and other borrowings raised MESBRITREMET 37,138,674 40,132,657
Repayments of bank and other borrowings 1,53@ RIT R EAME E (30,218,851) (34,807,361)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEEHEARE (212,183) (220,476)
Repayment to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries [A] Fff & /& 7 3F 52 A% # 25 18 3¢ (90,595) (60,763)
Acquisition of additional interests of subsidiaries U B B 88 & R RB SN 2R (1,953,148) (3,325,453)
Repayment of consideration payables FERREER (114,973) (19,188)
Capital contribution from non-controlling interests  Fff & /2 &) JF & i 25 2 H &
of subsidiaries 162,697 349,030
Dividends paid by subsidiaries to non-controlling B /8 A BlR (< FEIE AR RE 25 2 A% B
interests (655,357) (850,534)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES g8 & E 8 (BT ) FT13 IR & /5 58 (1,413,812) 3,694,669
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RENIBESEEIER ZIEINESE 1,106,179 1,365,966
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF  F# 2R & kIR & EEEE
THE YEAR 10,010,518 8,293,720
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ~ [ER & &) 2 & (677,707) 350,832
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF FRrzZBeRBESEEER
THE YEAR 10,438,990 10,010,518

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 4&IH&RER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eI HRRME

i

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZ=—ZE-—=F=A=+—HItFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in Bermuda as
an exempted company with limited liability and its shares are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
address of its registered office and principal place of business are
disclosed in the section headed “Corporate Information” of the Group's
annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 46.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$") and the functional currency of the Company and
majority of its subsidiaries is Renminbi (“RMB"”). As the Company is a
listed entity in Hong Kong, the directors of the Company consider that
it is appropriate to present the consolidated financial statements in
HK$.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2022/23 HEIRARIZRER AT 2022/230 % HE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR ERR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE T -_=F=FA=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND AGENDA DECISIONS OF THE
IFRS INTERPRETATIONS COMMITTEE (THE
“COMMITTEE")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the "HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on or after 1 April
2022 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020

Amendments to HKFRSs

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the Committee
of the International Accounting Standards Board, including “Cost
necessary to sell inventories (IAS 2 “Inventories”)”, which is relevant to
the Group.

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to
HKFRSs and the Committee’s agenda decision in the current year has
had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Fﬁir‘?@%ﬂié&za‘ﬁ%ﬂﬁ%
IR & ZERMERT A

AEBERAFENHRERBUTAS
EEgimAg(EESmMAg])E
MBI HRELERBITA BH
HAR-_E-__FWA—HskzEH
WRFEEHERA AR UEREE
Bk

Ei%ﬁﬁki&iiﬁﬁﬂ B HE 2R A IR

35f(f HES)
%’é FHZE R ME - BB &EE
16sﬁi(fmT$) —BEAENN
Fr 1S 3K 38
B4R BRSO —TET
FITHEUBETA) BHZEA
BB EHRELER BB HRE LR
CHEN, —E-N\FZ
7_7¢Z¢F
M

SO AEE D R B R SR ERIE
FEZBEZEBRERE BEAELXE
BAEBNIHEFEOSLERAN(BKR
G ERE2RIFED] -

BRTIXAAEN RAFERANE
BHBHRELAUBITARZTEGHRE
REHANEERAFERBEFEN
FBEMRRRRAL HZEHATH
BRABNRBELBEBERTE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R BRI R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZ=—ZE-—=F=A=+—HItFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs"”) AND AGENDA DECISIONS OF THE
IFRS INTERPRETATIONS COMMITTEE (THE
“COMMITTEE") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 “Reference to the Conceptual
Framework”

The Group has applied the amendments to business combinations for
which the acquisition date was on or after 1 April 2022. The
amendments update a reference in HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations”
so that it refers to the “Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
2018" issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”) instead of
“Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements” (replaced by the “Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2010" issued in October 2010), add a requirement that, for
transactions and events within the scope of HKAS 37 "Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 “Levies”
(“HK(IFRIC)-Int21"), an acquirer applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21
instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has
assumed in a business combination and add an explicit statement that
an acquirer does not recognise contingent assets acquired in a business
combination.

The application of the amendments in the current year has had no
impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZ=—ZE—-_=F=A=+—HItFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2. EREEBHBHRELELN(H
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS B EHREER DEBIT AR
("HKFRSs”) AND AGENDA DECISIONS OF THE HEREREEZENREZE
IFRS INTERPRETATIONS COMMITTEE (THE 2((ZEE8)EFRRE®@
"COMMITTEE") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but EEMAERMRERZ2EBTB
not yet effective HE R AT E R RIBFT A
The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to AEBUVEREEAUTEBMEN
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective: KA 2 BB E 2R ET 28
RASET 7 -
HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts' ERVBEREED RRE4'
October 2020 and February FN7R(BE_Z
2022 Amendments to —EF+ARZ
HKFRS 17) T_F_AF
78 B 765 4 & 22
F175 (BFTA))
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between BERUBRELER KEFREBEN
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint F10ENATFEE AKEERARZ
Venture? FHAERIZE 2858 MMEEL S
CCHENY) BN
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback® EAMEHREER ERMARZHAE
Fl65(BFIA) AR
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or ER e &L BaBELEERE
Non-current and related amendments F15RUEFTA) HIERBREE
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)° REESH A
B A (T
)3
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants® EEETERE1 WEZFENIERD
UACCHIEN) A&’
Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting Policies' HE G R BETBUR 2 HE'
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 FVRREBNB
WEENEBRH
BA 255 (1B 5T &)
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates' EA AR SHEFZER'
F8(BFTAY)
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and HFEB G &L HE - GESE
Liabilities arising from a Single F1I2HUBRTIAR) ZEBEERBESAR
Transaction' B2 IRER IR
! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. ! RZE_=F—A B 2K
FEBMER-
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined. 2 REGETEHIZ2RRABZFEELS
fE £ e
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. S R-ZE_MF—A—HZ2B&HKAZ
FEHBER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZ=—ZE-—=F=A=+—HItFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2.

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs"”) AND AGENDA DECISIONS OF THE
IFRS INTERPRETATIONS COMMITTEE (THE
“COMMITTEE") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Continued)

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the
directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current” and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants” (the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on
the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve months
from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or non-
current, which:

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of the
counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s
own equity instruments, these terms do not affect its classification
as current or non-current only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32 “Financial
Instruments: Presentation”.

° specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence at the end
of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments clarify that
the classification should not be affected by management
intentions or expectations to settle the liability within 12 months.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE T -_=F=FA=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs"”) AND AGENDA DECISIONS OF THE
IFRS INTERPRETATIONS COMMITTEE (THE
“COMMITTEE") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current” and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants” (the “2022 Amendments”)
(Continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from reporting
date which are conditional on the compliance with covenants, the
requirements introduced by the 2020 Amendments have been modified
by the 2022 Amendments. The 2022 Amendments specify that only
covenants with which an entity is required to comply with on or before
the end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
date. Covenants which are required to comply with only after the
reporting period do not affect whether that right exists at the end of
the reporting period.

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure requirements
about information that enables users of financial statements to
understand the risk that the liabilities could become repayable within
twelve months after the reporting period, if the entity classify liabilities
arising from loan arrangements as non-current when the entity’s right
to defer settlement of those liabilities is subject to the entity complying
with covenants within twelve months after the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZ=—ZE-—=F=A=+—HItFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs"”) AND AGENDA DECISIONS OF THE
IFRS INTERPRETATIONS COMMITTEE (THE
“COMMITTEE") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current” and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants” (the “2022 Amendments”)
(Continued)

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of applying the
2020 Amendments to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024. The 2022 Amendments, together with the 2020
Amendments, are effective for the Group’s annual reporting period
beginning on 1 April 2024, with early application permitted. If an entity
applies the 2020 Amendments for an earlier period after the issue of
the 2022 Amendments, the entity should also apply the 2022
Amendments for that period.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group's right to defer settlement for certain
borrowings are subject to compliance with certain financial ratios within
12 months from the reporting date. Such borrowings were classified as
non-current as the Group met such ratios at 31 March 2023. Upon the
application of the 2022 Amendments, such borrowings will still be
classified as non-current as the covenants which the Group is required
to comply with only after the reporting period do not affect whether
that right exists at the end of the reporting date and such borrowing
will still be classified as non-current.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR ERR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE_ZT_=6=A=+—HIL5E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose
of preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for investment properties and certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end
of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at
the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based
Payment” (“HKFRS 2"), leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases” (“HKFRS 16”), and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are
not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories”
or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” (“HKAS 36").
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- R S

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE_—_ZE-_=F=FA=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that
at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique equals
the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE T -_=F=FA=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. mREGEHHBBEZEHEN
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT IEQETB{ﬁ(%)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 32 TEREBER
Basis of consolidation mERBEEE
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial HREMBRREMHARA R HE
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the SINERERENB QR ZHMBR
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Ko BN FTEHEIBEHRAR  AQ T
Company: ESHEZGIEE
o has power over the investee; s AXANBHBEREFTHAE
h
. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its . ARARAKELHEBKE
involvement with the investee; and 77 #) 7] & [E q&& A A Rk
ZHEERN
. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. . KRB AITHEREDUTE
HEl#H -
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if WEERIBERBRNA LY ZS
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or EZEEEZEZ B ZHELHE
more of the three elements of control listed above. B AEEEEHNTHERSE

BRI ETT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE_—_ZE-_=F=FA=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights
are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the
Group's voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it
power, including:

o the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to
the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

J rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

o any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that
the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need
to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-=F=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Changes in the Group'’s interests in subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not result
in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's
relevant components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries according to the Group’s and the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and
is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interests; and (i) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or
loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”)
or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZ=—ZE—-_=F=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GRELGAHEREZEHER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FESTHE @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEHBE @

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration test, on a
transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is
not a business. The concentration test is met if substantially all of
the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a
single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets. The
gross assets under assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents,
deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the effects of
deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test is met, the set of
activities and assets is determined not to be a business and no
further assessment is needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do
not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the
individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by
allocating the purchase price first to investment properties which
are subsequently measured under fair value model and financial
assets/financial liabilities at the respective fair values, the
remaining balance of the purchase price is then allocated to the
other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative
fair values at the date of purchase. Such a transaction does not
give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.

EBEOHBEERS
AEENEREAR

AEEAZEFRARHELEER
BEMAMEENSETERAR &
B AR LR A PTER IS YA B
REEHAGREBIRER - AT
MSHNEEENBAIY» A FE
BEFREFATHREES—HA
BUMAIRANEE  AIFAKT
BERHA EFENREETERE
RehkREEEHEBE BLEHRRA
BENEERBRABHTZEME
ERRE -HEAETFEAR
AEEZ R REEMAL IR
%5 BABIERE -

BEEMF

AEBEREIBREBNEER
BEAAR  NEBEBR LR
HR 15 &Y 18 I 7T 58t 5l & B K P A IR
BE BEARBEERIRKREHR
BEAFERAFEZIRENE
EBEEAZAFEFEZERE
E/eBAE BEEZHREH
BRENBEANZHEBEATFED
EEHMAHNEERBE - Z%
RHZTEELRELRERBENR

N2
S o

T

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 434 BA 7§ M3

33



34

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-=F=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
acquired processes are considered substantive if they are critical
to the ability to continue producing outputs, including an
organised workforce with the necessary skills, knowledge, or
experience to perform the related processes or they significantly
contribute to the ability to continue producing outputs and are
considered unique or scarce or cannot be replaced without
significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to continue
producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

For business combinations in which the acquisition date is on or
after 1 April 2022, the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in
the Conceptual Framework except for transactions and events
within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21, in which the
Group applies HKAS 37 or HK(FRIC)-Int 21 instead of the
Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed in
a business combination. Contingent assets are not recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income
Taxes” (“HKAS 12”) and HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits”
respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree
are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at the
acquisition date;

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are measured in
accordance with that standard; and

o leases liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in HKFRS
16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (i) the lease
term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (ii)
the underlying assets is of low value. Right-of-use assets
are recognised and measured at the same amount as the
relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with
market terms.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-=F=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets
or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to
fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group
obtains control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive income, as
appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior
to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9
would be accounted for on the same basis as would be required
if the Group has disposed directly of the previous held equity
interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR ERR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for
which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted retrospectively during the measurement period, and
additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed
at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the
amounts recognised at that date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group's cash-generating units (“CGUs") (or group of
CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is amortised for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE_—_ZE-_=F=FA=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Goodwill (Continued)

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there
is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or group
of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit (or group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the
group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is included
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the CGU (or a
CGU within a group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed
of is measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation
(or the CGU) disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the
group of CGUs) retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described in below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE_—_TE-=F=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. {mEHZES Eﬁﬁ%i&%z%&&
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT EE%%T BE
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. For associates and joint ventures that use
accounting policies that differ from those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances, appropriate
adjustments have been made to conform the associate’s and the
joint venture's accounting policies to those of the Group. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint
venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate or joint venture. When the Group’s share
of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group's
interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's
net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-=F=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group'’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment
is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE T - =F=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #7®!: %éﬂﬂ%#&%z -3 53

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FESFHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 TESHHER

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group
retains an interest in the former associate or joint venture and the
retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9,
the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate or joint venture and the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest
in the associate or joint venture is included in the determination
of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be required
if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate or
joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain
or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant
associate or joint venture.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE_—_ZE-_=F=FA=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

Changes in the Group’s investments in associates and
joint ventures

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of
the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR ERR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to
a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e.
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-=F=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of
progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group's efforts or inputs to
the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the total
expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed. As a
practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the consolidated financial statements
would not differ materially from individual leases within the
portfolio.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERAR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components, including contract for acquisition of ownership
interest of a property which includes both leasehold land and
non-lease building components, unless such allocation cannot be
made reliably.

Non-lease components are separated from lease component and
are accounted for by applying other applicable standards.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of certain properties that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-=F=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
J the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease, if any.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=amumzi= | N

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE T -_=F=FA=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. %ﬁﬁ%%@éﬂﬂ%#&%z E R
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FEEHHRE @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEHBE @

Leases (Continued) HE@®
The Group as a lessee (Continued) REBEEREMEA(E)
Lease liabilities HEEE

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

3 the lease payments change due to changes in market rental
rates following a market rent review in which cases the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE_—_ZE-_=F=FA=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease
if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular
contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
asset.

When the modified contract contains one or more additional
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE T -_=F=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. Fﬁz Re HJH’%#E(?EZ -3 53
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT %ET &
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEHBE @

Leases (Continued) HE @

The Group as a lessor AEBEREHBEA
Classification and measurement of leases HENSERTE

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or AEBEALBEANHESEA

operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a
finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and
such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term except for investment properties measured
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Allocation of consideration to components of a THRAKEBEZENXD

contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components,
the Group applies HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers” (“HKFRS 15”) to allocate consideration in a contract
to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease components are
separated from lease component on the basis of their relative
stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments from lessees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-=F=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)
Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the
head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. The
sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by reference
to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with
reference to the underlying asset.

The Group uses the discount rate used for the head lease (adjusted
for any initial direct costs associated with the sublease) to
measure the net investment in the sublease if the interest rate
implicit in the sublease cannot be readily determined.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part
of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease
modifications, including lease incentives provided through
forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original
lease as part of the lease payments for the new lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE T -_=F=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. Fﬁz%?\/\ #ﬁ%i&%@i%&ﬁ_&
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TEESHHE
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEHBE @

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case the exchange rates
at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Exchange differences arising from the translation of the Group’s
net assets in RMB to the Group’s presentation currency in HK$
are recognised directly in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve.
Such exchange differences accumulated in translation reserve will
not be reclassified to profit or loss subsequently.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation before 1
January 2005 is treated as non-monetary foreign currency items
of the acquirer and reported using the historical cost prevailing at
the date of acquisition.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or
after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that
foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-=F=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction on production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remains outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the general
borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on general
borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to
compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary
condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or
otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as a
deduction from the carrying amount of the relevant asset in the
consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to
profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful
lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other income”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR ERR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Employee benefits
Retirement benefits costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme™) in Hong Kong and state-managed retirement benefits
schemes in the PRC are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such
as wages and salaries) after deducting any amount already paid.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share awards/Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-=F=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Share awards/Share options granted to employees
(Continued)

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (employee share-based compensation reserve).
At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest
based on an assessment of all relevant non-market vesting
conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if
any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to the employee share-based compensation reserve.
For share awards/share options that vest immediately at the date
of grant, the fair value of the share awards/share options granted
is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in employee share-based compensation reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in employee share-
based compensation reserve will be transferred to accumulated
profits.

When share awards granted are vested, the amount previously
recognised in employee share-based compensation reserve and
the amount of the relevant share awards (presented under
treasury share reserve) will be transferred to accumulated profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE T - =F=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. Fﬁz e 37151%#&%22 ER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT g%ﬁ B
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEHBE @

Share-based payments (Continued) LR 10 B E B =X

Shares/Share options granted to non-employees

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties
other than employees are measured at the fair value of the goods
or services received, except where that fair value cannot be
estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date
the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the
service. The fair values of the goods or services received are
recognised as expenses (unless the goods or services qualify for
recognition as assets).

Taxation

Taxation represents the sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-=F=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather than
through sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE T -_=F=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. Fﬁz%?\/\ #ﬁ%i&%@i%&ﬁ_&
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TEESHHE
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEHBE @

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets
and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use
assets over the lease payments for the principal portion of lease
liabilities results in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than construction in progress as
described below). Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

I8 @

R EAEEBRACAREER
HEEEAENHERINERL
MEME  AEEEEEENSE
BeEEEANEREEEERME
B8\
B mﬁﬂ%%lﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ
HEXRS AEEHEEAEER
%W%%%Aﬁﬁmiuﬁmﬁ
F-RBEAREEENEERARGEA
B SR ERDOFRETME - E 8
%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁ%%ﬁ$%%
DEEENR  BHER AR
TR ERFRE -

EEB TR AT RN EA 1R
BEEHNBAHNEEEEE BR
Bl — R R —EREE R
WmEHER  BIELEHEE
ERBETEELEHE-

BIH SR IR N B FERR -
R H A 2 EIRAKE RN AR
SERNEE BAARIN - EX
BT - BIER KR FE R 75 2 Bl
REMEEKRASEERZ DR
o i B HR B TR sl IR SE B TR & A
BEBEHNM P estEE Al
HMETZESHTAREZTAHNE
FTREEA -

ME - BERRE

V- -BENMEEBIFIEEEK
HEEMIRBHITHALZNE
FEEMBETITXAEET
B) oM - BB RS BIEK AR
BERFTMERERERTBES
B(nAE)Rixa Bk RER A7

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 434 BA 7§ M3

57



58

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE T -_=F=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Construction in progress is carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include any cost directly attributable to
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably, interest
in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position except for those that
are classified and accounted for as investment properties under
the fair value model. When the consideration cannot be allocated
reliably between non-lease building element and undivided
interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.

If a property becomes an investment property because its use has
changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any
difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of
that item (including the relevant leasehold land classified as right-
of-use assets) at the date of transfer is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in properties revaluation
reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the property,
the relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to
accumulated profits.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets,
other than properties under development, less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR ERR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
values, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating
lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment property are included in profit or loss for the period in
which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the
period in which the property is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-=F=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at
cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS ERAR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets with finite useful life to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated individually.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are allocated to
the relevant CGU when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the CGU or group of CGUs to which
the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a
CGU) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-=F=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of CGUs, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of CGUs, with the recoverable
amount of the group of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to
the other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

. cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no longer
meeting the definition of cash; and

o cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose
of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for
investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as
defined above.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost of inventories are determined on a weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the
sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and
non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the
sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-=F=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Inventories (Continued)

Properties for/under development which are intended to be sold
upon completion of development and properties for sale are
classified as current assets. Except for the leasehold land element
which is measured at cost model in accordance with the
accounting policies of right-of-use assets, properties for/under
development/properties for sale are carried at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a specific
identification basis including allocation of the related
development expenditure incurred and where appropriate,
borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for the properties less estimated cost to
completion and costs necessary to make the sales. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale.

Properties for/under development for sale are transferred to
properties for sale upon completion.

The Group transfers a property from inventories to investment
property when there is a change in use to hold the property to
earn rentals or/and for capital appreciation rather than for sale in
the ordinary course of business. Any difference between the fair
value of the property at the date of transfer and its previous
carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR ERR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end
of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation
cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an obligation,
the part of the obligation that is expected to be met by other
parties is treated as a contingent liability and it is not recognised
in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an outflow
of resources embodying economic benefits has become probable.
If it becomes probable that an outflow of future economic
benefits will be required for an item previously dealt with as a
contingent liability, a provision is recognised in the consolidated
financial statements in the reporting period in which the change
in probability occurs, except in the extremely rare circumstances
where no reliable estimate can be made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-=F=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees
and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B

P &

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE=—ZT-_=F=A=+—

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the Group
may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value
of an equity investment in other comprehensive income if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination
to which HKFRS 3 applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-=F=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term;

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking;
or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that is required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI
as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the asset
is no longer credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

nVT\

BB ERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments, and will be transferred to accumulated profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to
receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the “other income”
line item in profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in the “other
gains and losses” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE—ZT-—=F=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, amounts due from
non-controlling interests of subsidiaries, amounts due from
associates and joint ventures, pledged bank deposits and bank
balances) and other items (contract assets and financial guarantee
contracts) which are subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR ERR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- R S

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-=F=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE T - =F=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. .Fﬁzv? HJH%#E(?EZ R
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT E%ﬁ L&

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.2 TEEHHER @)

Financial instruments (Continued) £ T B )
Financial assets (Continued) ELE E(8)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

REBBUBREERFEIR
AETHRETGEHNEREE

(Continued) FEMEE ZHE @)
()  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) () EZERMBBEZEMNE)

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

e BEBAREXEER
REHBERL

. an actual or expected significant adverse change in . BEANESE &K
the regulatory, economic, or technological HEMRBEEER
environment of the debtor that results in a significant B R ERNFE
decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its debt B BHEBEAER
obligations. BRIAMBE WEEE T B o

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual

N L R A A R AN - i
EANFAHEB30R - K
SEORREEERRB

payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the NEERANKRBE L B
Group has reasonable and supportable information that EREBEEAENATH

demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial asset has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial asset is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial asset
is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of
default; (i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and (iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in
the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a financial asset to have
low credit risk when it has an internal or external credit
rating of “investment grade” as per globally understood
definitions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE T -_=F=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group
becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is
considered to be the date of initial recognition for the
purposes of assessing impairment. In assessing whether
there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since
initial recognition of financial guarantee contracts, the
Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified
debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(i)  Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE T -_=F=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The
Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE T - =F=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

F%% %ﬁﬁ%z R

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.2 TEEHHER @)

Financial instruments (Continued) £ T B )
Financial assets (Continued) ELE E(8)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

REBBUBREERFEIR
AETHRETGEHNEREE
K H b8 B 2 R E (&)

(v)

BHEERRZHERRE

R (&)
Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual —RmE - BHEEERA
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with BEANENKER ZFT
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to BB RERAEER
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined FEHURBR RS REZME

at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to
make payments only in the event of a default by the debtor
in accordance with the terms of the instrument that is

MEZ(RVPERNET
ZEBRFEEIR) o

WHMBRERANME - A%
BMEANEBEBAZRLEED
=R REEERZTA

guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL is the present value of & SR A5 3R I It EHEE
the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit BEAERESEIMTE
loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects NEBANERBEEEZEE

to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.
For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the
effective interest rate cannot be determined, the Group will
apply a discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks that
are specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent

BZmEREETAAKE
BEHRREBA AHOFKEA
HEMET KR 2 E 8
ZBEE-RMBERREOZ
BHEEERENS  ARE
FRA R ELERE  NRES

that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting the FERARMEEREEE
discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being FBEeRBERERR 2 H
discounted. RIS el (h 2 BhIR K - &

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract assets are
considered on a collective basis taking into consideration
past due information and relevant credit information such
as forward looking macroeconomic information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-=F=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for
all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount,
with the exception of trade receivables and contract assets
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through
a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR ERR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in
profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at
FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss,
but is transferred to accumulated profits.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- R S

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-=F=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities

All liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amounts
due to associates and joint ventures, amounts due to non-
controlling interests of subsidiaries and bank and other
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at
their fair values. It is subsequently measured at the higher of:

. the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with HKFRS 9; and

o the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognised financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR ERR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE T -_=F=FA=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Changes in the basis for determining the contractua
cash flows as a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows of a financial asset or financial liability to which the
amortised cost measurement applies as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform, the Group applies the practical expedient to
account for these changes by updating the effective interest rate.
Such change in effective interest rate normally has no significant
effect on the carrying amount of the relevant financial asset or
financial liability.

A change in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows
is required by interest rate benchmark reform if and only if, both
these conditions are met:

o the change is necessary as a direct consequence of interest
rate benchmark reform; and

o the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is
economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the basis
immediately preceding the change).

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or
in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE—ZT-—=F=A=+—HItFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

Recognition of gas connection and engineering
design and construction income

Revenue from gas connection and engineering design and construction
is measured based on the input method, which is to recognise revenue
on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the total expected inputs to the
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Accordingly, any changes
to the actual costs incurred and the estimated budgeted costs may have
material impact on the revenue recognised in each accounting period
over the contract term. The management of the Group is required to
exercise significant judgments in the assessment of the progress of
satisfaction of performance obligation, including costs incurred to date
and budgeted costs to complete.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the
recoverable amount of the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated,
which is the higher of the value in use and fair value less costs of
disposal. The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the
future cash flows expected to arise from the CGU (or a group of CGUs)
and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, or changes
in facts and circumstances which result in downward revision of future
cash flows or upward revision of discount rate, a material impairment
loss or further impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has goodwill of approximately
HK$3,230,141,000 (2022: HK$3,473,229,000). The impairment
assessment of certain CGUs is highly judgmental and is dependent on
certain significant inputs including the discount rates and growth rates.
During the year ended 31 March 2023, no impairment of goodwill has
been recognised (2022: Nil). Details of the recoverable amount
calculation are disclosed in note 21.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
moptwmamz [

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE T -_=F=FA=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDZHER
Revenue PN
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with () BEFEXNRADH
customers
2023 2022
—E_-= =S
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
(restated)
(E7)
Types of goods or services ERTREER
Sales of natural gas KARRIHE 57,550,916 50,529,353
Gas connection and engineering design and A 3% B DA K T A2 5
construction i 6,776,066 7,816,158
Sales of LPG LA RREE 22,499,530 23,080,845
Value-added services I (E AR 7% 3,455,031 4,791,036
Other businesses H A ¥ 75 1,706,902 2,007,801
Total ot 91,988,445 88,225,193

All the revenue from contracts with customers are derived from
the PRC.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE—ZT-—=F=A=+—HItFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources:

(@) Sales of goods

Revenue from the sales of natural gas is recognised at a
point in time when control of the natural gas is transferred
to the customers, being at the point the natural gas is
delivered to the customers. For household customers, the
Group generally requires advance payment before the
usage of the natural gas through prepaid cards. The charge
of the actual usage of natural gas will be deducted directly
to the balance of the prepaid cards. The customers can
only consume the natural gas up to the balance of the
prepaid cards. For industrial and commercial customers, the
Group generally requires advance payment before the
usage of the natural gas. Any shortage against the
periodically actual charge for the actual usage of natural
gas will be billed by the Group accordingly. The Group
allows average credit period of 30 to 180 days for amounts
billed.

Revenue from the sales of LPG is recognised at a point in
time when the goods are delivered to the customers as this
represents the point in time at which the control of the
goods are transferred to the customers. The Group would
require advance payments from the customers or allow an
average credit period of 30 to 90 days to its customers for
invoices issued.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

REVENUE AND SEGMENT

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

INFORMATION

(Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (Continued)

(a)

Sales of goods (Continued)

Value-added services represent mainly the sales of gas-
related value-added products, including (i) kitchen
appliances such as gas stoves, gas water heaters and gas
wall-mounting heaters; (ii) safety products such as
corrugated pipes, valves and alarms; and (i) other daily
consumer products such as food staples and cooking
ingredients. Revenue from sales of value-added products is
recognised at a point in time when the goods are delivered
to the customers as this represents the point in time at
which the control of the goods are transferred to the
customers. The Group would require advance payments
from the customers or allows average credit period of 30
days.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE—-ZT—=

REVENUE AND SEGMENT

INFORMATION

(Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (Continued)

(b)

Provision of services (including gas connection and
engineering design and construction)

The Group provides gas connection services under gas
pipeline construction contracts with its customers. Such
contracts are entered into before construction of the gas
pipeline begins. The Group centralises its engineering
design and construction functions by setting up certain
subsidiaries to carry out those functions (the “Centralised
EDC Subsidiaries”). Most engineering design and
construction works under those gas pipeline construction
contracts with the Group’s customers are performed by the
Centralised EDC Subsidiaries on behalf of the group
companies. The Centralised EDC Subsidiaries also performs
the engineering design and construction works for the
Group's joint ventures and associates for their gas pipeline
construction contracts with their own customers under
separate contracts with the Group. The Group’s
performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs. Revenue from
gas connection and engineering design and construction
services is recognised over time based on the input method.
The directors of the Company consider that input method
is an appropriate measure of the progress towards
complete satisfaction of these performance obligations
under HKFRS 15.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR ERR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE—-Z—=

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT

(Continued)

INFORMATION

Revenue (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (Continued)

(b) Provision of services (including gas connection and
engineering design and construction) (Continued)

The Group requires certain customers to provide upfront
deposits before the commencement of the construction
which will give rise to contract liabilities until the revenue
recognised on the relevant contracts exceeds the amount
of the deposits received. The Group recognises contract
assets for any work performed in excess of payment from
customer for the same contract. The Group is entitled to
invoice customers for gas pipeline construction services
upon completion of construction works and acceptance by
the customers, and any amount previously recognised as a
contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables. The Group
allows an average credit period of 30 to 180 days to its
customers for invoices issued.

Revenue from other businesses including the provision of
urban heating services, integrated energy services and
supply chain services is recognised over time as the
customer simultaneous receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs.

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

All the contracts are for original expected duration of one year or
less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated
to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE_Z_=4=-A=1+—HI[FE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Segment information

Information reported to the Group’s chief operating decision maker
(“CODM"), being the Managing Director of the Group, for the
purposes of resources allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods or services rendered, which is
also consistent with the basis of organisation of the Group.

In the current year, the Group reorganised its internal reporting
structure which resulted in changes to the composition of its operating
and reportable segment. The business division of other businesses,
including urban heating, integrated energy services and supply chain
services, has been identified as a separate operating and reportable
segment for the purposes of resources allocation and assessment of
segment performance by the Group’s CODM. Prior year segment
disclosures have been represented to conform with the current year’s
presentation.

The CODM reviews the results of Zhongyu Energy Holdings Limited
("Zhongyu Energy”), an associate of the Group, being accounted for

under equity accounting separately and thus Zhongyu Energy is
presented as a single operating and reportable segment.

The Group’s operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8
“Operating Segments” are as follows:

(i) Sales of natural gas;

(i) Gas connection;

(i) Engineering design and construction;

(iv)  Sales of LPG;

(v)  Value-added services;

(vi)  Other businesses; and

(vii)  Zhongyu Energy

Information regarding the above segments is presented below.

5.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB ERRME

an\

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE—-ZT—

=F=ZA=t—HLHFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARZSIER @
(Continued)
Segment information (Continued) o3& R @)
Segment revenues and results DEBAREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by KREBIREERTZHRDEME D 2 W
operating and reportable segment. ARFEESTWT :
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BHE-_ZT-_=_"F=-A=+—HL
FE
Engineering
Sales of Gas  designand Sales of Value-added Other Zhongyu Segment
natural gas  connection construction LPG services  businesses Energy total
IBRFR HIEARR
RARHE  ARER i #E  RERY  HtEE  PRER  2BLE
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TR TER TET TR TERT FET
Total segment revenue R ONE 57,550,916 5,686,604 6,582,647 22,499,530 3,455,031 1,706,902 - 97,481,630
Inter-segment revenue DEEBA - - (5,493,185) - - - - (5,493,185)
External segment revenue RENREEZ
DERA 57,550,916 5,686,604 1,089,462 22,499,530 3,455,031 1,706,902 - 91,988,445
Segment profit DEEF 2,919,829 970,879 708,650 67,889 1,496,217 444,622 64,985 6,673,071
Changes in fair value of RENEZNTE
investment properties 25 133,850
Changes in fair value of BIEEEREZ
held-for-trading investments ATEEE (102)
Gain on transfer from inventories 4t 77 8% E R4
to investment properties MmE 2 Wi 254,020
Interest and other gains and losses 1| & & £ U 2 &
B 82,491
Unallocated corporate expenses & Al A 7 % (481,687)
Finance costs HEER (980,491)
Exchange gain on translation of ~ #EHNE EHIER
foreign currency monetary RYHERL
items into functional currency & 3 I3 219,706
Gain on loss of significant KEHBENT
influence in an associate EAVEMES
pdl & 320,217
Loss on derecognition of financial  #& |- 78 1% # &
assets measured at amortised A EH AR
cost BEZBX (367,212)
Loss on disposal and winding up £ E B A R
of subsidiaries MBRRIESE L
BX (5,370)
Gain on disposal of investment  HERENE 2
properties & 10,639
Share of results of associates EEBERR 2
(other than Zhongyu Energy) 22 (Brmee
B 279,853
Share of results of joint ventures 1R A E R FZ
E3 (100,983)
Profit before taxation Br T A 6,038,002
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 474 BA 753 aR It
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZZT-_=F=-F=1+—HItFE

920

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARZSIER @
(Continued)
Segment information (Continued) 7 EBE R @)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DEUWR AR ELE @)
For the year ended 31 March 2022 (restated) BE_T__F=A=t+t—H1
FE(E)
Engineering
Sales of Gas  design and Sales of  Value-added Other Zhongyu Segment
natural gas  connection construction LPG services businesses Energy total
R BRHAR REAAR
AARHE  HEEH I HE  HERE  H6EB  PHRER  SPEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TEL TET THT TAT TET TAT TAT
Total segment revenue PHRAEE 50529353 7,227,283 8,090,159 23,080,845 4,791,036 2,007,801 — 95726477
Inter-segment revenue LN — — (7,501,284 — — — —  (7,501,284)
External segment revenue RENREPZ
AEBA 50,529,353 7,227,283 588,875 23,080,845 4,791,036 2,007,801 — 88,225,193
Segment profit D EEH 4,204,951 1,315,827 1,926,587 32,325 1,600,379 891,743 467,656 10,439,468
Changes in fair value of }xﬁ#‘ﬂJ%Z ATE
investment properties & 349,682
Changes in fair value of M;‘i%&ﬁfz
held-for-trading investments AYEZE (581,991)
Interest and other gains and losses 7| & % H f U 35 |2
BE 208,357
Unallocated corporate expenses K e 2 @ % (419,953)
Finance costs HEER (506,368)
Exchange gain on translation of B ENEEKIER
foreign currency monetary BUNEER Y
items into functional currency B 5 Wiz 59,274
Gain on disposal and windingup £ EH B AT R
of subsidiaries WBARIESELZ
Wz 42,409
Gain on deemed disposal of ﬁﬁtﬂﬁ YN
partial interest in an associate hiREZ
LBZ ﬁ]’l 28,797
Share of results of associates ERBERRZ
(other than Zhongyu Energy) £ (Briee
) 453,058
Share of results of joint ventures  E{E BB AT 2
ES | 514,583
Profit before taxation B 15 A ) 10,787,316

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2022/23 HEIRARIZRER AT 2022/230 % HE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR ERR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-_=F=A=+—HItFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Segment information (Continued)
Segment revenues and results (Continued)

Inter-segment revenue is charged at prevailing market rates.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the
Group's accounting policies described in note 3. Except for segment
profit of Zhongyu Energy, segment profit for the remaining reportable
segments represents the profit earned by each segment without
allocation of interest and other gains and losses, corporate
administration costs, changes in fair value of held-for-trading
investments, changes in fair value of investment properties, gain on
transfer from inventories to investment properties, gain on deemed
disposal of partial interest in an associate, gain on loss of significant
influence in an associate, loss on derecognition of financial assets
measured at amortised costs, gain/loss on disposal and winding up of
subsidiaries, gain on disposal of investment properties, share of results
of associates (other than Zhongyu Energy), share of results of joint
ventures, certain exchange gain on translation of foreign currency
monetary items into functional currency and certain finance costs. The
segment profit of Zhongyu Energy represents share of results of
Zhongyu Energy. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the
purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE—-ZT—

=F=ZA=t—HLHFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDIBER @)
(Continued)
Segment information (Continued) 7o EE R @)
Segment assets and liabilities PHEERARE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s segment assets and segment N TFTARNEEBRFEESERAFTETH
liabilities that are regularly reviewed by the CODM: WD HEERDEBED T
At 31 March 2023 RZTEZ-Z=F=A=+—H
Engineering
Sales of Gas  design and Sales of Value-added Other Zhongyu Segment
naturalgas  connection construction LPG services  businesses Energy total
IBRIR HIEAHRR
RRARHE  ARER i HE  BERE  HibXR R R AHEE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TET FET TR TER FET TR FERL FET
Assets BE
Segment assets PHEE 78,856,512 18,748,363 792,092 6,544,535 3,555,441 1,653,264 2,722,282 112,872,489
Investment properties REME 2,881,831
Property, plant and equipment  ¥1% - BiE K& &

(for corporate) (A7) 1,308,745
Right-of-use assets FREEE(RA)

(for corporate) 31,921
Investments in associates REL AR Z7E 7,523,307
Investments in joint ventures REBARIZ Tx & 12,045,110
Amounts due from associates 3 L{&(Eﬁ% NG

EQ] 474,088
Amounts due from joint ventures JTEL{&Zé\ﬁ’A Az
HIB 5,959,576
Equity instruments at fairvalue ~ BRAFEF AL

through other comprehensive ZABRAZRAE

income TR 922,498
Deferred tax assets EERBEE 1,012,269
Held-for-trading investments BIEBERE 104,536
Other receivables (for corporate) — E 1 fE U 85 18

(A7) 1,537,153
Pledged bank deposits BEARITER 178,696
Cash and cash equivalents Be kB SR

EH 10,438,990
Consolidated total assets GABELR 157,291,209
Liabilities af
Segment liabilities SEEE 8,169,130 11,263,615 3,773,293 4,698,703 1,509,140 388,002 - 29,801,883
Other payables (for corporate) ~ E M ERIA

(A7) 211,621
Tax payable JENBiE 806,268
Bank and other borrowings iﬁﬁ&ﬁmﬂ? 60,010,801
Amounts due to associates ﬂﬁﬁ EA7|

TR 72,050
Amounts due to joint ventures ~ EAELNEZ

H18 156,108
Deferred tax liabilities ERRBEEE 1,442,009
Consolidated total liabilities GREEAR 92,500,830
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZZT-_=F=H=+—HItFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WAR%SIEE @)
(Continued)

Segment information (Continued) 7o EBE R @)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) THEERERE @
At 31 March 2022 (restated) N _—_E - —_F=HA=+—H(=&E
51])
Engineering
Sales of Gas  design and Sales of  Value-added Other Zhongyu Segment
natural gas  connection construction LPG services businesses Energy total
BEHAR RIEAHRE
AARHE  MAEXK ®I HE  BERE  EtER PRER  HBEE

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TATL TATL THT TATL TATL THEL TATL TATL

Assets BE

Segment assets PHEE 79,821,328 22,284,299 1,290,067 7,384,903 4,537,101 1,680,609 3,023,649 120,021,956
Investment properties BRENE 2,296,359
Property, plant and equipment  #91% * HE kR

(for corporate) (A7) 1,455,568
Right-of-use assets EREEE(RA)

(for corporate) 34,483
Investments in associates REERRZRE 7,639,318
Investments in joint ventures REBARIZEKE 12,222,808
Amounts due from associates & H&Hﬁ# BRRZ

B 541,621
Amounts due from joint ventures ﬁs\qﬁlé\ﬁﬂﬂz
HE 5,501,944

Equity instruments at fairvalue XA T EE AE M
through other comprehensive 2 E A Z R

income IA 738,064
Deferred tax assets EXHBEE 705,006
Held-for-trading investments BEEERE 104,638
Other receivables (for corporate) — E 1 f& Ut B 18

(A7) 1,696,101
Pledged bank deposits BEARTER 177,968
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBEEE

JBH 10,010,518
Consolidated total assets BEBERSE 163,146,352
Liabilities &%
Segment liabilities AHEE 7913065 11968405 4578603 5635533 1,430,061 307,844 — 31,833,511
Other payables (for corporate) ~ H 41 fE B 18

(RR) 258,200
Tax payable FERHIR 1,269,249
Bank and other borrowings RITREME ﬂ’% 56,129,089
Amounts due to associates ﬁ L YN

HB 70,399

Amounts due to joint ventures Jféf\ﬁé\;ﬁﬂilz

OB 69,309
Deferred tax liabilities ELHBEEE 1,447,442
Consolidated total liabilities mReBaERE 91,077,199

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 434 B f§RZMisE 93
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-=F=A=+—HItFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Segment information (Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of allocating resources and monitoring segment
performance between segments:

° All assets are allocated to operating segments, except for the
investments in associates (other than Zhongyu Energy),
investments in joint ventures, amounts due from associates and
joint ventures, equity instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, right-of-use assets and property, plant
and equipment for corporate use, investment properties, deferred
tax assets, held-for-trading investments, pledged bank deposits
and cash and cash equivalents of the Group, and other corporate
assets of the Group.

o All liabilities are allocated to operating segments, except for tax
payable, bank and other borrowings, amounts due to associates
and joint ventures and deferred tax liabilities of the Group, and
other corporate liabilities of the Group. The Group allocates
finance costs into operating segments without allocating bank
and other borrowings into the segments. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resources allocation
and performance assessment.

5.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE—-ZT—

=F=ZA=t—HLHFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WAK%DEER @
(Continued)
Segment information (Continued) 7o EBE R @)
Other segment information Hittn HER
Engineering Value-
Sales of Gas  design and Sales of added Other ~ Zhongyu  Segment
natural gas  connection construction LPG services  businesses Energy total Unallocated Consolidated
IBRHR WILARE
ARRHEE MEER i HE BERE HexB  PRER SH4R B g8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TR TR TER TEn  FEn TER TER
Amounts included in the measure 5t A5t & 2 2855
of segment profit or loss or PHBEENGE:
segment assets:
For the year ended BE-3-=F
31 March 2023 =A=t+-AH
LEE
Additions to property, plantand  FEWE - BE kR
equipment 5,100,472 — 204629 1196044 45642 290,852 — 687763 1732 6879371
Loss on disposal of property, LENE BERZE
plant and equipment pd 3 (13,281) - - - - - - (13281) - (13.281)
Amortisation of intangible assets 4 i/ 4 2 % (188,459) - (897) - - - - (189,356) (62)  (189,408)
Depreciation of property, nE BERRXENE
plant and equipment (2,001,792) - (17,132)  (182,510) (8,442) (66,826) - (2,276,702 (6,489)  (2,283,191)
Impairment losses (recognised) ~ JA FIB B (B2) &M@
reversed on: ZREES:
—trade and other receivables  —B 3 EKEER
HiEbRE - (66,387) - - - - - (66,387) - (66,387)
— contract assets —AhEE - 98471 - - - - - %4n - 98,471
Share of results of associates  FEREEE AT 2 £45 - - - - - - 64985 64985 279,853 344,838
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %74 B 75 2R K it 5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZZT-_=F=-F=1+—HItFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WAR%SIEE @)
(Continued)

Segment information (Continued) 7 EBE R @)
Other segment information (Continued) Hith o HER @)
Engineering
Sales of Gas  design and Sales of Value-added Other ~ Zhongyu  Segment
natural gas  connection  construction LPG services  businesses Energy total  Unallocated  Consolidated
IERHAR RICRRE
RARHEE MAEX i HE  HERE HbXE  PHER SH8E KAR Ha

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR  TEx  FEx  TEr TRz TEx  TEx  TEz  TEx TEL

For the year ended BE-®-Cf
31 March 2022 (restated) =F=t+-RH
LLEE(E5)

Additions to property, plant  FENE - BE LR E

and equipment 8,055,325 — 494,445 441,184 8,301 260,394 — 9259649 1319161 10,578,810
Loss on disposal of property, — HEW%  BERZE
plant and equipment BB (13419 = = = — — — (13419 — (13419
Amortisation of intangible BYEERH
assets (175,886) - (897) - - = — (176783) (52) (176,835
Depreciation of property, n% BEREEHE
plant and equipment (1,915,172) - (7,993) (92,711) (3,808) (44,438) — (2,064,122) (20,100) (2,084,222
Impairment losses recognised b\ T B #
on: HERSR:
— trade and other —BSRNEER
feceivables EfEREE - (173160 — - - - — (173160 LY
— contract assets —AWEE — (323924 = - - - — (3% - (B
Share of results of associates ~ EfEBLAE 2245 = - - - - — 4765 467,656 453058 920,714

926 China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2022/23 HEIRARIZRER AT 2022/230 % HE
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE T -_=F=FA=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Geographical information
The Group’s operations are mainly located in the PRC.
All of the Group'’s revenue is contributed by external customers in the

PRC. None of the customers contributed over 10% of total revenue of
the Group.

The following is the information about non-current assets other than
financial instruments and deferred tax assets by the geographical areas

5.

|~

WA K7 EBE R

ih & & R

AREBOEKEETEMNAE -

AEBE2BURAKXRBEEFBENIINRE
F-BEXPEMEAKERKADN

10% BA £ 2 U A ©

AT RREEMEHLE D

MIERBE

EERTANMEEREEERIN D

in which the assets are located: BE

2023 2022

—E_-=F —_E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Hong Kong BE 1,247,402 1,542,058
PRC =8 101,888,601 104,737,852
103,136,003 106,279,910
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4z 4 BA TGk M
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZ=—ZE-—=F=A=+—HItFE

6. OTHER INCOME

H AU A

2023 2022
—E-= -
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT TET
Interest income B WA 301,294 282,600
Subsidies from PRC government authorities (Note i) F1 B8 Bz /i # B 2 %5 85 (9 %) 567,320 332,484
Tax refund (Note i) R (B 3D 71,143 385,881
Income from leasing of a vessel (Note iii) £ AR — A A AR A9 WA (BT D 275,663 206,957
Others EH A, 158,493 170,369
1,373,913 1,378,291
Notes: =3

(i) During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, subsidies are granted 10 HE-—TE-—=—&R-—_TE-_—HF=H=
by the relevant PRC government authorities to the Group in respect of, +—BIrEE BEDBE R E
among others, support for the Group’s natural gas business, labour (Hh A S REBHZ RAT LK -
support such as employment stability and training, costs incurred for the e R ES I X EREST
construction of pipeline network into new urban areas, replacement of EEATEEE SHESER B
old pipeline network, development of new energy services and promotion HABEREREELE BT EENK

of energy safety. AN FTEHE R o
(i) The PRC government authorities have granted tax incentives to certain (i) BRI AEE R SEETET
subsidiaries in the PRC by way of tax refund mainly for the natural gas hEHBAR MTEREAEDELY
business and gas pipeline construction business operated in the PRC. IR EERREMESERR YR

1§ o

(i) During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group subleased a iy BE-_T-_=—€gR-_T-_-—&£=g=

leased vessel under time charter from a joint venture (recognised as right-
of-use assets) to a third party for two years and generated fixed hire
income.

t-RILEE AEEARES G-
MABeEN—REEMN(ERARE
BEEE)ABT—BE=) AWM
A E R E WA -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE T -_=F=FA=+—HIFE

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 7. HttRERBE
2023 2022
—8g=-= —F=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Changes in fair value of investment properties 1% & ) 3 7 ‘A B & 133,850 349,682
Changes in fair value of held-for-trading RHEBEREZATEE
investments (102) (581,991)
Gain on transfer from inventories to investment X F E#E B =R E W % 2 WK
properties 254,020 —
Gain on loss of significant influence in an §'i£ %TH??J BNRERNTEM
associate (note 18) 15 2 Wz (fi5E18) 320,217 —
Gain on deemed disposal of partial interest in an 4% {’E .‘jj EHENR DO BREZ
associate (note 18) Wz (FF=E18) - 228,797
Loss on derecognition of financial assets R ERIRBE K AT EN
measured at amortised cost (note 25) SREE 21BK (M FE25) (367,212) —
(Loss) gain on disposal and winding up of HEWNBRARILKEBRRFE
subsidiaries 2 (1B R) Wz (5,370) 42,409
Net foreign exchange gain BE 3 U a5 % 58 230,282 63,728
Loss on disposal of property, plant and LEWE MERZEZEBE
equipment (13,281) (13,419)
Gain on disposal of investment properties HEREME 2 Ka 10,639 —
Impairment losses (recognised) reversed, net, LA 18 B (M 2R) &6 2 FE
on: B EFRE
— trade and other receivables — B SRR R E AR
fk1| (66,387) (173,160)
— contract assets —GENEE 98,471 (323,924)
32,084 (497,084)
Others Hth (250,625) (66,278)
344,502 (474,156)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B  caunmEMs

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE_—_ZE-_=F=FA=+—HIFE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MKEHMN
2023 2022
—E-= —EF-=

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Interest on bank and other borrowings MITREMEE ZFE 2,497,312 ,2€), 258
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBZAEA 68,483 76,232
Total borrowing costs BEEXANEBEE 2,565,795 2,005,485
Interest capitalised to construction in progress ERIBERNEZHE (710,437) (548,955)
1,855,358 1,456,530

Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose on the general AKFEERNBEERLZBEEXRKRTIESE
borrowing pool and are calculated by applying a capitalisation rate of 4.8% BE-—RUEBEHEG HEANEERKE
(2022: 3.7%) per annum to expenditure on qualifying assets. EMNHXLZ248% (ZFE-—F:3.7%)

WEEEREEGE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR ERR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZ=—ZE—-_=F=A=+—HItFE

TAXATION 18

2023 2022
—_E-= —_=E_—

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TH& T
PRC Enterprise Income Tax PR EER 1,235,969 2,188,817
Deferred tax credit (note 34) I JE 75 TE K % (B 5 34) (312,391) (184,371)
923,578 2,004,446

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits Tax,
the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be
taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.
The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. No
provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the consolidated
financial statements as the Group had no assessable profit arising in or
derived from Hong Kong for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law")
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% for both years, except for certain PRC subsidiaries
that are subject to tax relief explained below.

Certain PRC subsidiaries are entitled to the preferential tax rate
pursuant to the relevant regulations applicable to enterprises situated in
the western region of the PRC and high technology enterprises. The
applicable tax rate of those PRC subsidiaries is 15% for both years.

BEEEFER2FMEFHERAL &
BEREHETERE2008 B THMOH
& 58.25% - M B 82008 74 JT H9 j 7l
ZHEB165% KFEFEFMRK
FIeEEERNRMNEE —EUBX
16.5% 7T & o B A AN & B R 3% M @ &
EYEREEELEXNRERBSNER
Faf MERAREEMBERRREDE
BFS T AE B o

BEPRCEMGRE(TRERSEH
EDRECEMSHEZZTRIEN  BRT
METHFRENBARZEREE R
Sh R BB AR R MESEE 2B &
5525% ©

ETHENBARARZAREAER
AR E R R B 7R R
EEMEEENBEERE -ZETH
MEBARNMEFEMNERARER
15%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE T - =F=A=+—HItFE

9. TAXATION (continued) 9. %\':E, I8 (&
The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the (loss) profit before FEMRBEBHGFZABEENEMEZEK A
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other MR RBEEAT(EE)HF 2 SR
comprehensive income as follows: T :
Hong Kong PRC Total
B H @ct
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-= —EF-C —E=-= —E-— —s-= —E-—

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TEX TER TEX TER TER

(Loss) profit before taxation & #i AT (E5#8)%+  (1,395,851)  (1,028,056) 7,433,853 11,815,372 6,038,002 10,787,316

Tax at the domestic income 3% B8 (A BT 15 %t 7 X

tax rate (Note) FEZHE
(Pff3%) (230,315) (169,629) 1,858,463 2,953,843 1,628,148 2,784,214

Tax effect of share of results i {f Bk 4 7\ 7] 2 4&

of associates ZRERE - = (86,209) (230,178) (86,209) (230,178)
Tax effect of share of results E{5 & & 2\ A £ 4

of joint ventures LB E - = 25,246 (128,646) 25,246 (128,646)
Tax effect of expenses not ~ FL# B 5 7 A

deductible for tax HRAS 2B

purpose - 2,261 97,667 17,470 12,626 19,731 110,293

Tax effect of income not ~ BA¢IET = BA
taxable for tax purpose ABBA 2B

TE (50,899) (93,854) (645,332) (653,365) (696,231) (747,219)
Tax effect of estimated tax 3 ##E ~ f& &

losses not recognised HEEE A
ga 278,953 165,816 23,957 294,422 302,910 460,238

Tax effect of income tax at TE{E R ET
concessionary rate FHeHEYZ - = (270,017) (244,256) (270,017) (244,256)
e BB - — 923,578 2,004,446 923,578 2,004,446
Note: The applicable tax rates for Hong Kong and PRC are 16.5% (2022: M - FEBRPEZERMES B A165%
16.5%) and 25% (2022: 25%) respectively. ZEZZF 1165%) k25% (=T =

ZHF 1 25%) e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
moptwmamz [

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-_=F=A=+—HItFE

10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 10. EE&F
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH& T
Profit for the year has been arrived at after REE & FE R (BT A) T 5
charging (crediting): £ IF -
Auditor’s remuneration % B & 10,500 10,400
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ 2% - lE MR E 2T E 2,283,191 2,084,222
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRREEZIE 339,565 331,486
Amortisation of intangible assets A 189,408 176,835
Staff costs: 8 TRk AR
Directors’ emoluments (note 11) B (KFsE11) 47,908 30,757
Salaries and allowances of other staff H B T 2 %o &oEaL 3,703,792 3,565,256
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme of A& E {th 8 T 6] 38 K48 A 51 &I
other staff T3 798,012 757,905
Less: Amount capitalised in construction in W EEIREN bz
progress (215,881) (219,607)
4,333,831 4,134,311
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses in MUATHEEERRARAIZ
respect of: FEKA :
Sales of natural gas KARIEE 53,712,798 44,556,652
Sales of LPG BIEABRHES 21,067,761 21,179,824
Contract costs recognised as expense in respect  FEMARIZE TIR & KR
of gas connection and engineering design TR A QKA NE ﬁﬁ
and construction contracts and others 3,398,052 2,593,591
78,178,611 68,330,067
Rental income from investment properties less HEMEEEA 2HS WA
outgoings of HK$1,327,000 Bl 7 881,327,000 7T
(2022: HK$2,187,000) (ZT = =% :2,187,000% 7T) (22,985) (40,710)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZ=—ZE-—=F=A=+—HItFE

11. DIRECTORS' AND CHAIRMAN'S EMOLUMENTS 11. EER I FENS

BEER FTARRE S D A 6 &
BEZ2ENENSISR(ZE -
15E)EERTRARZMEMT -

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 15 (2022: 15) directors
and the Chief Executive disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing
Rules and Hong Kong Companies Ordinance were as follows:

2023 —E-=&

Performance Contributions
related to retirement

104

Directors’ Salaries and incentive benefits Total
fees other benefits payments scheme emoluments
RENHRA EBAREF
EEne HFEeREMEN REBME &It Henm
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
THERT THERT TET THERT THET
(Note i)
(B &ED)
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Liu Ming Hui 2\ EEE - 15,517 - 18 15,535
Mr. Huang Yong BBEAE - 13,179 - 18 13,197
Mr. Zhu Weiwei KREBRE - 6,626 - 18 6,644
Ms. Li Ching R - 1,309 - - 1,309
Ms. Liu Chang 25+ - 3,600 - 18 3,618
Mr. Zhao Kun (Note ii) iR & & (P L) - 2,953 - - 2,953
Non-executive directors IHNTEE
Mr. Liu Mingxing ZIREEE 440 - - - 440
Mr. Jiang Xinhao AL - - - - -
Mr. Mahesh Vishwanathan Mahesh Vishwanathan
IYER IYER % A 330 - - - 330
Mr. Xiong Bin AR 5 - - - - -
Independent non-executive BUFHTEE
directors
Mr. Zhao Yuhua HEZELE 792 - - - 792
Dr. Mao Erwan E-_EBEL 792 - - - 792
Ms. Chen Yanyan Bk e 22 & 704 - - - 704
Mr. Zhang Ling RAKE 594 - - - 504
Dr. Ma Weihua BEEE 1,000 - - - 1,000
4,652 43,184 - 72 47,908
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZ=—ZE—-_=F=A=+—HItFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHAIRMAN'’S EMOLUMENTS 11. EER FEMN S @)
(Continued)

2022 —EF-

Performance  Contributions
related  to retirement
Directors’  Salaries and other incentive benefits Total
fees benefits payments scheme  emoluments
ENEL RREF
BE2Me FeRkHMBER RE)THIE &4t [EF R

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT THET FHT FAET
(Note i)
(B &)
Executive directors HITEZE
Mr. Liu Ming Hui 2I8E8 %k 4 = 10,133 — 18 10,151
Mr. Huang Yong EBEAE — 8,244 — 18 8,262
Mr. Zhu Weiwei KEEREE = 4,347 — 18 4,365
Ms. Li Ching TRIT — 924 — — 924
Ms. Liu Chang 2+ — 2,400 — 18 2,418
Mr. Zhao Kun (Note ii) 38 5 4 (T aEii) — 1,632 — — 1,632
Non-executive directors HHITEF
Mr. Liu Mingxing 2| BR 8 4 4 330 — _ _ 330
Mr. Jiang Xinhao ZHELE — - - - -
Mr. Mahesh Vishwanathan Mahesh Vishwanathan
IYER IYER % & 330 — — — 330
Mr. Xiong Bin (Note iii) R R 2% A (P &) = = = = =
Independent non-executive BUHNTEE
directors
Mr. Zhao Yuhua WEELE 594 = — — 594
Dr. Mao Erwan ESl- 594 — — = 594
Ms. Chen Yanyan PR A+ 528 — — — 528
Mr. Zhang Ling RESE 462 — — — 462
Dr. Ma Weihua (Note iv) BErEl - (V) 167 — — — 167
3,005 27,680 — 72 30,757
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE—ZT-—=F=A=+—HItFE

11. DIRECTORS" AND CHAIRMAN'S EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

Notes:

(i) Performance related incentive payments were determined by the
remuneration committee, having regard to the performance of the
directors and the Group's operating result

(ii) Appointed on 19 August 2021
(iii) Appointed on 8 March 2022

(iv)  Appointed on 1 February 2022

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

The non-executive directors’ emoluments and independent non-
executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services as directors of the Company.

Mr. Liu Ming Hui is also the Chief Executive of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above included those for services rendered by
him as the Chief Executive.

Except for Mr. Jiang Xinhao and Mr. Xiong Bin who waived their rights
to receive remuneration (2022: Mr. Jiang Xinhao and Mr. Xiong Bin),
there was no arrangement under which the Chief Executive or a
director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during both years.
No emoluments were paid by the Group to the Chief Executive or the
directors as an inducement to join the Group or as a compensation for
loss of office for both years.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2022/23 HEIRRIZRER AT 2022/238 K&
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REFRTRATEECHEETETBR
FERARABRAREEHZ R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZ=—ZE—-_=F=A=+—HItFE

12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 12. BB EREEH AT
During the year ended 31 March 2023, of the five individuals with the RBE-_TE-_=F=A=+—HI%
highest emoluments in the Group, four (2022: three) of them were B AEBERSHF 2 2AZEAESME
directors which included the Chief Executive of the Company whose ANZEZZF = N)AZEE(BER
emoluments are included in note 11. The emoluments of the remaining NATHAEE) BEWS SN
one (2022: two) individual(s) are disclosed as follows: MeBEBp—ZB(ZE-_—_F - MWZL)®
AR S FEEENT :
2023 2022
—E_-=HF —_F -
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
Salaries and bonus H e MIEAL 3,870 6,852
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme BRI TG B K - 18
3,870 6,870

No. of employees

EBE®A
2023 2022
—EBZ=F -
Their emoluments were within the following REZMENFUATEER :
bands:
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7% 7T Z 3,500,000/ 7T - 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7% 7T & 4,000,000 7T 1 1
There was no arrangement under which the above individual(s) waived RZMBEEERN Lt AL ERE
or agreed to waive any emoluments during both years. No emoluments FRILZHEHREXRZHNERZRS -
were paid by the Group to the above individual(s) as an inducement to R mMEEENEBRBER it A+
join the Group or as a compensation for loss of office for both years. YR EMMEEENMANER 285
SRR S (E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE—-Z—=

F=RA=1t—HILFE

13. DIVIDENDS 13. RE
2023 2022
—E-= —ZF-=
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Final dividend paid in respect of the year ended Eff#HZE_T = —
31 March 2022 of HK$0.45 (2022: HK$0.45 ZA=+—BILFESK045
in respect of the year ended 31 March 2021) BLT(ZE-_—_F :HE2=
per share —F=ZA=+—BLEFEEK
0.457% JT) Zﬂiﬁ;ﬁﬁﬂ B 2,448,151 2,508,870
Interim dividend paid in respect of the six months B & ZE —F = =
ended 30 September 2022 of HK$0.10 (2022: ﬂﬂ_;fﬁtfdlﬁi%w1o
HK$0.10 in respect of the six months ended B(ZE_—_F HE2_ZE=
30 September 2021) per share —FNA=THIEANERER
0.10 L) 2 P HARR & 544,034 553,579
2,992,185 3,062,449
A final dividend of HK$0.40 in respect of the year ended 31 March KRR EEEZZREEEZ_T =

2023 (2022: final dividend of HK$0.45 in respect of the year ended 31

F=ZA=

+—HIEFEFZR04L0E T

March 2022) per share in an aggregate amount of HK$2,176,134,000
(2022: HK$2,448,151,000) has been proposed by the directors of the
Company and is subject to approval by the shareholders in the
forthcoming general meeting.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR ERR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE T -_=F=FA=+—HIFE

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable
to the owners of the Company is based on the following data:

14. 3REF

ARREAABRGEREAREER
M5 T BB B

2023 2022
—=E=-= —E-=
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Earnings Eﬂ
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the EORERAREERT 2
Company for the purposes of basic and diluted ZIK NAHEEANEBERFEE
earnings per share St A 4,293,484 7,662,036
2023 2022
—EZ=F — T
’000 ‘000
TR T
Number of shares KRHEE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for 5t & &R E A B F| 2 & 3@ IR
the purpose of basic earnings per share INHE F 15 & 5,387,551 5,498,433
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares in MELRHER 2 TR EE
respect of share awards granted BE 2 EE 7 =
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for SeREEAN 2 EBRE
the purpose of diluted earnings per share 7]1] S8R 5,387,558 5,498,433

The weighted average number of ordinary shares is arrived at after
deducting the treasury shares held by the trustee under the share award
scheme as set out in note 35.

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the computation of
diluted earnings per share does not assume the exercise of the
Company's outstanding share options as the adjusted exercise price of
those share options is higher than the average market price of the
shares for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

AR FE3SPTEL  E @AY N AE I E
?ﬂﬁi’-y\ﬁ%}\ﬁﬁ%ﬁxﬁﬁ@]ﬁ%%ﬁz
EERGHEZSH -

BE_Z2_=ZFRk-_FT-_—_F=ZR=
+T—HLEFE EREBZNOTE
TBRERNDBHRITEEREET
F RERZEBERENKCHARITE
BheREE T _=FFK_FT -
FZRA=T—HLEFERHOWFEHAM
BER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE T - =F=A=+—HItFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. REW
HK$'000
FET
FAIR VALUE NEE
At 1 April 2021 R-ZTE-_—FMWA—H 565,377
Exchange adjustments ME 5, 38 B 11,563
Additions NE 1,369,737
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss 7 18 25 #E 32 A - B & &) 349,682
At 31 March 2022 RZE_—_F#=R=+—H 2,296,359
Exchange adjustments P o 58 & (155,121)
Transfer from property, plant and equipment HMEEYE BENMKE 253,600
Transfer from inventories BEAEE 243,123
Gain on transfer from inventories to investment  #F EEB R EWE 2
properties 254,020
Disposal k= (144,000)
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss 7 8 %5 #E 32 A & & &) 133,850
At 31 March 2023 RZZE_=F=HA=+—H 2,881,831
The Group's investment properties are analysed as follows: REBZIKEMESTWOT -
2023 2022
—E-= =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Properties held: REZYE:
— in Hong Kong — L REE 73,100 208,200
— in the PRC — IR 2,808,731 2,088,159
2,881,831 2,296,359
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR ERR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE_ZT_=6=A=+—HIL5E

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Included in the investment properties are completed properties of
HK$2,384,688,000 (2022: HK$2,296,359,000) and properties under
development of HK$497,143,000 (2022: Nil).

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties in Hong Kong as at
31 March 2023 and 2022 has been arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out on the respective dates by LCH (Asia-Pacific)
Surveyors Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer not
connected to the Group. The resulting fair value gain of HK$8,900,000
(2022: HK$1,000,000) was recognised in profit or loss. The valuation
was arrived at by reference to comparable market transactions available
in the relevant markets for similar properties in the similar locations and
conditions. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest
and best use of the properties is their current use.

The fair value of the Group'’s investment properties in the PRC at 31
March 2023 and 2022 has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out on the respective dates by CHFT Advisory and Appraisal Ltd.,
an independent qualified professional valuer not connected to the
Group. The resulting fair value gain of HK$124,950,000 (2022:
HK$348,682,000) was recognised in profit or loss. The valuation of
completed properties was arrived at by reference to comparable market
transactions available in the relevant markets for similar properties in
the similar locations and conditions. The valuation of properties under
construction was arrived at by the adoption of the residual approach on
the basis that they will be developed and completed in accordance with
the latest development proposals and having taken into account the
construction cost that will extent to complete the development to
reflect the quality of the completed development. In estimating the fair
value of the properties, the highest and best use of the properties is
their current use.

15.

& Y % B 152,384,688,0007% L ( =
T — — £ :2,296,359,000/& 7T) Z B 7%
B WD % 497,143,000 T(Z&F = =
FB)Z2ERPYE -

RZBEZ=FR-_F-__F=F=+
— B AEBUREBEZELEMEZ
AFEDNRBFEANEER T EBENB
VABWRBEEGEMABITINEMNS
RARINZBETZHESL - At
B4 2 A F{E U 258,900,000 7T (=
T — — £ :1,000,0007 7T ) A 18 28 FE
R BEDISXZSHEUDERE LR
MNEBREHE T ZHEEMSAIESNA
BHBMEBERZMEH - NEFTYE
AEER - ENSEaREEREAR
HIERAS -

RZEZ=FRZFT__F=ZH=
+—HB AEBURFREZEEY
¥2AFEDREEAEBRHMERD
BEBUYUABERBEGEMTEN
BAFHEERARANRETAEZBHE
TzHESE BAUHELEZAFE
I %5 124,950,000 ;o (=T = = F
348,682,000 ;L) N R - B 5%
RYEZHED2EHUDEREU
HIBALE RIGH T 2 AT S &S
MAELEBRMBERIMEH - EEY
XZ2HEDHEASREEZLERZED
X¥BeRBEETHEREFRMEE KT
B WEt REKRERATFERANEENX
AmAE  URMEZEKZEREE W
B2 RNAFTWELFER  ME®D
BEekERRAERERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE_—_ZE-_=F=FA=+—HIFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Details of the Group’s investment properties and information about the
fair value hierarchy as 31 March 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

15. RE W% @)

AREBR T -_=ZFh_T - _F=
A=1+—HNEEMELEBEALATE
ERERNFEBHOT :

Fair value (Level 3)

DFEE=R)

2023 2022

—E-= —ET_-—
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Commercial units and land located in Hong Kong i 7 & 78 B 78 B B8 a2 K2 £ 3 73,100 208,200
Offices located in the PRC RPN E 2,311,588 2,088,159
Commercial units under construction in the PRC iz A & B &9 £ 122 Pé'ﬁ e 497,143 —

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

At the end of the reporting period, the management of the Group
works closely with the independent qualified external valuers to
establish and determine the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for Level 3 fair value measurements. Where there is a material
change in the fair value of the assets, the causes of the fluctuations will
be reported to the directors of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZZT-_=F=H=+—HItFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

15. REWZE @)
EHEERETELREHER AL
BeAFEFTE(EFE=R)2E
e
TRBTIUEREMEETE R FERA
Pt ET ERGEERFREERT

Information about fair value measurements
using key unobservable inputs (Level 3)

ﬂ

The following table shows the valuation techniques used in the
determination of fair values for investment properties and the key

unobservable inputs used in the valuation models.

B ABUE -

Range of unobservable

Relationship of
unobservable inputs to

Description Fair value as at 31 March Valuation techniques Unobservable inputs inputs fair value
FABREGAUE
R RZA=Z+-HZATE “EHE TABREBAYE TABRAAYEHE EATEZHE
2023 2022
—E-=fF —T-—
HK$°000 HK$'000
TR FiER
Commercial units 73,100 208,200 Comparison approach  Adjusted transaction price to HK$27,782-HK$30,115 per  The higher the adjusted

and land located reflect market value of similar ~ square foot (2022: transaction price the higher
in Hong Kong properties, taking into HK$21,911-HK$80,000 the fair value
account factors such as per square foot)
location and direction
UREENER HEA BMAERGERARBELN  BTYHR27,82BLE RARZSERER -
B RLi MENTHE EAABE 30,1157 ¢ AVEHES
RAmERZ (ZEZZF:8FHR
21,9118 7T£80,000
BT
Offices located inthe 2,311,588 2,088,159 Comparison approach  Adjusted transaction price to RMB3,289-RMB76,796 per  The higher the adjusted
PRC reflect market value of similar square metre (2022: transaction price the higher
properties, taking into RMBS5,380-RMB55,388 per the fair value
account factors such as square meter)
location and direction
URPENHEDE B8 BRAERSGERUARBEL  BFARARK3289ITE KLHEE f“f%t@%]'
WMENTE ALY AR¥76,796 T ¥ fE
RARERZ (ZE-—F:8F %
AR¥5380TEARK
55,388 7L)
Commercial units 497,143 — Residual approach Adjusted transaction price to RMB16,200-RMB18,400 per  The higher the adjusted
under reflect market value of similar square metre (2022: N/A) transaction price the higher
construction in properties, taking into the fair value
the PRC account factors such as
location and direction
IR EER BEX BRERSERURBELN SFARARKI620TE KARRFHERES
EIEEA MENTE ALY AR¥18,4007T AVEHES
RAmERE (ZEZZ%:TEA)
Adjusted developer's profitand ~ 12.5% (2022: N/A) The higher the adjusted
risk rate, taking into account developer's profit and risk
of the progress of the rate the lower the fair value
property
BABRERBNERARE - 125% LARRRANBRERX
BEAANEER (ZZZZF: T@A) B ATELE
2,881,831 2,296,359

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4z&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE—-ZT—=

15.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolio and concluded that the Group’s investment
properties are held under a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, in
measuring the Group’s deferred taxation on investment properties, the
directors of the Company have determined that the presumption that
the carrying amounts of investment properties measured using the fair
value model are recovered entirely through sale is rebutted. Accordingly,
deferred taxation in relation to the Group’s investment properties has
been measured based on the tax consequences of recovering the
carrying amounts entirely through use.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2022/23 HEIRRIZRER AT 2022/238 K&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR HRARM

n‘/T\

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE—-ZT—

=F=ZA=t—HLHFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. 1% - BERRE
Coal-bed
Leasehold Machinery  Furniture methane
land and Construction and and Motor  development
buildings  Pipelines in progress equipment fixtures  vehicles cost  Vessels Total
AELHR BRREE RER
BF BE HRIE BERRE #%E RE  HRER e f @3t
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TER TER  TAT TAR AR TAT AR TER  TAR
COSsT B
At 1 April 2021 R-ZE--F@A-A 5426504 39,011,112 13,560,208 6,696,300 850,887 1,035,531 450,654 194,675 67,226,371
Exchange adjustment EHAR 257,99 1,498,690 795542 369,515 71,325 41,994 23,303 8131 3,066,496
Additions RE 1,340,656 2,114,836 6,483,144 159,094 122,910 88,894 269,276 — 10,578,810
Acquired on acquisition of Subsidiaries 488 B B 2 AT 15
(note 37) (Btsx37) 4535 174,835 84,692 55,274 6,583 2,808 - — 369,548
Disposal and winding up of HEMRBRARRKEARA
subsidiaries EE (18,022) (70,914) (19,625) (1,359) (1) (38,521) — — (148512
Disposal for the year FALE (31,9600  (67,822) — (120619  (16,304)  (66,620) — (5,887) (309,212
Reclassification BNHH 167415 6726512 (7,432,022) 538,095 — — — — —
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZF=RA=+—H 7,187,945 49387,249 13471939 7,096,800 1,035330 1,064,086 743,233 196,919 80,783,501
Exchange adjustment AR (493,193) (3,706,014)  (1,455284)  (595,279)  (163,009)  (77,597) (55175)  (16,621) (6,562,172)
Additions AE 83,318 239997 5,836,303 244,787 242,035 43,190 189,741 — 6879371
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries 4 & ft B 2 7 Ff 15 (B 5£37)
(note 37) 569 — 24,249 11,41 - - - - 36,229
Disposal and winding up of HERBARRKBAR
subsidiaries g (4,987) — (@,111) (6,808) (69) (86) - —  (16,061)
Disposal for the year FRHE (86,612)  (23,602) — (92,824) (35435 (75,989) —  (102,857) (417,319
Transfer to investment properties BYEERENE (212,59) = = = = = = —  (212,5%)
Reclassification EEibx 383483  5266,734  (6,024,423) 366,210 7,99 — — — —
At 31 March 2023 “Z-=F=A=+-H 6857927 51164364 11848673 7,624,297 1,086,848 953,604 877,799 77441 80,490,953
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT 17‘? E Ei }EJHE
At 1 April 2021 “Z--%#mA-AH 1,151,707 5,529,704 — 2811849 210,823 481,340 1,372 120,697 10,317,492
Exchange adjustment [Rﬁ% 44,069 162,921 — 220,989 31,151 20,606 ni 4,620 485,073
Provided for the year FREE 220,102 1,294,786 — 45 30,300 90,194 24,089 13,526 2,084,222
Eliminated on disposal and winding up £ EMB R A KM EA A
of subsidiaries ERENE (1,420) (4,505) = (736) (34) (5317) = — (12012
Eliminated on disposal i R B 8816)  (17,738) —  (66350)  (12,548)  (49,211) — (1339)  (156,002)
At 31 March 2022 WZB--F=F=+—H 1405642 6965168 — 3,376,977 259,692 537,612 36,178 137,504 12,718,773
Exchange adjustment A (97,798)  (587,829) —  (268431)  (74938)  (42,483) (2,685  (10,214) (1,084,378)
Provided for the year FREE 198,287 1,476,386 = 385,023 95,401 87,470 32,185 8439 2,283,191
Eliminated on disposal and winding up i\ & i B 2 7 R fii B 2 7
of subsidiaries BRI (928) = — (2,932) (61) (51) - - (3972
Eliminated on disposal HEERB (22,048) (12,407) — (57,354) (13,065) (61,484) — (91,045)  (257,403)
Eliminated on transfer to investment BB Z R ENERBHB
properties (56,513) — — — — — — — (56,513)
At 31 March 2023 WZBE-_=F=F=1+—-H 1426642 7841318 — 3433283 267,029 521,064 65,678 44,684 13,599,698
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2023 RZBEZ=F=R=1+—H 5431285 43323046 11,848673 4,191,014 819819 432540 812,121 32,757 66,891,255
At 31 March 2022 RZE-ZF=RA=1+—H 5782303 42422081 13471939 4,319,823 775,638 526,474 707,055 59,415 68,064,728
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #z & BA TS RR M
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE—ZT-—=F=A=+—HItFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

The pipelines of the Group are located in the PRC.

The above items of property, plant and equipment other than

construction in progress are depreciated on a straight-line basis at the

following rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings Qver the shorter of the remaining
terms of the leases or 50 years

Over the shorter of 30 years or the
operation period of the relevant
company

5%-10%

15%-50%

Pipelines

Machinery and equipment
Furniture and fixtures

Motor vehicles 25%
Coal-bed methane development Units of production method based on
cost the expected proven reserve to be
extracted
Vessels 7% (new vessels acquired from

suppliers) or 34% (acquired from
second hand market)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, interest capitalised in
construction in progress amounted to HK$710,437,000 (2022:
HK$548,955,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group is in the process of
obtaining title deeds from relevant government authorities for its land
and buildings in the PRC amounting to HK$32,598,000 (2022:
HK$41,041,000). In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
Group is not required to incur additional cost in obtaining the title
deeds for its land and buildings in the PRC.

16.
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R EEEEE 15%-50%

R 25%
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PR BA R 1 5 A
EEBME

i 7% (R EEEAZ
A AR) 3k 34% (¢
ZFWIBEAN)

WEBEE-_ZT-_=%=HA=+—8
FTFEFE HZEZEIREXRLLZHE
£710,437,00008 o( = & = = F:
548,955,0007% 7T) °

REE-_TE-_=ZF=ZA=+—HLHF
E - A& E IE gt H (8 {832,598,000%8
T (=T = Z 4 : 41,041,000 70) L 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
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17.

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE T -_=F=FA=+—HIFE
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. ERAEEE
Machinery
Leasehold Leased and Motor
lands properties equipment vehicles Vessels Total
HEER
HELh HEWE Bd RE i A st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET TFTHExT TFTHET TER
Asat31 March2023 WH=T-==
=B=+-—8
Carrying amount REE 2,493,037 153,885 489 17 1,145,245 3,792,673
Asat31 March2022 RHZ-ZTE=-—
=A=t+—8
Carrying amount REE 2,764,373 226,969 918 112 1,303,345 4,295,717
For the year ended BE-—ZT=-=f§
31 March 2023 =A=+—H1
FE
Depreciation charge TESH 106,503 74,516 361 86 158,099 339,565
For the year ended BE—_E—-—
31 March 2022 =A=+—81Lt
FE
Depreciation charge WESBHA 83,406 85,222 638 4,121 158,099 331,486
Year ended Year ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022
CES HE
—E-= =
=A=+—-H =ZA=+—H
LtFE IEFE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Expense relating to short-term leases HEPAEEENREX 82,141 136,892
Total cash outflow for leases HEMBR SR LR 444,468 614,387
Additions to right-of-use assets NEFHEEE 115,223 293,342

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #:&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE—ZT-—=F=A=+—HItFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

For both years, the Group leases various leasehold lands, offices and
warehouses, machinery and equipment, motor vehicles and vessels for
its operations. Except for the lease of leasehold lands, lease contracts
are entered into for fixed term of 1 to 30 years (2022: 1 to 30 years).
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the
length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition
of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has obtained the land use right
certificates for all leasehold lands except for leasehold lands with
carrying amount of HK$41,070,000 (2022: HK$252,148,000) in which
the Group is in the process of obtaining. In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, the Group is not required to incur additional cost in
obtaining the title deeds for its leasehold lands in the PRC.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for properties,
machinery and equipment and motor vehicles. As at 31 March 2023,
the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term
leases to which the short-term lease expense disclosed as above.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2022/23 HEMRRBIERER AT 2022/238 % HE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR ERR M EE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

18. A B4

BT

ERAZRE

=HEZA=t-BLEFE

2023 2022
—E-= —_F-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Cost of investments in associates: HWERBERAB 2K
Listed in Hong Kong REBEM 1,020,734 1,020,734
Listed in the PRC R E T - 39,273
Unlisted JFEETH 5,374,443 5,039,349
Share of pre-acquisition dividend 316 Y B AT AR S (1,296) (1,296)
Share of post-acquisition profits and other SRR E R A R H 2
comprehensive income (net of post-acquisition U A (0B W B 12 AT AR B0)
dividend received) 3,618,738 4,331,937
Discount on acquisition of associates W BE B 8 N ) 2 BT R 232,970 232,970
10,245,589 10,662,967
Fair value of listed investments, based on quoted & & 2 AFE (RTIHRE
market price t=) 5,807,898 7,796,884
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B  caunmEMs

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZZT-_=F=-F=1+—HItFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18. REEE RN T 2RE @)
The Group had interests in the following significant associates: NREBRATEFEBRE AT R IEARE
=
Proportion of nominal
Place of value of registered/issued
registration/  Principal place Class of capital held
Name of entity Form of business structure  incorporation of operations capital by the Group Principal activities
=/ rEEFRBEM/ SR
rEAR EBRBESL Rt % TEEEHE RAER R 7% T L TEEH
2023 2022
—E-=f ZT--%
% %
EEMIERMAIRER Sino-foreign equity joint venture  PRC PRC Registered 44 44 Gas pipeline construction
BERARF ROEERE FE FE il MREERR
EESRELEERN Sino-foreign equity joint venture  PRC PRC Registered 39 39 Exploration, collection, transportation,
BERARF purification and sales of natural
gas
FIEERE FE FE it MR W& & FLRRAR
HE
EETALEEARAR  Sinoforeign equity joint venture  PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
BERARF construction
FOEERE FE FE atfit RARBERMREERR
BEEDEMRRTEREME  Sino-foreign equity joint venture  PRC PRC Registered 48 48 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
AR(RBAERE]) construction
ROEERE FE FE atfit RARBERMREERR
BREBIEEZERLLEAR Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 35 35 Refining process, storage of LPG
NS ERERRTA FE FE i RIEERRERNIEE  #7F
MLEREEIRRAR Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 25 25 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
BRAF construction
ERERRTA FE FE atfit RARBHERMREERR
BNFERRERAR Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 40 40 Sales of LPG
ERERRAT FE FE atfit RIERARHE
Zhongyu Energy* Limited liability company Cayman Islands  PRC Ordinary 37 37 Investment holding, sales of natural
(Note i) gas and gas pipeline construction
AR B IR * ERERRTA HEHS FE 3 () REZR AATEERRR
EERR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR HRARM
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18.

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE—-ZT—

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

=F=ZA=t—HLHFE

18. REFER A ZRE®

Proportion of nominal
Place of value of registered/issued
registration/  Principal place Class of capital held
Name of entity Form of business structure  incorporation of operations capital by the Group Principal activities
T/ AEEFHEM/ BRI
TLEEZR EBEBEA Ryt TEEEHE RAER R B LB TEER
2023 2022
—B-ZE —T--F
% %
EMHEHFEDRIELTME  Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 44 44 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
¥REBAA construction
ERERERATA FE FE it AARHERMAETERR
REBATFRRAR Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 25 25 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
BERAAF construction
ERERERATA FE FE it AARHERMAETERR
BEABKRAARES Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 25 25 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
BERAAF construction
ERERERATA FE FE it AARHERMAETERR
KEEBREEFERMAR  Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 42 42 Development of energy technology
NS and sales of natural gas
ERERERATA FE FE it BERRIMAERARREE
BIAMEHBRAABRAR  Limited liabilty company PRC PRC Registered 40 40 Sales of LPG
ERERERATA FE FE atfit RIERARHE
ARFRBERRE Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 30 30  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
BERAAF construction
ERERRAT FE FE it AARHERMAETERR
WREXRARFBERAR  Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 25 25 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
construction
ERERRAT FE FE it AARHERMAEERR
WRERARERKREBR Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 22 22 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
NS construction
ERERERATA FE FE it AARHERMAETERR
MIREREERRR Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered N/A 12 Development, production and sales of
BRAR([HIHE]) * (Note ii) (Note i) gas meters and other utility
system
BERERRTA FE FE aEfit TER 12 RERREMEFRERE
(GE) (Bt 3Eii) EERHEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4z&

BT ERER MR 121



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B  caunmEMs

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZZT-_=F=-F=1+—HItFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. REEE N T 2R E @)
Proportion of nominal
Place of value of registered/issued
registration/  Principal place Class of capital held
Name of entity Form of business structure  incorporation of operations  capital by the Group Principal activities
T/ AEEFHEM/ BRI
rEER EBEBEA B 5 TEEEHE RAER B A b ) TBEE
2023 2022
—E-=fF —Z-__F
% %
EEEARRAERDA Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 46 46 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
(&% ER]) construction
BREMAA FE HE i AARHERMAETERR
W0 5 1B 57 R A R Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 30 30 Production of coke and coking
BERARF chemicals
BREMAA FE HE i EEERRELCER
JEFER IR RARBBAT  Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
construction
BREMAA HE HE i AARHERMAETERR
IHEERMCEERAT  Limited ability company PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Production and sales of LPG
BREMAA HE HE i REARREERHEE
RERBAMRAFEEAER  Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
NS construction
BREMAA FE HE i AARHERMAETERR
MM A R E R Sino-foreign equity joint venture  PRC PRC Registered 40 40 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
EREBRATF construction
PHEELE HE HE i AARHERMAEERR
* Its shares are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and its financial @ ERGONREBBZMET  BEHMBE
information is publicly available. BRI R FAEER o
** |ts shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and its financial * HROWRANBHFZ S Em - BHEE
information is publicly available. BE R AT A G o
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18.

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE—-ZT—

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes:

@

(ii)

In October 2021, Zhongyu Energy completed a placing of existing shares
and issued and allotted 188,000,000 new shares at a price of HK$5.80
per share to a strategic investor. Accordingly, the Group’s equity interest
in Zhongyu Energy was diluted from 39.98% to 37.33%, resulting in a
gain on deemed disposal of HK$228,797,000 recognised in the cost of
investment in the associate and credited to other gains and losses as
disclosed in note 7. The investment in Zhongyu Energy continues to be
accounted for as an investment in an associate as the Group continues to
have significant influence over Zhongyu Energy.

The Group held approximately 12% equity interests in #/LE £ as at 31
March 2022. The investment in ¥ TEE was classified as an investment
in an associate as at 31 March 2022 as the Group has the right to appoint
one out of four executive directors in #/LEZ and as such, the Group
had the power to participate in the financial and operating policies of J#f
JLELZ. During the year ended 31 March 2023, #TEZ completed a
private placing and allotted 25,275,376 new shares to new investors.
Accordingly, the Group's equity interest in ¥ TEZ was diluted from
approximately 12% to approximately 10%. Subsequently, the executive
director appointed by the Group has ceased to act as the director of ;T
&2, and the Group no longer exercises significant influence over ¥/ 2.
The Group has retained the interest in #/LE&E and classified it as a
financial asset at FVTOCI. Accordingly, the Group recognised a gain of
HK$320,217,000 in other gains and losses, which is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount of the associate and the fair
value of the retained interest on the date significant influence is lost. The
fair value of the retained interest, being the market value of the listed
shares of #TEZ, is regarded as the fair value of the financial asset at
fair value through other comprehensive income at initial recognition.

At 31 March 2023, included in the cost of investments in associates is

goodwill of HK$3,042,290,000 (2022: HK$3,247,627,000).

The Group provided guarantees amounting to approximately

HK$206,091,000 (2022: HK$210,284,000) for banking facilities
granted to the Group'’s associates.

The financial year end date for Zhongyu Energy is 31 December. For the

purpose of applying the equity method of accounting, the consolidated

financial statements of Zhongyu Energy for the year ended 31

December 2022 (2022: 31 December 2021) have been used as the
Group considers that it is impracticable for Zhongyu Energy with its

shares listed on the Stock Exchange to provide a separate and complete
set of financial statements as of 31 March. No significant transactions
requiring adjustments took place during the intervening period.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #3

18. R B

=F=A=t—HLEHFE

ENAEZBE @

B 5 -

(i) RZTEZ—F+ A e REMNX
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WERR - ZEBREEERITRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE—-Z—=

18.

F=RA=1t—HILFE

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18. REEE RN T 2RE @)
The financial year end date of &[5/% 70 is 31 December. This was the R EmA M REELEER AT — B
statutory reporting date established when that company was registered. =+—8  B%n e MEREERE
The financial statements of J&[5#PE for the period other than its EHEHH e RAYERAEF
statutory reporting date had not been provided by JE[&EF to the IR TE 2Rk B H DA O EE S O B RS 3R
Group. For the purposes of applying the equity method of accounting, X - BEAEZETE AEEE®E
the financial statements of J&F5)%& 78 for the year ended 31 December AEEEANEEE_—_ZE-_—+—- A4
2022 (2022: 31 December 2021) have been used. No significant =t+—R( =B F: T =-—F+
transactions requiring adjustments took place during the intervening A=+ —H)EFEZEAEUBER
period. Ko EME BEEABELSR
BWEARRS -
Summarised consolidated financial information BEEBME NTGEST K ER
of material associates it
Summarised consolidated financial information in respect of each of the AREEBZEEHMES N ZEAHKEE
Group’s material associates is set out below. The summarised MBEEHIAT . NXEHIZEEE
consolidated financial information below represents amounts shown in BERBMEEBES NG BHRE
the associate’s consolidated financial statements. FT~&%E e
All of the Group’s associates are accounted for using the equity method AEEFmEHE AR NEAERER
in these consolidated financial statements. REETBHRRAALR -
WMEERE and its subsidiaries KEETEREWE AT
2023 2022
—E-=F —_E-—
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Current assets mENEE 749,092 851,271
Non-current assets EMBEE 3,779,152 3,718,297
Current liabilities wREBEE (1,213,362) (1,104,950)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (292,360) (296,172)
Net assets FRE 3,022,522 3,168,446
Revenue WA 2,162,894 2,191,290
Profit and total comprehensive (expense) FRHEME2E(FAX)
income for the year N (145,924) 332,455
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR ERR M EE

18.

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE T -_=F=FA=+—HIFE

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
Summarised consolidated financial information
of material associates (Continued)

MEIEH E and its subsidiaries (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the investments in associates recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

18. REEE N B 2R E )

EEBRENAGSHBERE
it ()
KEREFTEREKE 2T @

P BERMERRGA M B HRE
EEMZE’\H?M“ Al EREEY

2023 2022
—E-=H T F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FH& T
Net assets of K FE H1 & BREREZFEE 3,022,522 3,168,446
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest ~ AREBPWBEEF E 2 A #
in BEEFE T 75 L 1 48% 48%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest AEERKRAEATE 2=
in BBEYE T reflected in the Group's FEEEBE(EAEBZEE0E
consolidated statement of financial position AR SR AR SRR ) 1,450,811 1,520,854

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 434 BA 7§ M3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘/-_r\IZI /jﬁ%#&%\%ﬁﬂ'

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

18.

2FE =

F=RA=1t—HILFE

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

18. RBEE QA ZRE

=]
Summarised consolidated financial information EEZBREQNAFREMEERE
of material associates (Continued) it ()
Zhongyu Energy and its subsidiaries FRBRERERRERE A
2023 2022
—&=-= — ==
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET THETT
Current assets B EE 6,272,670 7,110,313
Non-current assets IEREBEE 20,038,212 19,562,551
Current liabilities mE B E (10,505,813) (8,428,479)
Non-current liabilities EmBEE (6,669,827) (8,727,387)
Net assets FEE 9,135,242 9,516,998
Less: Non-controlling interests B IEE R (1,007,019) (858,001)
Net assets attributable to owners HE AERFEE 8,128,223 8,658,997
Revenue A 12,997,322 11,344,500
Profit and total comprehensive income for FREMNEREEBRALE
the year 22,767 1,948,551
Dividend received from Zhongyu Energy during  4F A £ & 0 38 B2 TR 2 A% &
the year 169,242 105,754
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
n‘/-_r\IZI /Zl-i%#ﬁ’%éﬁﬂ-

18.

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised consolidated financial information

of material associates (Continued)

Zhongyu Energy and its subsidiaries (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the investments in associates recognised in the

consolidated financial statements:

it (4

B2FT =

4 BE

I

&)

F=ZA=+—HILFE
18. REEENT 2 RE @)
EERENTGRETHERE

BREEME DT @

LM BERMBERNGA P HERER
ERBEQRZRERMELNK :

2023 2022
—EZ=F —EF-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Net assets attributable to owners of Zhongyu PR ER AE(RFEE
Energy 8,128,223 8,658,997
Less: Fair value gain on revaluation of pipelines & : 5t A% - E L& 2
included in property, plant and BEEMmzATEKE
equipment* (2,077,378) (1,793,647)
6,050,845 6,865,350
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in 7N £ [ 7/ 2 #4 B VR 2 B 1
Zhongyu Energy & 31 L Bl 37% 37%
Goodwill fEES 483,469 483,469
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in AEERPHRERZEREBTE
Zhongyu Energy reflected in the Group's (EAREEZ&RE VBN E
consolidated statement of financial position AR B ) 2,722,282 3,023,649
* Zhongyu Energy measures its property, plant and equipment under * FHERELEME BELERE-&

revaluation model. The revaluation is reversed to conform with the

Group's accounting policy.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘/-_r\IZI /jﬁ%#&%\%ﬁﬂ'

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE—-Z—=

18.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised consolidated financial information

of material associates (Continued)
SEREEA and its subsidiaries

F=RA=1t—HILFE

18. REt=

EEH
i ()

D

=NCTE)

RAIZRE @
Bt 3% & R

EEEARENELQF

2023 2022
—E-= —_=__

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FE T

Current assets mEEE 2,069,650 2,221,535
Non-current assets IEmMBEE 7,075,837 7,153,613
Current liabilities mea & (5,079,080) (4,779,046)
Non-current liabilities EmBaE (2,505,650) (2,617,590)
Net assets FEE 1,560,757 1,978,512
Less: Non-controlling interests W FETE IR & (178,340) (250,929)
Net assets attributable to owners HAE ANERFEE 1,382,417 1,727,583
Revenue PN 4,735,126 4,749,477

(Loss) profit and total comprehensive (expense)  4F A (fE518) % A1) K 2 m (B s2)

income for the year W A 4258 (417,755) 128,411
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR ERR M EE

18.

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE—-Z—=

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
Summarised consolidated financial information
of material associates (Continued)

SERSET and its subsidiaries (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the investments in associates recognised in the

FZA=+—HILFE

18. RBEE QA ZRE

[=]
EEBRENAGSHBERE
it ()
BEEAREKE QT @

LM BERMBERNGA P HERER
BRZNBERRAZKEREEY

consolidated financial statements: BE :
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
Net assets attributable to owners of J&[5%P B EM#EE A FEE 1,382,417 1,727,583
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest 7K 52 [B] 72 8 [5 3% 78 2 %k /B 1
in B &R Rt 46% 46%
Goodwill S 1,515,379 1,636,984
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest AEBERBGEACERREE
in J&5 &7 reflected in the Group's (EREE Y BB RE
consolidated statement of financial position A g ffe 2,151,291 2,431,672

Aggregate information of associates that are not

individually material

BRIMSELIFER2HE QT
et ER

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

The Group's share of results of these associates 7~ £ B J& 15 3% Z5 i & A &) 2 5% 7 339,542 304,705
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s REBRZFHERNA 2 ERH

interests in these associates AitEEEE 3,921,205 3,686,792
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B  caunmEMs

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZZT-_=F=-F=1+—HItFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 19. REBEQAAZRE
2023 2022
—E== —E--
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Cost of investments in joint ventures — unlisted R& B R Al Z W AKX —IFE 9,461,464 8,255,668
Share of post-acquisition profits and other DE W B R T R B4 2 E WA
comprehensive income (net of post-acquisition (¥ [ U 8 12 A7 Uk BX % 8
dividend received) 2,553,501 3,936,995
Discount on acquisition of joint ventures WIEEE AR ZITE 30,145 30,145
12,045,110 12,222,808
As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group had interests in the RZEZ=FR=ZT__F=H=+
following significant joint ventures: —B AEERUTETESAEAAT
EEER
Place of Proportion of nominal
registration/  Principal place Class of value of registered/issued
Name of entity Form of business structure  incorporation  of operations  capital capital held by the Group  Principal activities
/A AEBfFEM/
rEER EBRBEL it 8 TEEENYE RAER ERTREEALSH TEER
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
% %
W TR AR 2T Sino-foreign equity joint venture  PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
construction
RIEERE HE FE = AARHERMATEER
BN TIRRERER  Sino-foreign equity joint venture  PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
A construction
RIEERE FE HE i AARHERMATEER
BN RRETIRREREER  Sino-foreign equity joint venture  PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
A construction
RIEERE FE HE i AARHERMATEER
HHPRRATAEMAAER  Sino-foreign equity joint venture  PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Natural gas refill service and gas
A station administration
RIEERE FE FE = AARMERB R MR ER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZ=—ZE—-_=F=A=+—HItFE

19. REERQTZRE @)

Place of Proportion of nominal
registration/  Principal place Class of value of registered/issued
Name of entity Form of business structure  incorporation of operations  capital capital held by the Group  Principal activities
=M/ AR AEEFfEEMR
LELR EBEBER I i B TEEEBYE RAER ERTRAHELA TEEH
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-_—F
% %
FHERAARERAA Equity joint venture PRC PRC Registered 51 51 Sales of natural gas
RELE FE HE i RAREE
Fujian Anran Gas Investment Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Investment holding, sales of natural
Company Limited gas and gas pipeline construction
(“Fujian Anran”)
BEZAMAREBERLR BRECLA FE HE i REER RARBEERRRER
(TERZR)) BR
EERFARARGEAR Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
LN construction
BEBREREATA FE FE i RARBEERMREBER
RMIERRRR (R E) Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
BHRAF construction
BEBREREATA FE FE i RARBEERMREBER
aMe R mRR Sino-foreign equity joint venture  PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
BRERAA construction
RIEERE FE HE i RARBEERMREBER
SEARHETRALE Sino-foreign equity joint venture  PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
BRAF construction
RIEERE FE FE i RARBEERMREBER
AEMRERTEEER Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 40 40 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
NS construction
BEBREEATA FE FE i RARBEERMREBER
MMNBEIRIEREBRR Sino-foreign equity joint venture  PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales and distribution of LPG
RIEERE FE FE i RICARBHERD #H
SEMHERRERAA Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales of natural gas, petrochemical
products and gas accessories
BEBREREATA FE FE i AARHE ALERRBREH

HE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- "Vj_\

B IR R R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE—-ZT—

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

=F=ZA=t—HLHFE

19. REE

NAEIZKRE @)

Place of Proportion of nominal
registration/  Principal place Class of value of registered/issued
Name of entity Form of business structure  incorporation of operations  capital capital held by the Group  Principal activities
/R AEBEASEM/
rEER EBRBRA V% TEEXHE RAER BRTRAEELLA TEEK
2023 2022
ZZ-=f —ZT--F
% %
ZHmRRE TR Sino-foreign equity joint venture  PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
BERAERRA construction
PONEELE HE HE T AARHERMREBER
RRORREZER Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 51 51 Sales of natural gas and delivery of
NG| hazardous products
BEREELA HE HE T AARHERCRRESR
MME LR Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales of natural gas
BEREEAA HE HE A RARHE
China Insurance Investment Investment Fund L.P. PRC PRC Registered 30 30 Investment in piped natural gas
China Gas (Shenzhen) Clean (“PNG"), liquefied natural gas
Energy Development Fund L.P. (“LNG"), compressed natural gas
(Note) ("CNG") and LPG energy projects
RRERBORINBRER REES HE HE i EERARPNG) RILRAR
¥RES (FRA %) (TING]) - B R AR (TCNG])
(B zE) RRICAMREREERE
Bkh R REE Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 40 40  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
construction
BEREMELA HE HE A AARHERMREBER
WAFRRREERERAA  Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered 40 40 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
construction
BEREMLA FE HE Gl AARHERMREBER
IWRARRARRDER Limited liability company PRC PRC Registered M 41 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RAR(NLEAMD construction
BEREELF HE HE T AARHERMREBER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE T - =F=A=+—HILFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 19. REERTZRE @)

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group cooperated with China sk  BE—_T—+E=RA=1+—HIEFEE "
Insurance Investment Fund L.P. (“CIIF”) to establish the China Insurance AREFHABERBEEEES(ARA
Investment China Gas (Shenzhen) Clean Energy Development Fund L.P. (the B)([HRREK])EEELFPREHROF
“Fund”). The Fund was expected to have an aggregate capital YW)EB2ReRERES (BAREE) (%
commitment up to RMB10 billion, of which RMB7 billion and RMB3 billion E2) ZEHEFEEBTLELEA
would be contributed by CIIF and the Group respectively. The Fund would R¥1008T ERFARBIOVETRA
provide capital support for investment in the PNG, LNG, CNG and LPG REIETHEINBEFREREEER
projects. Up to 31 March 2023, the Group and CIIF contributed HCIE o ;i H 2 # BPNG * LNG * CNG &
RMB2,720,208,000 (approximately HK$3,215,902,000) (2022: IPGER R BREHEATE HE-Z
RMB1,914,635,000 (approximately HK$2,295,247,000)) and Z=F=ZRA=1T—B AEEHEFPRE
RMB3,480,000,000 (approximately HK$3,977,143,000) (2022: EUHZESELREBEES R ABAR
RMB5,140,000,000 (approximately HK$6,345,679,000)) to the Fund #2,720,208,000 7T ( #93,215,902,000
respectively. TTI(ZZFEE==—F: AR#1,914,635,000

gt ( #72,295,247,0007% 7T )) & A R #&
3,480,000,000 7T (#73,977,143,0007% 7T )
(ZZ= =% : AR¥5,140,000,000 7T
(#96,345,679,0007% 7T)) °

CIIF is entitled to a preferential return based on its actual capital FREBRIBEEERRA L ERE(FKRE
contribution (after deducting any redeemed amount). MEBLORBR)EEREZAEELD
o
In connection with the Fund, the Company made an undertaking to MZEEHIRE  NATELAZ LR
procure, among other things: (i) the divestment of CIIF in the Fund; (i) the F(EFEE): (FPRREZELTH
payment of the preferential return of CIIF from the Fund; and (iii) the BE (XN RENZESRENE
preferential redemption of CIIF in the Fund in the event that the Fund A N (D N/NGIE <X =5 =R E RS
does not have sufficient funding in satisfying the aforesaid requirements. BREZESRENME MEZELTE

RHETMEIALEENR -

Pursuant to shareholders’ agreement entered into among the Group and BEAEEEZES IR BIREE
the two other shareholders of the Fund, the shareholders of the Fund KE R s ZEERRTIEEELN
have also contractually agreed sharing control over the Fund, as key RESEZESHIZEGE EAEMEIE
decisions about the relevant activities, including but not limited to RN ERAT  BEET ﬁﬁﬁ/\gﬁ
business, financial and operation matters of the Fund, require unanimous HWERS BELREESE BAEGSZE
consents from all of the shareholders of the Fund. Accordingly, the Group SHEREN —HEAE - Bt KEE
has joint control over the Fund and the Group’s equity interest in the Fund W HSHEALREIZSE MAERR
is accounted for as investments in joint ventures. ZEEZBRAEEARREEQAR
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company provided BE-_ZT-_=F=A=+t—HI1tFE "
undertakings to the banking facilities amounting to RMB6.6 billion KARBMALGE TZES 2 ARE66(E
(approximately HK$7.6 billion) (2022: RMB5.6 billion (approximately T(H76BAET)(ZTZ—F: ARE
HK$6.9 billion)) to the Fund. 5618 7T (K69 R B T)) RITREEER
HER -

As all the relevant activities of the above entities require unanimous B E ;_* :g BEERAAEIHEEES

consent from all joint venture parties, they are accounted for as joint B AR SETH—HES W

ventures. %ggg 7%/\ NG

At 31 March 2023, included in the cost of investments in joint ventures MR-oT-—=®€=A=+—08 FAd
is goodwill of HK$244,541,000 (2022: HK$264,165,000). BN TR B BN B 75 2 5 244,541,000
BIL(ZF = =4 : 264,165,000 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE_—_ZE-_=F=FA=+—HIFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 19. REERBAZ2RE @

Summarised financial information of material
joint ventures

The summarised financial information below represents amounts shown
in the joint ventures’ consolidated financial statements.

All of the Group’s joint ventures are accounted for using the equity
method in these consolidated financial statements.

Fujian Anran and its subsidiaries

EEAADN TN BEN L

TXEINZHMBERBRIESE LA
REMBERRMATER -

AEEMBGERA I RABEDAR
R HBEHRRAANR

BEZARENEBERQF

2023 2022
—E—-= —E-—

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET THETT

Current assets B EE 1,231,724 1,417,149

Non-current assets IEREEE 4,334,254 4,493,748

Current liabilities mE B E (1,387,394) (1,513,605)

Non-current liabilities EmBEE (607,640) (559,618)

Net assets FAE 3,570,944 3,837,674

Revenue A 3,111,254 3,097,894
Profit and total comprehensive (expense) income £ (A% #1 &2 2 (I )

for the year PN (266,730) 249,130
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e IR ERR M EE

19.

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE T -_=F=FA=+—HIFE

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)
Summarised financial information of material
joint ventures (Continued)

Fujian Anran and its subsidiaries (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the investments in joint ventures recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

19. REERBAZRE @
EESE QN ERE M
()
BEZAREKE QT @

LM BERMBERNGA P HERER
BRAZEERARZKRAEREEYK

2023 2022

—E-=H T F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TERT FET

Net assets of Fujian Anran BRERANLFEE 3,570,944 3,837,674
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in = NE B R BRE LA 2 A #E

Fujian Anran T % L ) 49% 49%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in AEERBRELAZERD

Fujian Anran reflected in the Group'’s REE(EAREB 2&GE 05
consolidated statement of financial position AR SR AR SRR ) 1,749,763 1,880,460
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

19.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of material

joint ventures (Continued)

China Insurance Investment China Gas (Shenzhen) Clean
Energy Development Fund L.P. and its subsidiaries

2FE =

F=RA=1t—HILFE

(%)

B fRIZ AR ORI B R EE
ES(AREB)REMBE QT

19. REERBEIZKRE
BEES

(%)

B B B E R

R R

2023 2022
—E-=F —E=-=
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
Current assets mEEE 15,172,805 13,482,367
Non-current assets FERBEE 14,349,277 16,134,273
Current liabilities ik R=RE (13,519,618) (11,896,153)
Non-current liabilities FEmEBEE (8,173,874) (7,586,780)
Net assets FAE 7,828,590 10,133,707
Less: Non-controlling interests B IR S (168,784) (190,168)
Net assets attributable to owners wAE ANERFEE 7,659,806 9,943,539
Revenue B A 4,605,895 4,271,247
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive (expense) 4F A (E518) % A & 2 m (B %)
income for the year W A 4858 (995,494) 991,612
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE T -_=F=FA=+—HIFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 19. REERBAZRE @

Summarised financial information of material EESEQL MK ER M
joint ventures (Continued) (%)
China Insurance Investment China Gas (Shenzhen) Clean RRIRBRCRIYD BERERRE
Energy Development Fund L.P. and its subsidiaries E2(BRE®) EZE M 2 Al
(Continued) (&)
The carrying amount of the Group's investments in the Fund comprises AEERZES  REREDERTEN
the following: T&IE:
2023 2022
—E-= —E- =
HK$°000 HK$'000
FBT FHEIT

The Group's share of accumulated profits of AEEEMZES 2 Rt Tl

the Fund 396,198 827,645
Capital contributed to the Fund by the Group ~ AEEAZES HE 3,215,902 2,295,247
Exchange realignment PE H 58 & (236,728) 63,836

Carrying amount of the Group's interest inthe AEBRZE S 2 EFMWEBE
Fund reflected in the Group's consolidated (EXREB 2 FE KRR
statement of financial position M AR ) 3,375,372 3,186,728
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE_—_ZE-_=F=FA=+—HIFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 19. REERQABIZRE @)

\

Summarised financial information of material BEES ) B 7% & B L i
joint ventures (Continued) )
L/ BEA3h and its subsidiaries WERAREEKE QA
2023 2022
—E-=HF —EF-=
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FE T

Current assets mEEE 1,450,847 1,930,611
Non-current assets IEmMBEE 3,307,197 3,427,348
Current liabilities mea & (708,185) (1,145,774)
Non-current liabilities EmBaE (233,782) (3,450)
Net assets FEE 3,816,077 4,208,735
Less: Non-controlling interests T FEIE AR (1,677,103) (1,824,161)
Net assets attributable to owners HAE ANERFEE 2,138,974 2,384,574
Revenue WA 785,440 881,682

Profit and total comprehensive (expense) income £ A % A & 2 (5 %)
for the year WA 4858 (229,880) 228,960

Dividend received from [Li3A3h during the year £ N B U B 1L B A d 2 Bk & 66,739 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
n‘/-_r\IZI /Zl-i%#ﬁ’%éﬁﬂ-

19.

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Summarised financial
joint ventures (Continued)

LI 3R A58 and its subsidiaries (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the investments in joint ventures recognised in the

consolidated financial statements:

information of material £
(#)

.

FZA=+—HILFE

19. REERBAZRE @
S &N A E R

WERAREEKEBQE @

LB ERREERNGA
BRAZEERARZKRAEREEYK

ERR R e

2023 2022
—E2-=F —E-_F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Net assets attributable to owners of [/ &AM LR AMES AREFEE 2,138,974 2,384,574
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest 2N & B 7 |1 38 /0@ 2 % A 1
in LIS AH T 25 L 1 41% 4%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest REEN LR AMBR 2R
in LIS A reflected in the Group's EEBE(EREE Y SA0B
consolidated statement of financial position R R AR 876,979 977,675
Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not BARAmMESYIFEERZEE DT
individually material &t E R
2023 2022
—E-= ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
The Group's share of results of these joint AEEBEERZEEGERRAZ
ventures B 271,093 222,078
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s REBRZEEERAIZERT
interest in these joint ventures AitEEEE 6,042,996 6,177,945
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %74 B 75 2R K it 5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B  caunmEMs

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE_—_ZE-_=F=FA=+—HIFE

20. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 20. W AFEHAEMEZTK A

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ZBRATHE
2023 2022
—E-= =
HK$°000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Equity securities listed: AT 40 B BT 2 IR F
— in Hong Kong — & B 119,500 135,773
— in the PRC —h 397,872 —
Unlisted equity investments ELEMRAKRE 402,928 600,093
Other investments Hibig & 2,198 2,198
922,498 738,064
The directors of the Company have elected to designate these equity HRARBESERAEZERAREL
investments as at FVTOCI as they believe that these investments are not FREEBEBRIAEABROHRT
held for trading and not expected to be sold in the foreseeable future. CSHESKKRES  HFERIEZEERETX
Details of the fair value measurements of these investments are set out SEREZRNFEA E 1’@ ZHEUWA -
in note 39. aZwaéfZ FEAEFHBEHNAMGE
39
21. GOODWILL 21. EE
HK$'000
FAT
At 1 April 2021 RZZE=Z—FWMA—H 3,298,386
Arising on acquisitions of subsidiaries (note 37)  E 4 B U BEHT B 2 7 (M &E37) 69,250
Eliminated on disposal and winding up of & BT B A B R BB A BB A R R
subsidiaries (10,261)
Exchange realignment PE 5 3% 115,854
At 31 March 2022 R-_B__F=RA=+—H 3,473,229
Arising on acquisitions of subsidiaries (note 37) & 4= B W BE T B A &) (Kt 5E37) 2,746
Exchange realignment PE 5 30 & (245,834)
At 31 March 2023 R—_E-_=%=H=+—H 3,230,141
The Group tests for impairment of goodwill annually and in the financial REERBERRETRE ZVBSF
year in which the acquisition takes place, or more frequently if there are EHeldmEB2EERE EATR
indications that goodwill might be impaired. ZPEEHENRER  SEETAH -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE=—ZT-_=F=A=+—HILFE

21. GOODWILL (continued) 21. BE @)

2 2 R (B &

EGaftrRBABESEZESRA
RERNEBAHNREELEEN - %
FHeELBENTIENRFTRARHEE
EMREBEREY RIEAHMAH
EXGRIEHEERS

Impairment testing on goodwill

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to CGUs that
are expected to benefit from that business combination. The CGUs are
principally engaged in the sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
construction business, sales of LPG business and provision of valued-
added services.

The carrying amounts of goodwill as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 are RZB_=FR-_FE-_—_F=ZA=+

allocated as follows: —HENEEREES LT :
2023 2022
—E-= —ET=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline UTEHMBRAEAZRAAREER
construction business within each MREBERER
of the following subsidiaries
Clever Decision Enterprise Limited Clever Decision Enterprise Limited 140,906 152,213
BINRRHETRRERBR A F BRI TR ER AR QA 44,546 48,120
bR AR AR BB R A A R BAREEERA A 15,451 16,691
WERRESEEERAA MEARESERER AT 53,381 57,664
FAEFRBATREEEBRARA MEFMETRRERER A A 14,844 16,035
BRI TRRERERAF FEIGHRRBMMRREREBR AR
and its subsidiaries REM B A A 26,981 29,146
HAFRREATREEEERRA A HAFRETRRERBR QA 30,223 32,648
EREEENEERENERER QA 1t = BB & 77 68 IR Bt 2% &
and its subsidiaries BERRAGREKERR 32,109 34,686
Fortune Gas Investment Holdings Limited EHRRIREZERER DA
and its subsidiaries REM B A A 988,658 1,067,996
HARRBEIMRBRA A ENRMRBIIMREBRAA 16,569 17,899
Rz REEFR A A and REFRMREEREBFGR A A
China Gas Hong Kong Company Limited KA REEBRA A
and its subsidiaries REKE QR 182,086 196,698
Beijing Gas Development Limited bMREREABR N MEWE R A
and its subsidiaries 205,840 222,356
ZEMBE KRR ARA A EEMEHRRMRRER AT 8,279 8,943
ERILNPRHETRREEER A A S| PR T R R
AR AR 6,424 6,940
RERPBRAREERRAA RERBRARIEEBRAA] 1,876 2,026
EHREERERAZERAAF EME B RAZERAA
and its subsidiary KEHE A A 5,666 6,121
REIFRHETRAERER A A BEIFMBETARARER
and its subsidiaries BRA R KEH B R A 69,160 74,710
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B commEmE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZ=—ZE-—=F=A=+—HItFE

21. GOODWILL (continued) 21. BE @)

[k AR C )

Impairment testing on goodwill (Continued)

2023 2022
—E_-=F —_=F-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
A R B BE R B PR A A AR RIEEERB R A A 3,339 3,608
KEFRELZLTIREBERAA KEFRERIEERAR 972 1,050
BEZERRARBEEGRAF EEGERRAHEEEFRAA 8,004 8,646
EBRGIERARBEERRAT EEZIIGERARBEEER QA 16,918 18,275
BRAZIIRRARER AR BAZIRRXAZER AR 7,188 7,764
RHEEZMBER QA RHARZRABRA A 5,301 5,725
EWMRmmAlE S 2ERERAR S RMmmalgE 5 ReER
BRA A 10,361 11,192
ERGZHEMBERAQ A ERBZHREMRERADF 7,869 8,501
ZIL BiFILRA B R A A ZFBILRTERA A 565 610
AP RRERTARERER DA I AR OMR B AR I TH A B R
BR A A 1,913 2,067
HEBERRETMRABRAA BEEBELRLTMAERA A 4,347 4,696
BRERELERARARERAQ A WP BHFEERARARBR DA 9,728 10,509
MPZEERATERDE MBEEERARERA A 12,330 13,319
ERER A A RegRBERA A 6,242 6,742
HETERMETEMR AT andits subsidiary EBTERMRREAR QT
M EM B A A 17,899 19,335
EERMRBEARERRAF SEHRMBAREERAR 17,893 19,329
BN SRR IR R B R A A I ZRERRER A A 34,075 36,809
PR ERER AR HEAPRETRAREERRA A
and its subsidiary N EH KB A A 14,664 15,841
IR R E R AR A A HIREFRBEEERER A A 16,482 17,804
BEMAEEREGRARF BEMARERERA A 892 964
Other individually immaterial CGUs Hu@ERMm=S I TEAN
REEEEN 281,653 288,140
2,321,634 2,491,818
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZ=—ZE—-_=F=A=+—HItFE

21. GOODWILL (continued) 21. Tﬁ%(%)
Impairment testing on goodwill (Continued) EESNEAEN:ENC )
2023 2022
—E-=F —_EFT-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
Sales of LPG business within each ofthe U T &M B 2 8 2 &L AHER
following subsidiaries SHEXEK
R P REEREEGR QR AR REEIREBBR A A
and its subsidiaries N E M B A A 300,253 324,348
Panva Gas Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries  Panva Gas Holdings Limited
NEM B A A 279,832 302,287
Other individually immaterial CGUs E A& R i & WA E K
REEEEN 23,620 25,515
603,705 652,150
Provision of value-added services within LA T & [ B A 5 = 12 {18 (&
each of following subsidiaries: PR 7 27 :
Daily Pride Limited and its subsidiaries BEBRARREWE QA 303,673 328,042
BEEFRRFERERA A EEFRRIEERBR A A 1,129 1,219
304,802 329,261
3,230,141 3,473,229
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE—ZT-—=F=A=+—HItFE

21.

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing on goodwill (Continued)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on value
in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in use calculations
are those regarding the discount rates and growth rates during the
year. Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that
reflect current market assessment of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based on industry
growth forecasts.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent
financial budgets approved by the management for the next five years.
The cashflows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using a steady
2%-3% (2022: 2%-3%) average growth rate for CGUs in the natural
gas and gas pipeline construction business, 3% (2022: 2%-3%) for
CGUs in the sales of LPG business and 2% (2022: 2%) for CGUs
engaged in the provision of value-added services. The pre-tax rates used
to discount cash flows for CGUs are from 11% to 19% (2022: 13% to
18%). In the opinion of the directors of the Company, no material
impairment loss is identified for both years. Management believes that
any reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions would not
cause the carrying amount of the CGUs to exceed the recoverable
amount of the CGUs.

21.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZZT-_=F=H=+—HItFE

22. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS HtELEE
Exclusive
rights of ~ Production
natural sharing  Technology Customer
gas operation rights rights Licenses  relationship Total
XAR
ES)
BREERE LEIHE KA A EFBR& o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FTET FTET THT THT FTET
COST ﬁﬂi
At 1 April 2021 RZE-_—-FMA—H 3,336,087 1,365,902 56,379 — 15,535 4,773,903
Exchange adjustments 7R 123,594 50,589 2,088 — 575 176,846
Addition NE 2,669 — — — — 2,669
Disposal and winding up of HEHBARKKBARBSR
subsidiaries (19,129 — — — — (19,129)
Acquired on acquisition of EEEKRERBAR
subsidiaries 267,131 — — — — 267,131
At 31 March 2022 RZZZZF=A=+—H 3,710,352 1,416,491 58,467 — 16,110 5,201,420
Exchange adjustments AR (333,875) (45,385) (4,343) — (1,197) (384,800)
Acquired on acquisition of EXBNERBAR
subsidiaries 9,457 — — 29,635 — 39,092
At 31 March 2023 RZE-Z=F=A=+-H 3,385,934 1,371,106 54,124 29,635 14,913 4,855,712
AMORTISATION #e
At 1 April 2021 RZEZ—-FMA—H 812,183 72,996 43,234 — 15,535 943,948
Exchange adjustments BN AR 30,082 2,704 1,602 — 575 34,963
Charge for the year FRYH 126,300 41,847 8,688 = = 176,835
Disposal and winding up of HEMBARRMBARER
subsidiaries (7,002) — — — — (7,002)
At 31 March 2022 R-ZE-_—§=Zf=+-H 961,563 117,547 53,524 — 16,110 1,148,744
Exchange adjustments R (72,069) (6,502) (3.976) — (1,197) (83,744)
Charge for the year FRZH 141,409 40,332 4,576 3,091 = 189,408
At 31 March 2023 R-_ZE-_=%#=FA=1+—H 1,030,903 151,377 54,124 3,091 14,913 1,254,408
CARRYING VALUES EEE{E
At 31 March 2023 —E-=#=R=+-H 2,355,031 1,219,729 — 26,544 — 3,601,304
At 31 March 2022 R-ZZE-—F#=A=+-H 2,748,789 1,298,944 4,943 — — 4,052,676
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE—-ZT—=

22.

23.

F=RA=1t—HILFE

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 22. B EREE @)
The exclusive rights of natural gas operation, technology rights, licenses KAREB 2 BRE&EE - o
and customer relationship are amortised on a straight-line method over TR REPEEDBIN30E - 4045 - 3
the period of 30 years, 40 years, 3 to 10 years and 10 years respectively. Z10FRI10F 2 BIERNNAEHETIN
Production sharing right represents the right under the production _i._é SRR A DR —HWEB A A
contract entered into between a subsidiary of the Company and a PRC —EFECEREEFPERTE
entity for the exploitation and development of a coal-bed methane H:'. HZPENE(EAKREERNE)
resource in the PRC (the “CBM Project”) under an exclusive right Wi ARRAEEEBERNBRLE
granted by the PRC government to explore, develop and produce coal- EmELEAZXAPREERER (&
bed methane with that PRC entity as joint operation partner until 2029. ‘EL HEDAIYMEESHNE TN ZE
The management of the Group sought advice from its legal advisor and BB E T AT AEEW
has been advised that there is a sound basis to further extend the ﬁjﬁ ERELZRERNSKERITE
exclusive right to 2038. The Group has a 50% participating stake in the SHMEEASEREBBREEREE—
CBM Project. Production sharing right is amortised by using the units of FHERE_ZE=N\F - AEBRK
production method based on the expected proven reserve to be RIEB#HASONZHEHEZ - AE DK
extracted. ERBEBAFRNEHCEBRRFESER
HEEBMAIESE -
INVENTORIES 23. 78
2023 2022
—E-=EF —=E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Construction materials & 2,819,700 2,349,718
Value-added products and service consumables & {& 7 & & AR 7% 08 7 @ 1,180,292 1,801,449
Properties under development ERAYE 386,427 219,335
Natural gas KRR, 685,800 473,313
LPG BAL A R 445,403 766,985
Consumables, spare parts and other materials EFEM - B REMYR 137,823 90,418
5,655,445 5,701,218
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-_=F=A=+—HItFE

24. CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES 24. EHEEE&

2023 2022
—®== —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Contract assets — current ERNEE—H
Construction contracts in gas pipeline construction #A 58 & 18 2 % 12,706,697 17,138,269
Contract liabilities — current EHEBE—H
Construction contracts in gas pipeline construction A 58 & B R B EES & 2,020,536 2,408,833
Purchase of natural gas, LPG and other sales BERAR BILABRAKR
HitpiHE 7,059,596 7,034,237
9,080,132 9,443,070

As at 1 April 2021, contract assets amounted to HK$16,925,010,000
and contract liabilities amounted to HK$8,037,261,000.

Contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right to consideration for
work completed because the rights are conditional on the Group’s
future performance in achieving specified milestones on the contract
work. The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the
rights become unconditional.

RZE-_—FWHA—HB AHEEAR
16,925,010,000/8 7T MA& A BEL A
8,037,261,000% 7T ©

EBHEEXTESRAKGEHEERT
1@#}1&@‘:% M 7% 35 # A BUR R AN £

SERAENITERERERFTER
%‘iﬁﬁﬁ'ﬁ%fﬁ ERSRENEDEGME
B aNEENBBEZ R -

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract assets FEEERNENEERGNEESR
and contract liabilities recognised are as follows: B RERN IR T -
Construction contracts in respect of gas pipeline AAREBEREN
construction

The Group’s revenue from gas pipeline construction contracts is AREBRNARREEEZRSLHIWATIE

measured using the input method. The Group requires certain
customers to provide upfront deposits before the commencement of
the construction as part of its credit risk management policies.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current because the Group
expects to realise them in its normal operating cycle.

When the Group receives a deposit before the construction commences,
this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until the
revenue recognised on the relevant contract exceeds the amount of the
deposit.

BB NEAE - AEEERETER
R THRBAERARRES  FSHE
EERREEREN —FD -

HRAEERPNRERTEERPANE
BHEANEE A HFANEE
DERRDEE -

AREEREIHIE ZAKEZ SR
RRENFERELEARNEE BEE
HEASHNMERNKRABEZESER
ALk
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE_Z_=4=-A=1+—HI[FE

24. CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES (Continued)

Purchase of natural gas and LPG

For the sales of natural gas to certain household customers, the Group
requires advance payment before the usage of the natural gas through
prepaid cards. The charge of the actual usage of natural gas will be
deducted directly from the balance of the prepaid cards. The customers
can only consume the natural gas up to the balance of the prepaid
cards. For certain industrial and commercial customers, the Group
requires advance payment before the usage of the natural gas. Any
shortage against the periodically actual charge for the actual usage of
natural gas will be billed by the Group accordingly. This would give rise
to contract liabilities until the revenue recognised on the relevant
contract reaches/exceeds the amount of advance payment.

For the sales of LPG, the Group would require advance payments from
certain customers for the sales of LPG which gives rise to contract
liabilities until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract exceeds
the amount of advance payment.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised relates
to carried-forward contract liabilities and how much relates to
performance obligations that were satisfied in prior periods.

24,

EHNEE/BEw

BEXARRRICLAHER

BRAETREEFPHERARMS
AEEGERNEREBNR AR
BENTRENRBE EARXARZE
FRUCE S ERETEN ROBRBELR -
ZEEPREFTARAREERNMNFR
BEATRLE-RETIBXAEM
FOAKREEERNERRRRA A
MHRBE-AEESRBEREARR
RUEAEM TN EHERKERX
H-ERELGHNAGE BEEZHEAS
WA BAED BEENEE
ALk e

MEEREEABARMNE  AKEHEE
RKETEPHRHEE RO MRAIENK
B O HEEAANAGE EEHMBEHN
PERNBABBRNESERL -

TRIHEERNWWAETZ L EEE
EHNEEARBENARZIENMEHE

BITHNENEER -

Purchase of

natural gas,
Construction LPG and
contracts other sales
BEXAR -
RALBHRE R
BREN Hitsi &
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-_E_=F=Z=A=t+—BHLEE
Revenue recognised that was included in the FHEREER AN B ELE KA
contract liabilities balance at the beginning
of the year 2,408,833 7,034,237
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE-_SE-—FE=ZA=+—HLEE
Revenue recognised that was included in the FE¥IEZRBIEN AL B EALH A
contract liabilities balance at the beginning
of the year 1,859,159 6,178,102

Details of impairment assessment of contract assets are set out in note

39.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE—

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

T_=F=A=+—BHItEE

25. B RWIRIEN H R ARIR

2023 2022
—8=-= —T-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEx F&T
Trade receivables from contracts with customers B P S HNELHNZE 5 EWEE 7,271,886 6,752,327
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEBEEE (989,259) (1,011,363)
Trade receivables, net g5 EWERIEF 6,282,627 5,740,964
Deposits paid for construction and other materials T 12 K& & 2 1% & 1,497,602 1,187,902
Deposits paid for purchase of natural gas and LPG 8 B X %A | M &/t A 8 | E
e 3,860,858 4,007,667
Advance payments to sub-contractors BT o™ ZFIE 1,071,346 870,507
Rental and utilities deposits Hehk ABEERS 617,013 696,042
Other tax recoverable E b a] Y 0] 4 3B 562,078 1,079,361
Other receivables and deposits HuEWRBEREZS 1,450,126 1,271,164
Prepaid operating expenses ENEERX 1,225,351 1,283,671
Amounts due from non-controlling interests of & U Bt /B /A &) 3F 3% A% 4 %5 1B
subsidiaries 135,410 109,918
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments EMmEWIRRE ek
TEAT RIA 10,419,784 10,506,232
Total trade and other receivables E 5 e W AR 18 & H b fE Uk
FRIAA R 16,702,411 16,247,196
As at 1 April 2021, trade receivables from contracts with customers (net R-ZT-_—FYA—H BFEFANE

of allowance for credit losses) amounted to HK$5,784,368,000.

Other than certain major customers with good repayment history which
the Group allows a longer credit period or settlement by instalment

basis, the Group generally allows an average credit
days to its trade customers.

EMBSREERENIREREBRE

&) /5,784,368,000 % T °

BRETHAREHREZEERFER
CSEAEAFEERREESHE S BAR
period of 30 to 180 I AEE—RAEZESFEFREMHETF
H30E180B 22 EH -

BT ERER MR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE_Z_=4=-A=1+—HI[FE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group entered into
contracts with certain independent third parties (the “Entrusted
Parties”), pursuant to which the Group has agreed to entrust the
Entrusted Parties with trade receivables in the gas connection segment
of amounting to approximately RMB3,756,417,000 (approximately
HK$4,293,048,000) in aggregate, for the purpose of the issuance of
debt financing instruments backed by the cash flow generated from the
trade receivables. Management of the Group assessed that, through
the contracts with the Entrusted Parties, the Group has transferred all
the contractual rights to receive the cash flows and transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the trade
receivables to the investors. The Group derecognised the related trade
receivables of RMB3,756,417,000 (approximately HK$4,293,048,000)
during the year ended 31 March 2023 upon completion of transfer and
recognised a loss on derecognition of financial assets measured at
amortised cost of HK$367,212,000 in other gains and losses.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of allowance
for credit losses presented based on invoice date at the end of the
reporting period:

25.

E S EWERTE & H b fE U BR
18 (&)

REBEE_ZE-_=F=-HA=+—HLHF
B AEEEETBYE=AH(SZ
ANV AH Bt AEEE R
EZTA R BHARK3756,417,000
(#94,293,048,0007%8 T ) B9 ¥k @ 5 B 5
HESEWREBTSEEH  AET
NESEKEBELENESRER
HHNEEREIR AEEEEEF
f BREIZLITNAN ~A5H
EEEMBKBNE S RENS LEF
FEBRESEWEEMEBEENEA
HroEBEEFRTFHEESE AEER
TREBRERIEREEZE_T ==
FZRA=Z1T—BLEFERAHBEBEES
JE Ug BR 1B A R #3,756,417,000 7T (49
4,293,048,0005%% 7T) * WA H iz &
EEERR LERIZHBEKAFEZ
% @B E F518367,212,00078 7T ©

NBEHR REZAHENCZES
FEUWERTE (MK B R IBBE) 2Rk
DT ¢

2023 2022

—E=-= —E-=
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
0-180 days 0% 180H 3,229,635 2,647,765
181-365 days 181 H £365H 708,738 1,225,049
Over 365 days 365H KA 2,344,254 1,868,150
6,282,627 5,740,964

The Group has policies for allowance for credit losses which are based
on the evaluation of collectability and aged analysis of trade receivables
and on the management’s judgment including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history of customers as well as
relevant forward-looking information.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are set
out in note 39.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2022/23 HEMRRBIERER AT 2022/238 % HE

AEBZEFEEBRBERRIRES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR ERR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE T - =F=A=+—HILFE

26. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) ASSOCIATES/JOINT  26.

VENTURES

Amounts due from (to) associates

Included in the balance of amounts due from associates are (i) a loan of
HK$384,392,000 (2022: HK$419,792,000) which is unsecured, non-
interest bearing and repayable according to the terms of agreement; (ii)
amounts that are of trade nature of HK$84,671,000 (2022:
HK$116,401,000) and aged within 180 days based on invoice date; and
(iii) a dividend receivable of HK$5,025,000 (2022: HK$5,428,000) from
associates. A credit period of 30 to 180 days is granted to the associates
for trade amounts. Details of impairment assessment of amounts due
from associates are set out in note 39.

As at 31 March 2023, amounts due to associates of HK$72,050,000
(2022: HK$70,399,000) are of trade nature and aged within 180 days
based on invoice date.

Amounts due from (to) joint ventures

Included in the balance of amounts due from joint ventures are (i) loans
of HK$80,000,000 (2022: HK$86,420,000) which are unsecured,
interest-bearing at fixed rates 5.70% (2022: 5.88%) per annum; and (ii)
amounts that are of trade nature of HK$3,912,023,000 (2022:
HK$4,903,878,000) and aged within 180 days based on invoice date. A
credit period of 180 days is granted to the joint ventures for trade
amounts. The remaining balance is of non-trade nature, which is
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. Details of
impairment assessment of amounts due from joint ventures are set out
in note 39.

As at 31 March 2023, amounts due to joint ventures of
HK$156,108,000 (2022: HK$69,309,000) are of trade nature and aged
within 180 days based on invoice date.

BW(EN) BELR &5

NGRS

FEU (B ) Bt & D RIFRIB
SR R D A OB R 2 () B

77384,392,000/8 Tt ( = T — — F:
419,792,000/ Jt ) Ty fE K - %
B W AR BB & K ffx 8 & ()3
1684,671,000% (= & = = F:
116,401 ooo%m)B%,\%l g &R

RIEEZERQEERE B1S0OHA &

(iii) J& Uk B & A B) A% B.5,025,0007% 7T
— T — — 4 :5428,000/7C) c ;&
SR IE M ERF X TF30HZE180H
ZIEEH - EUEE & A R RIERRE
GBS RMIEE39 -

RZE_=F=ZA=+—H  EH#
N B3 IE 72,050,000 T (=B = =
% :70,399,0008 L) hBE S5t E -
BRI IR B A ERFT A180R A o

FEWL (FEAY) & & D A FIE

*H\JELISZAéS“*%'k BEHZOE

380,000,000/ ;c( = T = = F:
86,420,000?575) ThEEE - RE T
FRR570B(=-F =~ —F :5838F)
580 (i) T8 3,912,023,000%8 7T (=
T — — £ :4,903,878,000/8 T ) Ty B
BOMERERIZEZBHEERT R
180HAN B ZREME KTEE
NAIWIEEHA1808 - 8 NV EB
FEZHHEE ERKE 2BV ARE
KEE- WA E QR KENRERT
HEFBEE MR MIFE39 -

R-_EBE-_=F=A=+—H EfA&
& N\ A 7T 156,108,000/ T (— & —
— % :69,309,000 L) B E 5 It
LR EBEZAEERLS B180H
ﬁqo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZ=—ZE-—=F=A=+—HItFE

27.

28.

HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS 27. HFIEEERE
2023 2022
—_E-= —_EF_—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET F&T
Equity securities at fair value listed in Hong Kong 32 A FEVIE 2 FE LKA
2B 25 104,536 104,638

Held-for-trading investments as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 represent
equity securities listed in Hong Kong. The fair values of the investments
are determined based on the quoted market bid prices available on the
Stock Exchange. The fair value of held-for-trading investments is
classified as Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to banks to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group. Deposits amounting to
HK$178,696,000 (2022: HK$177,968,000) have been pledged to
secure short-term bank loans and undrawn short-term facilities and are
therefore classified as current assets. The pledged bank deposits carry
fixed interest rates of 0.35% to 2.17% (2022: 0.30% to 1.90%) per
annum.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group and short-
term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less
and carry interest at market rates which range from 0.01% to 1.75%
(2022: 0.01% to 2.99%) per annum.

28.
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EEFETER RERR
TEEERHE

EEARBRTEREANSRFASE
BrzsRTHMEMBEBFRERTZSF
7K 2 178,696,000/ T (=& = = F:
177,968,000 7T ) 2 157 3 B {E 4K 38 A
BEEHBRTEREARRER 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZ=—ZE—-_=F=A=+—HItFE

28. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND CASH 28. BEiE#BETES RHERE

EQUIVALENTS (Continued) TEEHER wm

The details of the Group’s pledged bank deposits and cash and cash AREFBNKEEBERCE g

equivalents which are denominated in currencies other than the Aoz E¥EEHE 2 B IR RITE A

functional currency of the respective group entities are set out below: KBS MRESEEER ZFEHI W
BN

United States

Dollars (“USD”) HK$
ESAESHA) BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBTT FHET
equivalent
=]
At 31 March 2023 NZE—=#=A=+—H 437,516 87,868
At 31 March 2022 R-ZE-__F=A=+—H 102,681 364,780

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 434 B TS ER3E T3 153



154

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE—-Z—=

29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade and other payables comprise amounts outstanding for trade
purchases and ongoing costs. The following is an aged analysis of trade
and bill payables presented based on the invoice date at the end of the

reporting period:

F=RA=1t—HILFE

29.

BZ RN IRIBER MR IRE

BoRERNEAREMENEEARREE
FRBRFBERRNZ REERE R
BERAR HBEEAHR2IZEFHE

NERBERENEREZREDTAT

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

0-90 days 0%£90H 9,430,268 12,410,460

91-180 days 91TH=180H 883,401 913,124

Over 180 days 180H A £ 4,334,203 2,966,486

Trade and bill payables B ENERERENER 14,647,872 16,290,070

Other payables and accrued charges HEtMEMAERELETER 1,574,410 897,798

Consideration payables FERE 295,278 443,172

Construction cost payables B TEER 838,162 1,012,427

Retention payables and security deposits received = IR ZF 4 R ik & 1,600,123 1,798,302

Accrued staff costs st B TR K 150,221 159,855

Loan interest payables R B R R 253,297 165,393
Amounts due to non-controlling interests of & A5 BT BB N m) FE % AR 28 T

subsidiaries (Note) (Bt &E) 197,965 311,706

Other payables and accruals HMEMNEREREGTER 4,909,456 4,788,653

Total trade and other payables 2 5 FE 1~ BR 18 I H fh FE 1
FRIE AR 19,557,328 21,078,723

Note: The amounts due to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries are non-trade

in nature, unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

The average credit period on trade purchases and ongoing costs is 90

to 180 days.

90£180H -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZ=—ZE—-_=F=A=+—HItFE

30. LEASE LIABILITIES 30. HEEE
2023 2022
—_E-= T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEx F&T
Lease liabilities payable: [ENHEARE:
Within one year R—FA 200,709 213,802
Within a period of more than one year but not ~ AHi—F N FEBTBBAMF
more than two years 171,136 176,240
Within a period of more than two years but not  AHIMFELA FETBBAESF
more than five years 525,802 567,809
More than five years ZHAF 478,397 612,067
1,376,044 1,569,918
Less: Amount due for settlement within 1218 A R EIERE E S A
12 months shown under current liabilities BB EZHKIE (200,709) (213,802)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 1218 A& EI BB E 5 AIER S
shown under non-current liabilities BEZIAE 1,175,335 1,356,116
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘/-_r\IZI /jﬁ%#&%\%ﬁﬂ'

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE_—_ZE-_=F=FA=+—HIFE

31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 31 IRITR HMEE
2023 2022
—_E-= —_=EF_-
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Bank and other borrowings comprise the MITEHEMEEREATSIE
following:
Bank borrowings RITEE 50,138,721 52,093,811
Other borrowings Hibg & 9,872,080 4,035,278
60,010,801 56,129,089
Analysed for reporting purposes as: TMEAEMEOMA
Current mE 21,907,608 22,142,596
Non-current ERB 38,103,193 33,986,493
60,010,801 56,129,089
Secured o i 3,463,918 2,964,511
Unsecured 4 4 56,546,883 53,164,578
60,010,801 56,129,089
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZ=—ZE—-_=F=A=+—HItFE

31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 31. RITREMEE @
Bank borrowings Other borrowings
BITEE Hiti g &
2023 2022 2023 2022
—EgE-= R —E-= S
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

FTERT TETT FTERT TET

The maturity profile of the above 3t & & ~ 2| B 557

borrowings is as follows: mR
On demand or within one year ZERKEZBHN —F RN 17,543,024 22,062,534 4,364,584 80,062

Within a period of more than ZR—FETBBRF

one year but not more than

two years 17,527,217 11,583,228 1,988,857 119,669
Within a period of more than ZHRMEETBBRAF

two years but not more than

five years 14,705,985 16,495,870 2,299,143 3,835,547
More than five years R 362,495 1,952,179 1,219,496 —

W
x

50,138,721 52,093,811 9,872,080 4,035,278
Less: Amount due within one B — FEAEIEA A

year shown under current BB EZRIE
liabilities (17,543,024) (22,062,534) (4,364,584) (80,062)
Amount due after one year —FRBETAIERE
shown under non-current BE A
liabilities 32,595,697 30,031,277 5,507,496 3,955,216
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-=F=A=+—HItFE

31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 31. RITREMEER
2023 2022
—E-= —_=E_—
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FH& T
Borrowings comprise: BEBRE
Fixed-rate borrowings EEEE 15,963,092 12,048,628
Floating-rate borrowings FEBEE
— London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) — fm ZER 1T A %?}? LR B0
plus 1.00% (2022: LIBOR plus 0.70% 1.00E(=ZF ==
t0 1.05%) RARITREF S E SN
0.70E Z1. 05J_) 2,808,000 4,757,968
— Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate — BT RITAZERFEE SN
(“HIBOR") plus 1.00% to 1.10% (2022: 1.00EZE1.10E (_ T— =
HIBOR plus 0.70% to 1.05%) BITIRITRZERE XS N
0.70/FZZ=1.05/F) 9,899,536 10,146,689
— Secured Overnight Financing Rate —EERRBREEFESM
("SOFR") plus 1.20% to 1.30% 1.20EZ 1302 4,091,100 —
— Base rate of the People’s Bank of China ~ — F1 B A R 4R 1T BRI = 27,249,073 29,175,804
60,010,801 56,129,089

Other borrowings mainly include: (i) other borrowings from certain
financial institutions of HK$2,937,500,000 (2022: HK$295,356,000)
which are secured by property, plant and equipment, carry interest
ranging from 3.18% to 4.17% (2022: at 4.17%) per annum and
repayable in 2025 to 2031; and (ii) corporate bonds and short-term
commercial papers in the PRC of HK$5,603,429,000 (2022:
HK$2,839,506,000) which are unsecured, carry interest ranging from
1.90% to 3.00% (2022: 2.60% to 3.85%) per annum and repayable in
2023 to 2027.
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EFE417B(ZE-—F :417E)F
FEFB YR _E_RAFE_ZT=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZZT-_=F=H=+—HItFE

31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

The details of the corporate bonds of the Company as included in the

31. &

HfE & @

FAAEMEE ZARAFNRAIESF

other borrowings are as follows: RN

2023 2022
—E=-= —T=-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Corporate bond 1 (Note i) NafEHT(KTaED 34,013 36,219
Corporate bond 2 (Note ii) N alfE %2 (&) 1,142,857 1,234,568
1,176,870 1,270,787
Notes: MfsE :

(i) The corporate bond was issued with coupon and effective interest rate of 4.38%
per annum through private placement in the PRC on 24 October 2018
and maturity date on 23 October 2023. The corporate bond is tradable on
China Interbank Bond Market. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the
Group early redeemed part of the corporate bond of RMB1.97 billion
(approximately HK$2.43 billion).

(ii) The corporate bond was issued with coupon and effective interest rate of 3.38%
per annum through private placement in PRC on 10 March 2020 and
maturity date on 10 May 2025. The corporate bond is tradable on China
Interbank Bond Market.

The range of effective interest rates (which are also equal to contracted
interest rates) on the Group's borrowings are as follows:

(0]

(ii)

ZAREER-_TE—NF+A=-+TNHN
AEFRBRLEREHET BEMEK
MEBFNRAESFAI48E  FHPRA A=
T-=F+HB=-+=H - %ZAREHFA
RABBTEAMERS BHE_T ==
FZA=+—BLEE NEBERAE
Bl —B2ZARES 2EAARE
19.7 18 T (#9243 T) °

ZAREFR _ZE_ZEF=ATHE
TEEBLBEERT SEREMNXKE
BAEREFIBE HER_F=
BAFEAA+H ZRREFANDEER
THEMERS -

AEEREZERN XM E (AR
ERFTAME) AT

2023 2022
—E-= =

Effective interest rates per annum: BERFHNE
Fixed-rate borrowings EREE
Floating-rate borrowings FEEE

0.90%-5.10% 0.90%-4.99%
2.04%-6.60% 0.88%-6.14%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE—-Z—=

31.

F=RA=1t—HILFE

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued) 31 RIT R EMEE @)
The details of the Group's borrowings which are denominated in AREBRSIEBEEETRZINEERE
currencies other than the functional currency of the respective group NNz B ABZEEFBHI M
entities are set out below: T
Japanese Yen
UsD HK$ (“JPY”)
H
EYH BT re@l
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FAT
equivalent equivalent equivalent
£E £E )
At 31 March 2023 NR—_E-_=%F=H=+—H - 498,542 359,783
At 31 March 2022 N-E-_—_F=HA=+—H 390,000 1,175,292 410,445
32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. iR
Convertible
Ordinary shares preference shares Total
ZER MRREER #at
No. of shares No. of shares
'000 at '000 at
HK$0.01 HK$1.00
each HK$'000 each HK$'000 HK$'000
FIRME(E0.01 FIRMEE.00
B ITH ST
T R AR & FAET T AR FHAT FET
Authorised ETE 9,000,000 90,000 124,902 124,902 214,902
Issued and fully paid: BEETRHRE
At 1 April 2021 R-ZZE-_—FWMA—H 5,212,369 52,124 — — 52,124
Issue of shares (Note i) BT (BT 5ED) 392,000 3,920 — — 3,920
Shares repurchased (Note i) = B8 A% 1 (B i) (164,033) (1,641) — — (1,641)
At31March2022and 2023 R-ZE-_—FR_T_=4F
=A=+—H 5,440,336 54,403 — — 54,403
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IJF

BB ERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE—-ZT—

32. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

@

(ii)

=F=ZA=t—HLHFE

32. BN )

B 5

On 22 April 2021, the Company entered into a placing agreement (0] RZEBE-_—FMA_-_+_-_H  XAQA
pursuant to which 392,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each held as to A1 B & HaE 0 #E 1t © 392,000,000 % &
72,000,000 shares by Beijing Enterprises Holdings Company Limited and BEECO A Tz kM (Bt RiEKkE
as to 320,000,000 shares by China Gas Group Limited were placed to not A Bl $5 A 72,000,000 i% & B B A &
less than six independent professional, institutional and/or other investors £ @ AR A a4 320,000,000 ) %
at a price of HK$29.75 per share. On the same date, the Company f%2975B T2 BRERE F TR
entered into a subscription agreement pursuant to which the Company ZBUBE BERREMEEE-
issued a total of 392,000,000 new subscription shares of HK$0.01 each at FA ANAFIMRERZE B $
HK$29.75 per share to Beijing Enterprises Holdings Company Limited as NARER29.75B T2 BIREITE H
to 72,000,000 shares and China Gas Group Limited as to 320,000,000 392,000,000 J% & X EI{E0.01 7 T &9 #1 3R
shares. These new shares were issued under the general mandate granted A% D - 52 FE IR 1D & & 72,000,000 A%
to the directors of the Company at the annual general meeting of the 2 F 4 R 3R AR A BR A &) 5320,000,000
Company held on 20 August 2020 and rank pari passu with other shares REETFHRRERREEERAA - Z2E
in all respects. RO IRER-_Z_ZEFNA=-1

HRETHNARARRBEFAG EXT

ARAREEN —MREEEIT WHEEM

BROEMEBE R EAEGHERMA -
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company repurchased its own iy BEZE-_—_F=ZA=1+—HLEEFE"

shares through the Stock Exchange as follows:

AATBBYRFAOBEE S ZRE
mF

Price per share

BRE®K
No. of ordinary Aggregate
Month of repurchase shares of HK$0.01  Highest  Lowest repurchase costs
SREE0.01 51 8 AL A
B A 5 BLIzEBERRY BS RIE @t
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
BT BT TET
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BEZE-E-_—_#=H=+—H
LFE
Shares cancelled before 31 March 2022 W -ZE - —#=F=+—HAl
ARG
May 2021 —T:—iﬁﬂ 21,072,000 29.65 27.05 598,311
June 2021 ZZTZ-%5XA 1,537,000 23.98 23.75 36,846
July 2021 —E-—%+tA 6,493,800 24.60 23.25 155,924
August 2021 —E-—%N\A 8,832,400 24.95 21.70 202,424
September 2021 —T-—%NA 12,513,800 23.05 20.70 272,466
October 2021 —ET-—%+1+A 18,125,600 23.00 18.46 370,870
68,574,600 1,636,841
Shares cancelled after 31 March 2022 R-FE-——F=fA=+—H
b =l:0) e
November 2021 ZTZ—%+-4 3,580,000 14.12 13.96 50,350
December 2021 —E-—%+=A 3,429,000 13.70 13.00 45,908
January 2022 —E--f%—H 18,136,800 14.40 13.02 244,609
February 2022 :2::$ A 24,291,200 14.08 12.42 313,137
March 2022 —E--F=H 46,021,600 12.74 11.36 556,260
95,458,600 1,210,264
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE T - =F=A=+—HItFE

32. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

32. BN )

Notes: (Continued) e : (48)
(i) (Continued) (i) (®)
The Company repurchased 164,033,200 shares during the year ended 31 BHE-ZT-_—_F=-A=+—HLFE"
March 2022, of which 68,574,600 shares were cancelled before 31 March KA Al B B 164,033,200 ik 17 &
2022. The remaining 95,458,600 shares (the “Remaining Shares”) have 68,574,600 N —_E=——F =/ =
not yet been cancelled as at 31 March 2022 and are subsequently +—BRiFHE R T -_—_F=F=+
cancelled on 26 April 2022. The relevant repurchase cost of the Remaining — B+ # 795,458,600 8% A% 15 ([ % T A%
Shares is netted off in share capital and share premium amounting to ) EAFEHE HBER-_ZT-__FMWA
HK$955,000 and HK$1,209,309,000 respectively as at 31 March 2022. ZHNBEEE - TR A = B
ARBRARBDHEREHE R =
—H#=RA=+—H%%EH 5l /955000
78 7T %.1,209,309,000 7 JT ©
33. RESERVES 3. e
2023 2022
—_E-= -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T T
Translation reserve BHEEE
At the beginning of the reporting period R EH 3,747,608 1,322,706
Exchange differences arising on translation MEMESX CEHZ5E (6,173,238) 2,424,902
At the end of the reporting period & H R (2,425,630) 3,747,608
2023 2022
—EgE-= = _
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Investment revaluation reserve REELREB
At the beginning of the reporting period RERE B (323,125) (81,289)
Decrease in fair value of equity instruments at EAFEFAEMEEEBAZ
FVTOCI BRATERAFERD (84,144) (241,836)
Disposal of an equity instrument at fair value HEEATEFAEMEZR
through other comprehensive income WAZKATA 67,869 —
At the end of the reporting period AR =N (339,400) (323,125)

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2022/23 R
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

33. RESERVES (continued)

33. f#&E

BE_E-_—FZRA=+—HILEE

2023 2022
—E-= —EF-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Properties revaluation reserve MEELHFE
At the beginning of the reporting period ez ==k 1,601 1,601
Gain on revaluation of properties upon transfer R4 ¥ - ME MR HFEEE S
from property, plant and equipment to REMERSEHYEZ W=
investment properties 97,517 —
Deferred tax on revaluation of properties EHMERERIEA (24,380) =
At the end of the reporting period RIBEEKR 74,738 1,601
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZZT-_=F=-F=1+—HItFE

34. DEFERRED TAXATION 34, IEERIE
The following is the deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised and 13/\ TARAFEREBEFEZEER
movements thereon during the current and prior years. FEIERBEE(EE) ARB@AES -
Fair value
adjustment Impairment on
Accelerated on property, plant trade and other Other  Impairment on
tax Revaluation and equipment and Intangible  receivables and payables and property, plant
depreciation on properties right-of-use assets  Tax losses assets  contract assets accruals  and equipment Total
nE BER
REUAR EARNEER  HiEES
MEHRE ERELEZ Hit EWRER RER W% HER
RE  NEEfR ATESE  HEFE BYEE  ANEERE  EHEA RERE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THAT THET TERT TERT TAT TERT THAT THET
At 1 April 2021 R-F--5¥mA-H 369,604 45,895 144,911 (140,351) 759,518 (320,006) — (28,222) 831,349
Exchange adjustments EXAE 13,588 1,465 5256 (5.869) 28,529 (13,249) — (1,045) 28,675
(Credit) charge to profitor lossfor £ RN Bz (3EA) Tk
the year (note 9) (Hi&9) (8,146) 63,508 (9,017) (83,086) (34,452) (113,178) - —  (184371)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 37) Ut B& Fit & 2 7] (K 5537) — — — — 66,783 — - = 66,783
At 31 March 2022 R-E--f#=fA=1+-H 375,046 110,868 141,150 (229,306) 820,378 (446,433) — (29,267) 742,436
Exchange adjustments EHAR (13,619) (4,026) (5,125) 8328 (29,789) 16,209 — 1,063 (26,959)
(Credit) charge to profit orloss for £ AR B2 (5 A) 1B
the year (note 9) (Mizk9) (23,989) 83335 (8710)  (260,087) (30,164) 8,641 (81,417) — (312,391)
Charge to other comprehensive FRRER2ERARIA
income for the year — 24,380 — — — — — — 24,380
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 37) M B & 2 &1 (M 5E37) — — — — 2,364 — — - 2,364
At 31 March 2023 R-E-=%=fA=+-H 337,438 214,557 127,315 (481,065) 762,789 (421,583) (81,417) (28,204) 429,830
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of MEVNNGEETBERRAETMS & FiE

financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
offset. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances for

ERBEERABE TEE-UTR
R BHREMSIEEHBAEGKRD

financial reporting purposes: #r
2023 2022
—E-= —_=F_—

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET
Deferred tax assets RERIBE E (1,012,269) (705,006)
Deferred tax liabilities FREFHIERE 1,442,099 1,447,442
429,830 742,436
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE_—_TE-=F=A=+—HILFE

34. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in
respect of profit earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008
onward. No deferred taxation has been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to
accumulated profits of the PRC entities amounting to
HK$67,674,715,000 (2022: HK$63,881,826,000) as the Group is able
to control the timing of reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Majority of the joint ventures and associates established in the PRC are
held directly by certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group
established in the PRC which are therefore not subject to the above-
mentioned withholding tax.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has estimated unused tax
losses of HK$14,458,423,000 (2022: HK$11,666,799,000) available for
offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of HK$1,983,759,000 (2022: HK$978,587,000) of the tax
losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised for the remaining
estimated tax losses of HK$12,474,664,000 (2022: HK$10,688,212,000)
due to the uncertainty of future profits streams. Included in
unrecognised estimated tax losses are losses of HK$5,654,498,000 (2022:
HK$5,866,940,000) that will expire in 5 years from the year of
origination which is ranged from 2024 to 2027 (2022: 2023 to 2026).
Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

IE 3E 75 18 (@)

BECEMSHRE AT NF—
A—H® BHPEWBARMMRERZ
i A E R 2 B ABBIBI - 4R
EUMBRRITEXRPREACER A
#167,674,715,000/8 ;L ( — T — — 4 :
63,881,826,0007% 7T ) < & I Z= 58 {E
REFR EEAE  RA RN E B2
BELOEREZ82EE BEREZ8ER
ETERA] B A5 REE -

REORPEKINEE QA REBE
”Aﬂi@EEZF%‘%@EEP .ﬁXiZ?':T:Fi
EMBARERRSR AUBEAS®R
LR FEM

RmEHR A&EETANKIHE
RREM 2 HEFARE AP IEBIE
4 14,458,423,0007% t( = & = =
£ 1 11,666,799,000 7 ﬁ )° B
1,983,759,000/%% ;o ( — & = =
978,587,000/ T ) 2 i IE &5 18 R
FEERBEEE AR KRKEF K
B TAEE EEmrHEBIR
12,474,664,0008 ;o( — & — — &
10,688,212,0007%8 7T ) W & & 33 iE &
HEEE - RERGFHEBETF
PREBBRFE_ZSE_NFE_FT
Tt E(ZE & D E-=F
§:%:/—\¢,ﬁﬁﬁaﬁ)@§+5¢m)ﬁﬁ
25,654,498,000/8 w( = F = =
5,866,940,0007% 7T ) &5 18 o E fth E5 18 7]
ERHPEE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE—ZT-—=F=A=+—HItFE

(A) Share option scheme of the Company

A share option scheme was adopted pursuant to a resolution
passed on 20 August 2013 (the “Scheme”). The purpose of the
Scheme is to grant share options to eligible persons as incentives
or rewards for their contribution to the Group. The Scheme will
expire on 19 August 2023.

The eligible persons as defined in the Scheme are individuals or
entities who or which may participate in the Scheme (“Eligible
Persons”). The following individuals or entities who in the
absolute discretion of the board of directors of the Company
have contributed to the Group on the basis of their contribution
to the development and growth of the Group may participate in
the Scheme:

(i) an eligible employee;

(i) anon-executive director and an independent non-executive

director of any member of the Group;

(i) an agent or a consultant of any member of the Group;

(iv)  asupplier of goods or services to any member of the Group
or any director or employee of such supplier;

(v)  a customer of any member of the Group or any director or
employee of such customer;

(vi)  person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support or any advisory, consultancy or
professional services to any member of the Group or any
director or employee of any such entity;

(vii)  a subsidiary of the Company; and

(viii) a company in which the Company holds, either directly or
indirectly, 20% or more of its equity interest.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2022/23 HEIRRIZRER AT 2022/238 K&

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE-BASED 35. lERETEZIRUKRHASER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZ=—ZE—-_=F=A=+—HItFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE-BASED 35. lERETEZIRUKRHASER
PAYMENTS (Continued) A9 BE X% )
(A) A T BEIRESTE @

The maximum number of shares available for subscription is as AHARAB I RO ZEREE W
follows: ™

(A) Share option scheme of the Company (Continued)

0

(ii)

Subject to the Listing Rules, the maximum number of the
shares of the Company subject to outstanding unvested or
vested options under the Scheme and outstanding options
under other share option scheme of the Company (if any)
must not exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in
issue as at 20 August 2013 (“Overriding Limit”). No
options may be granted if it will result in this Overriding
Limit being exceeded.

Subject to the Overriding Limit, paragraphs (iii) and (iv)
below, the total number of shares of the Company issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options must not
exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at 20
August 2013 (subject to adjustment in the event of a
capitalisation issue or rights issue or open offer of shares of
the Company, or consolidation, sub-division or reduction of
share capital of the Company (other than an issue of shares
of the Company as consideration in respect of a
transaction)) (“Mandate Limit”). Unless approved pursuant
to paragraphs (iii) or (iv) below, no options may be granted
if such grant will result in the Mandate Limit being
exceeded. Options lapsed according to the terms of the
Scheme or other share option scheme(s) will not be
counted for the purpose of calculating the Mandate Limit.

(i)

(ii)

EEMARAUMBRT - &
EETRITENREB X
EREHMENRARAHM
BhEFE(MA)ET KR
1T B HR 4 P o9 e 9 AR 17
BELRIABHEB-F—
=FENAZ+TBEARRAD
1T IR 19 #930% ([ 48 1 R
) oI BRESEHD
DT OABEBLL B
SRR EA(T A -

=]

TE B ¥R 2R - T 3 Gii) & (iv)
BRRBBT - 7T B
BEBERTHRBETEITHR
NEIBRHO BB TBBE =
T-—=FNAZF+BAR
AIEEITRMDMI0% (EE
BT - R AFEE
PN/ ) 8 Vo = A NN 334
& B 2 ¥ sk ElRAR A&
RI1E M (B 1T AR Bl R 10 1
RBEEEBRIN T - Z K
MEEBE R THAE)(EER
) o Br FE R B T (i) sk
(VR R EESIE - B
TERELeEREBETR
1D M BB B It R R 38 A
R EARE - BB TR I EBRER
B AR #B 5z 5t 8l ok E b BB AR
WS E G KB KRR
DNTETHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE_Z_=4=-A=1+—HI[FE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE-BASED 35. lERETEZIRUKRHASER
PAYMENTS (Continued)

(A) Share option scheme of the Company (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2022/23 HEMRRBIERER AT 2022/238 % HE

Subject to the Overriding Limit and an approval of
shareholders of the Company, the Company may from
time to time “refresh” a Mandate Limit provided that the
total number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
limit as “refreshed” must not exceed 10% of the shares of
the Company in issue at the date of the resolution to
approve the “refreshed” limit (“Refresher Date”). Options
previously granted (whether outstanding, cancelled, lapsed
(according to the Scheme or the other share option
schemes of the Company) or exercised) will not be counted
for the purpose of calculating the limit as “refreshed”. The
Company can seek the approval of shareholders of the
Company to “refresh” a Mandate Limit any number of
times as the board of directors of the Company considers
appropriate. Unless approved pursuant to paragraph (iv)
below, the board of directors of the Company cannot grant
any options on or after the Refresher Date if such grant will
result in the Mandate Limit as refreshed being exceeded.
On 21 August 2019, the Company obtained the approval
of shareholders to refresh the Mandate Limit, which
represents 10% of the total issued share capital of the
Company on that day.

Subject to the Overriding Limit and a specific approval of
shareholders of the Company, the board of directors of the
Company may grant options to Eligible Persons identified
by the board of directors of the Company. If the approval
of shareholders of the Company is obtained, the board of
directors of the Company may grant options to any Eligible
Person in respect of such number of shares of the
Company and on such terms as specified in that approval
of shareholders of the Company.

A9 B8 X2 )

(A) A&7 BRESTS @

(iii)

(iv)

ERERBRARNRBRE
HERRERT - AQF AR
BB 3 RIERZE - (AR EE
[Ex BB ENE S
FUTEREITHAR R
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZ=—ZE—-_=F=A=+—HItFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE-BASED 35. lERETEZIRUKRHASER
PAYMENTS (Continued) A9 BE X% )

(A) Share option scheme of the Company (Continued) (A) &N EBIRETTE @)

Options granted under the Scheme must be taken up within 20
business days of the date of grant and pay the Company the
amount payable, if any, on acceptance of the option. Any option
under the Scheme which has vested, in respect of which all
conditions attaching to it have satisfied and which has not lapsed
may be exercised at any time, by no option may be exercised if
such exercise would, in the opinion of the board of directors of
the Company, be in breach of the Scheme, any applicable law,
rule or regulation or the terms and conditions of the relevant
option granted under the Scheme.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the Company,
and will not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the
Company’s shares on the date of grant; (i) the average closing
price of the shares for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Company’s share.

On 23 April 2020, 268,720,400 share options were granted by
the Company to certain directors of the Company, certain
employees of the Group and eligible persons. The share options
are exercisable upon the satisfaction of some conditions (as
disclosed below). The estimated fair value of the options granted
on the date of grant is HK$1,973,000,000.

RBEZTERTHEAREK T A
W R ANR B A BB )
BEFT20EEXHAEL » A
ANEAE o FIBERSTTE AT IR T
E 2 5B &AM & /P A R
B2 K B R R A HE o
ARREFERRTEHESS
EBRZAE - EERER R
Al RESARBZER THE
HA R B 5 SR S AR 1 - RIS AT AT (3
HitE -

TEEAAARESFEEE X T
BERTIERSE ()RR AR
MERTHBOKRTE : i)k
EEERTHHAMEZXBEHN
P E - Ri) A AR DB
HE -

ARARR—ZE-_ZTFW™A =+
ZHRARBETESR A&
BETRERERGEBALIED
268,720,40017 f& g 1 - BE AR #E AI
REKE THREZRITEMITX
g -REHBEHREZE
% #E {51 A (& 4 1,973,000,000
BT ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-=F=A=+—HItFE

(A) Share option scheme of the Company (Continued)

The fair value of the share options granted on 23 April 2020 was
calculated by using the Binomial Options Pricing Model. The
variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value of the
options are based on the directors’ best estimates. The value of a
share option varies with different variables of certain subjective
assumptions. The following assumptions were used to calculate
the fair value of the share options:

Closing price in valuation date HK$23.80
Exercise price HK$23.80
Expected life of option 6.7 years
Annualised validity 36%
Expected dividend yield 1.42%
Risk-free interest rate 0.47%
Exercise multiple 2.1-2.3
Post-vesting exit rate 8%-11%

No share options were granted by the Company during the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. No share options were
exercised for both years.

The Group's estimates of the number of options that are
expected to vest are based on an assessment of all relevant non-
market vesting conditions at the end of each of the reporting
period. During the year ended 31 March 2023, the directors of
the Company, based on the actual financial performance for the
year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: actual financial performance
for the year ended 31 March 2022 and profit forecasts for the
year ending 31 March 2023), consider that options granted with
non-market vesting conditions will not vest as the non-market
vesting conditions for exercising those share options are not
probable to be met. During the year ended 31 March 2023, no
share-based payment expense in respect of share options granted
is recognised (2022: Nil).

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2022/23 HEMRRBIERER AT 2022/238 % HE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE-BASED 35. lERETEZIRUKRHASER

PAYMENTS (Continued) A9 BE X% )

(A) RNATEERESTE @)

R-FE-_TFEMA-_t+=HEH
MBRENRFELER AR
MR EBELAE -HHEBRE
ZRFERERNAERERR
RODERESHNHREMG - B
BEEERETEIERENTRE
AEREMAE -FFEERER

FEBFERTUTER:

A BT E 23.807% 7T
IEE 23.80/%& 7T
BEAR 1 2 B HAF 1R 6.74
FEALHBE 36%
T8 HA AR B aS X 1.42%
fm 5, b I & 0.47%
TEEH 2.1-2.3
FBRREX 8%-11%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-_=F=A=+—HItFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE-BASED 35.

PAYMENTS (continued)

(A) Share option scheme of the Company (Continued)

As at 31 March 2023, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remaining outstanding under the
Scheme is 245,017,600 (2022: 255,785,400), representing 4.50%
(2022: 4.70%) of the shares of the Company.

The following table discloses details of the Company’s share
options held by employees (including directors of the Company)
and movements in such holdings during the years ended 31
March 2023 and 2022:

Lapsed/
cancelled

Transfer

Vestingand  Exercise Number of during the during the
exercisable price per share options year ended year ended

Date of grant period share at1 April 2021 31 March 2022 31 March 2022
#z
et it 3 #z

R-8--% =ZA=+-H C—B-=-f

BRESERUKRDAEE
B9 B 3 ()

(A) A7 BRERS @

RZEZ=F=A=+—H0 "1
BB R B RITE A
%5&&%%@%{ B /4245,017,600
f¥( — & — — 4 : 255,785,400
B%) - A2 R AR 1D BV4.50% (=
T = —4F 1 470%) °

TRIHEE(BEAQAFGESE)

FIRARrERECFBERER

ZE=FRZFF=AH=
T—BLEFERBEEREZE
D

Lapsed/
cancelled Transfer

Number of share during the during the Number of share
options at year ended year ended options at
31 March 2022 31 March 2023 31 March 2023 31 March 2023

HE
“B-=f Bz

B--% =ZA=t+-H <-B-=F R=-F==fF

BRIAR SR mA—-A tEE =ZA=+-8 +-R2 t¥% =ZA=t+-B ZA=t+-A2

RitAH TEER  G6E ZBREZA A¥/3% LEECER BREHE AW/EH LFEEEXR BREHR
HK$
B
Held by directors of the
Company
HAAAEEHRS
23 April 2020 (Note) 23.80 108,000,000 — — 108,000,000 — — 108,000,000
“Z-ZFMAZT=H (Ms2)
Held by eligible Employees
HEEKEERE
23 April 2020 (Note) 2380 152,793,800 (7,250,400) (367,600) 145,175,800 (10,523,800) (700,000) 133,952,000
“E-ZFMAZT=H (Ms2)
Held by consultants
HEREEE
23 April 2020 (Note) 23.80 2,546,000 (304,000) 367,600 2,609,600 (244,000) 700,000 3,065,600
“Z-ZFMAZT=R (MsE)
263,339,800 (7,554,400) — 255,785,400 (10,767,800) — 245,017,600

Weighted average exercise price 23.80 23.80 23.80
MEFHTEE

Exercisable at the end of the year —

ARERTTE
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-=F=A=+—HItFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE-BASED 35.

PAYMENTS (Continued)

(A) Share option scheme of the Company (Continued)

Note: The vesting period of the options is from 23 April 2020 to 31
December 2026, and the options may be exercised on or after 15
October 2023. The exercise of the options will be subject to the
satisfaction of either one of the conditions: (i) the Group's audited
net profits after tax (before share-based payment expenses) and
deduction of net profit after tax attributable to non-controlling
interests for any of the financial years ending on or before 31
March 2023 based on the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group amounts to HK$14 billion or above; or (ii)
if the above condition is not fulfilled, the options may be exercised
if the Group’s audited net profit after tax (before share-based
payment expenses) and deduction of net profit after tax
attributable to non-controlling interests for the financial year
ending 31 March 2023 based on the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group amounts to HK$15 billion or above. The
options will lapse if none of the above conditions is satisfied within
the validity period of the options. Based on the Group's
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2023, the outstanding share options as at 31 March 2023 are
expected to lapse after the end of the reporting period as the
performance condition has not been met.

(B) Share award scheme of the Company

The Company adopted the share award scheme on 27 November
2020 (the “Share Award Scheme"”). Pursuant to the Share Award
Scheme, the board of directors of the Company may from time
to time at its absolute discretion select eligible persons including
the directors, senior management and consultant of any member
of the Group and employee of any member of the Group to
participate in the Share Award Scheme and determine the shares
to be awarded. The Share Award Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a term of 10 years commencing on the adoption
date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZ=—ZE—-_=F=A=+—HItFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE-BASED 35. lERETEZIRUKRHASER
PAYMENTS (Continued) A9 BE X% )

(B) Share award scheme of the Company (Continued) (B) AT RYIR 1 BT El (@)

The board of directors of the Company shall not make any
further award of shares under the Share Award Scheme which
will result in the total nominal value of the aggregate of shares
awarded by the board of directors of the Company under the
scheme exceeding 5% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. For the avoidance of doubt, the awards lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Award Scheme will not
be counted for the purpose of calculating the limit of the scheme.
The maximum number of shares which may be awarded to a
selected participant under the scheme shall not exceed 1% of the
issued share capital of the Company in any 12-month period.

Tricor Trust (Hong Kong) Limited (“Tricor”) was appointed as a
trustee of the Share Award Scheme. Subject to the terms and
conditions of the Share Award Scheme and the fulfilment of all
vesting conditions, the shares awarded held by the trustee on
behalf of a selected participant shall vest in such selected
participant and the trustee shall transfer the shares to such
selected participant.

WAR IR AR 1D BB AT B — PR T
RO EERARAESE
BIEZAE BN G A LEm|
BHERBADBTEDZETRAN
5% A ARARIEZSTEE—
TREZERMD - ARESEM -
METEZAENREmS - BB
2HEERBEEES2HEERDEE
AEERASN BT ST EE
Moo JEE2MEREZAE
BEHReRMNEBE TEBBEAD
AIREMR12ME A BB B #ITIRA
Z1% °

Tricor Trust (Hong Kong) Limited
([Tricor]) B B R X R Bt
EINRFTEA - RN LB T
SRR MR AR ETT I &
BiEMz AXTEFARREES
EESANERBRNOERE T
SZERZERERIFTARBRN
BETEREZEE
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZ=—ZE-—=F=A=+—HItFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE-BASED 35. lERETEZIRUKRHASER

PAYMENTS (continued)

(B) Share award scheme of the Company (Continued)

The trustee did not purchase shares of the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2023. During the year ended 31 March
2022, the trustee purchased 15,784,800 shares of the Company
with aggregate purchase costs (including transaction costs
thereon) of approximately HK$399,357,000 under the Share
Award Scheme from the market as follows:

A B X (@)

(B) &AM D EEEFTE (@)

THEARBEE-_ZT-_==H
T+ HLEFEXEBEBELRAR
AR -BHE—_ZET-__F=F#
=+ —BIEFE X ARE
BHEEGFEETERBEAR
7] 15,784,800/% A% 17+ # B B
BRA(BERBERSKAN) LA
399,357,000/ 7T FIBEWT -

Number of Price per share Aggregate
ordinary shares BRE® purchase
of HK$0.01 Highest Lowest costs

EREE
0.01%& T2 |- §=F3%N
Month of purchase B E A ZHERBE 58] B @t
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
BT BT FHET
April 2021 —ZET-—FA 3,000,000 32.20 31.80 96,289
June 2021 —E-—F5A 2,040,800 24.25 23.85 49,174
July 2021 —E2-—%F+A 8,101,000 24.55 23.15 191,723
August 2021 —E-—F)N\A 2,643,000 23.65 22.85 62,171
15,784,800 399,357
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE T -_=F=A=+—HILFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE-BASED 35. lERETEZIRUKRHASER
PAYMENTS (Continued) A9 BE X% )

(B) Share award scheme of the Company (Continued) (B) AT RYIR 1 BT El (@)

On 8 October 2021, China Gas Capital Management Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the total
return swap transaction (the “TRS Transaction”) with Nomura
Singapore Limited (the “TRS Counterparty”) in order to hedge its
exposure to future share price appreciation in connection with
the Share Award Scheme. Please refer to the Announcement of
the Company dated 8 October 2021 for details. In connection
with the termination of the TRS Transaction, any shares acquired
by the TRS Counterparty may be sold to the trustee. As informed
by TRS Counterparty, during the year ended 31 March 2022, the
TRS Counterparty purchased 37,000,000 shares aggregate
purchase costs (including transaction costs thereon) of
approximately HK$685,763,000 as follows:

RZZFEZ—F+HANB - KXAA
ME2ENBRARTBRMRRERE
# A& R A 7 B Nomura Singapore
Limited ([#2 HAZX 5 ¥ F 1) 5] 2 48
EHREBAZZ((HEHRF]) B
EE AR HD ZE BT SR
RIREAHENRR - 515720
AR BYA_ZT-_—%1+A
/\EIZ“:‘ZF’?JM%JJ:TﬁEIHEZ%ﬁﬁ
R SHEFRGMETED
EMBEENRG - BIEHR S Y
FEM RBEE_T__F=A
=ST-HALFE #HRXSHF
f% 37,000,000 & 15 2 B B
KEA(BEEBRZKAE) DR
685,763,000/ LA T ¢

Number of Price per share Aggregate
ordinary shares BRER purchase
of HK$0.01 Highest Lowest costs
BREE

0.018 T2 BERE
Month of purchase & & A 14 ZERKRE & B1K et
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
7 TT BT FAET
October 2021 —E-—F+AH 22,244,200 19.41 18.51 419,413
November 2021 T —Ft+t—A 14,755,800 18.99 17.94 266,350
37,000,000 685,763
On 19 September 2022, a total of 45,000 share awards divided N-E-_—_FhhA+HLH &H#
into three tranches of 15,000 each were granted to a selected 45,0000 Bg 7 B B (& ,7% =#tF

employee. The share awards are subject to certain performance R 15,00010 ) IR FHER S EE -

conditions and have no cash exercise price. The estimated fair BHEBESZERE T 2% I 5
value of share awards granted on 19 September 2022 amounted AitEReTEE R_T - —
to HK$513,000, which is based on the market price of the FAATHLBEEWNAR D EZE G
relevant shares at the grant date. A F B A&513,0008 0 TH iR
BHRBERMREL B BT ER

HEH-
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-=F=A=+—HItFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE-BASED 35.
PAYMENTS (Continued)

(B) Share award scheme of the Company (Continued)

The first tranche of 15,000 share awards vested on the grant
date of the share awards. The second and third tranches will vest
on 18 June 2023 and 18 June 2024, respectively. The Group's
estimates of the number of share awards that are expected to
vest are based on an assessment of the performance conditions
at the end of the reporting period. During the year ended 31
March 2023, share-based payment expense in respect of the
share awards granted of HK$345,000 is recognised (2022: Nil).

The movements of the Company’s share awards during the year
are as follows:

Number of share
awards at 1 April

EBRETERURDAER
A9 B8 X2 )

(B) &AM D EEEFTE (@)

B #15,00015 B% 19 22 ) 53 B% 15 22
m?ﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁm% -t &Eﬁ:ﬁt
BoRR —_E-_=F,A+/\H
F_Z-_MEA+N\BEEB-
AEBYHEHEEBENEER KD
HFEEHOET HERRE BE
RENRBHROETIH - BEZE
—ZFZRA=+—HBLFE B
BRERGDEBOURDAERD
1 345,000 T E K ER(ZE
ZZFF) e

ARBBORBFRARZEHIOT

Granted during Vested during  Number of share
the year ended the year ended awards at
31 March 2023 31 March 2023 31 March 2023

BE-S-=F  RoFC=R

=A=t-B =A=t+-B =A=1-8H
LEEERE LEEEHRE KROZRBHA

Date of grant 2021 and 2022
REAH RZBZ-£K
—E-C
WA -
f 17 32 B 24 B
19 September 2022 “E--_FARTAR =

45,000 (15,000) 30,000

Share awards vested are settled with the existing treasury shares
held by Tricor as the trustee of the Share Award Scheme and are
thus credited to treasury shares reserve. As at 31 March 2023,
the outstanding share awards represent 0.00055% of the shares
of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE T - =F=A=+—HILFE

36. ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL INTEREST IN
SUBSIDIARIES

(A) Acquisition of additional interest in

subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2023

On 24 February 2023, IR ERR AT (“"HIEIRE"), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an acquisition
agreement with the State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of Hohhot (the “Seller”), pursuant to
which ##A#% & has agreed to acquire, and the Seller has agreed
to sell, shares of FEAUERFFRIAITIASR (“FERDESFIR"),
representing in aggregate approximately 32.4% of the total
issued shares of MFRIERFFEL at a cash consideration of
RMB1,695,346,000 (approximately HK$1,937,538,000) (including
transaction costs thereon). MEADE4FARBR was a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company in which it held approximately
64.1% equity interests before the acquisition. Upon completion
of the acquisition on 29 March 2023, the Group holds
approximately 96.5% equity interests in FERIESAE AR, A R4S
Ak and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in gas pipeline
installation, maintenance, gas supply and sales services related to
city gas business. Details of the acquisition are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 6 March 2023.

The acquisition did not involve in a change in control over FEFNE
AR, The difference between the consideration paid and the
carrying amount of the additional interests acquired by the Group
of HK$777,683,000 was debited to equity as capital reserve
during the year ended 31 March 2023.

The Group also entered into sale and purchase agreement with
the respective holders of the remaining equity interests of
subsidiaries in the PRC and Hong Kong for a total consideration
of HK$94,520,000. The difference between the consideration
paid and the carrying amount of the additional interests acquired
by the Group of HK$17,025,000 was debited to equity as capital
reserve during the year ended 31 March 2023.

36. WM B R BEMER

%Eﬁl‘ffgiﬁ

W—E:_E:H:+EH'$
NE BB RARFRKRIEESR
BR A A ([ RIEE ) B0 R0 b
TEHEEEEEERZEE([E
AT WEE B - BUL - R
HEREBEKEMEFRELE
W R0 2 15 FR R 9 T R SR ([ P D S
B iR ) AR 5 - & A TS R
RRE BEITIRMD R EL32.4%
He R E B ARKE1,695,346,000
7t ( #91,937,538,0007% 7T ) (& #&
EHRHRZKA) o /LR
MEXRANREEZENBAR R
U B BT 35 B H641% A HE - X —
Zo_=F=A=-t+hBKETK
% AEEFAEFMERERRD
96.5% f% # o I 0 5 p MR e B
MEBARETEREMMRAES
HENMREBELER  #E RN
RAMtEREERE BREKES
HHFBIRARABHA-Z
—=ZFZARNHZRAE -

W B8 S5 I8 3 A 0 K 9 I A0 A R
MIEGIENEE - HE_ZT =
FZA=+—HILEE E~K
BERASEIKENEINERR
B /) = 58777,683,00078 7T T 1E
BEARFEELAEZR

AEBREFRBREEEWE R A
MBS TRESEZEBANVZE
E % 0 2R (E 594,520,0007%
TeBE_E-_=#=f=+—
AILEFE BENRERAEEFR
WEHMEINEREAEN R
17,025,000/ LI {E B E A B
B AER -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-ZE-_=%=F=+—HIFEZ

36. ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL INTEREST IN 36. UkB& KB 2 5] 58 I 55
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(B) Acquisition of additional interest in

subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2022

On 9 March 2022, the Company and Mr. Liu Ming Hui (Chairman
and Managing Director) and Mr. Huang Yong (Executive Director)
(together, the “Sellers”) entered into an acquisition agreement,
pursuant to which the Company agreed to purchase, and the
Sellers agreed to sell, shares of Electronic Business Development
Company Limited (“Electronic Business”), representing in
aggregate 20% of the total issued shares of Electronic Business,
at a cash consideration of HK$3 billion. Electronic Business was a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company in which it held
51% equity interests before the acquisition. Upon completion of
the acquisition on 10 March 2022, the Group holds 71% equity
interests in Electronic Business. Electronic Business and its
subsidiaries (the “Electronic Business Group”) are principally
engaged in providing the sales and services in respect of products
for comprehensive household scenarios, operating online and
offline grid-based private domains, offering smart city integrated
management and delivering low carbon digital-twin technology
services. In addition, the Sellers have granted a put option to the
Company pursuant to which the Sellers agreed to purchase the
sale shares (or a portion thereof) of Electronic Business from the
Company upon occurrence of certain events at a consideration of
HK$3.36 billion in cash (or a portion thereof if the Group does
not exercise the option in respect of 100% of the sale shares).
Details of the acquisition are set out in the Company's
announcement dated 10 March 2022.

The acquisition did not involve in a change in control over
Electronic Business. The difference between the consideration
paid and the carrying amount of the additional interests acquired
by the Group of HK$2,816,726,000 was debited to equity as
capital reserve during the year ended 31 March 2022.

The Group also entered into sale and purchase agreements with
the respective holders of the remaining equity interests of certain
subsidiaries in the PRC for a total consideration of
HK$325,453,000. The difference between the consideration paid
and the carrying amount of the additional interests acquired by
the Group of HK$4,540,000 was credited to equity as capital
reserve during the year ended 31 March 2022.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

BT _—HF=-A=+—HItFE

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 37. IWEEKI B 2 |]
(A) Acquisition of business through acquisition A REBZE-_E-_=€=8=
of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March T—HLEFEEBWREKH
2023 NG S

The Group had the following acquisition of business through
acquisition of subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2023:

(i) The Group acquired 100% equity interest of & i 2= B A
BAMRAR (BEFZER") at a cash consideration of
RMB7,500,000 (approximately HK$8,571,000) in April
2022. JEFM#EH is principally engaged in sales of natural
gas and gas pipeline construction business. The directors of
the Company consider that the acquisition will bring about
a further synergy effect of the existing business of the
Group.

Included in the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March
2023 was a loss of HK$1,482,000 attributable to the
acquisition of JBEEIZEHR. Revenue of JBEIZES included in
the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2023
amounted to HK$7,123,000.

(i) The Group acquired 100% equity interest of &R PAEETR
BRAT (M2RFLR") (formerly known as J2REE B ZEE
APMR/AR]) at a cash consideration of RMB12,864,000
(approximately HK$14,703,000) in October 2022. ;&R
#& is principally engaged in sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction business. The directors of the
Company consider that the acquisition will bring about a
further synergy effect of the existing business of the Group.

Included in the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March
2023 was a loss of HK$5,575,000 attributable to the
acquisition of J2JR#R. Revenue of J2JRA#Rincluded in
the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2023
amounted to HK$19,016,000.
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W SR
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZ=—ZE-—=F=A=+—HItFE

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(A) Acquisition of business through acquisition
of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2023 (Continued)

The above transactions have been accounted for as acquisition of
business using the acquisition method. The directors of the
Company consider that each of the above acquisitions is not
individually material considering the amount of consideration
transferred, fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed
and goodwill arising thereon. As such, information about the
acquisitions has been disclosed in aggregate below:

Consideration transferred

37. BB B 2 A ()

A RBE-Z_-_=F=

H:
+—BIEFEEBWEHK

EPNGIILEE S 30 )

2B TRBUEEEIERER
WEAR ARAEERR &
BEFMEZERNRESE KB
MEENMAENAENATE
MRmEEENEE - EFIA
WiEER X NBEKX - AL A
BZEFRENENCE TXTHE
TTIEARTE

CEEAE

HK$'000
TAT

Cash consideration BEeERE

23,274

Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed
at the respective dates of acquisition recognised by

REBRBEREWKE B BRI
ZHIRBEERFIAESR

the Group: BZ2AFE:
HK$'000
F#& T
Property, plant and equipment M- WERRE 36,229
Right-of-use assets EREEE 4
Intangible assets BEEE 9,457
Inventories FE 3,981
Trade and other receivables B 5 FEWR T K H th fE AR 1R 18,454
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEFEEE 4,728
Trade and other payables B S EMRIE R E M ERRIE (48,948)
Contract liabilities aHAEE (1,013)
Deferred tax liabilities BEHBARE (2,364)
20,528
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &
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37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 37. WEEFY R A =] i)
(A) Acquisition of business through acquisition A RBE-_ZE-_=F=A8H=

of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March

H:
+—BILEFEEBWEHK

2023 (Continued) EPNGIILE S 30 )
Goodwill arising on acquisition KEMEEZEE
HK$'000
FBT
Consideration transferred EEZERE 23,274
Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired B BRBAHAFEEZAFE (20,528)
Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries WHEIB AR 28 2,746

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of JEFIZEE and 2R
#R was attributed to the anticipated profitability of its sales of
natural gas and gas pipeline construction business and a further
synergy effect of the existing business of the Group.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition was expected to
be deductible for tax purposes.

Net cash inflow arising on acquisition

R B mEE 2 RP IR E
EZBEBETERERAREER
MREBEREBZEBARMEE
NARBAEBERBEEBEEKE
% 1% [ R FE ©

BHMYEANZBARBEMELEZA
BB BIA

HAWEmMELE Z2RERA
FH

HK$'000

FHET

Cash and cash equivalents acquired RekREFMBHIEAR 4,728
Cash consideration ReERE (23,274)
Deposit paid BEffiEe 23,274
4,728
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE_—_ZE-_=F=FA=+—HIFE

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(B) Acquisition of business through acquisition
of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2022

The Group had the following acquisition of business through
acquisition of subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2022:

(i) In June 2020, a subsidiary of the Company entered into an
acquisition agreement with an independent third party,
pursuant to which the Group acquired 80% equity interest
of EEFHMARERAR ("#EEFHE") at a cash
consideration of RMB32,000,000 (approximately
HK$38,095,000). The acquisition was completed in April
2021, and the control in #@HE was passed to the
Group. #EEAH)H is principally engaged in sales of natural
gas and gas pipeline construction business. The directors of
the Company consider that the acquisition will bring about
a further synergy effect of the existing business of the
Group.

Included in the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March
2022 was a loss of HK$4,804,000 attributable to the
acquisition of #E@AJE. Revenue of #@H)H included in
the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2022
amounted to HK$29,844,000.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(B) Acquisition of business through acquisition
of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2022 (Continued)

(ii)

In December 2020, a subsidiary of the Company entered
into an acquisition agreement with an independent third
party, pursuant to which the Group acquired 100% equity
interest of ERNFRREIARER AT ("EHFHEE") at a
cash consideration of RMB81,000,000 (approximately
HK$96,429,000). The acquisition was completed in April
2021, and the control in #BIEREE was passed to the
Group. BBy EARAE is principally engaged in sales of
natural gas and gas pipeline construction business. The
directors of the Company consider that the acquisition will
bring about a further synergy effect of the existing business
of the Group.

Included in the Group's profit for the year ended 31 March
2022 was a loss of HK$687,000 attributable to the
acquisition of BB 8% 3% fE. Revenue of EBI &4k included
in the Group's revenue for the year ended 31 March 2022
amounted to HK$18,192,000.

BT _—HF=-A=+—HItFE

37. BB B 2 A ()

B) REBE=-ZZE-_F=ZH=
+—HLEFEEBREN

JERNCIN - ES 3
(i) MRZE-_FTF+_AH =K
NER KB AR HE—

SN = AR
Bt REENE KB
A E #81,000,0007T ( #)
96,429,000 7t ) W fE BB
HZEREMRRBR QA (B
WG R 2 B0 o IR
BERN T -_—FmW AT
B - BB SRR E 2R HIREE
EEERER - B GRRE
FERERATBEE LK
REBEBRRES -AAFE
ERBUESTEITALRSE
EREEBTRELZHA
WA o

HAREBHEE_T =
FZA=Z+—HBLEFEHN
m A B UK B BBk B R B
fE {5 /&5 18687,00078 T °
AREEEE-_Z =
FZA=+—BLEFERK
AR BRIk B R B WA B
18,192,000 7T ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZ=—ZE-—=F=A=+—HItFE

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 37. WEEF B A 3] (@)

(B) Acquisition of business through acquisition
of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2022 (Continued)

(i) In April 2021, a subsidiary of the Company entered into an
acquisition agreement with an independent third party,
pursuant to which the Group acquired 100% equity
interest of HIETAER(ICAARDA ("EHIEZE") at a
cash consideration of RMB23,959,000 (approximately
HK$29,579,000). The acquisition was completed in June
2021, and the control in #8778 was passed to the
Group. HFIEZR3E is principally engaged in sales and
transportation of LPG business. The directors of the
Company consider that the acquisition will bring about a
further synergy effect of the existing business of the Group.

Included in the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March
2022 was a loss of HK$1,604,000 attributable to the
acquisition of #FIBZ23&. Revenue of HIRZZE included in
the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2022
amounted to HK$13,171,000.
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B) REBE=-ZZE-_F=ZH=
+—HLEFEEBREN
EPNGIILEE S 30 )

(iii)

R-ZTE-—FMNA  KQH
R BB AR B —F B E
=HERIM B E - Bt
AEEBUNRERBEARE
23,959,000 7T (4929,579,000
S TT) W R T R E R (L
REBRAAR(HERE])
EHBRE - KBER 2T =
—FRNARK HEBEEY
THEDEBEEAE®
BErBEXTEREHERE
BREEARER - XD T
EERABUBEBSEHEATAR
EERBEKERESH
] 4K FE o

AAREBREHEE-_T -
FZA=T—HLEEFEE®D
m K A Uk BE R R B R
&5 181,604,000 7T ° 5+ A
AEFBHE-_Z-_—_F=
A=+—HIEFEKAK
S4B R 3B A A 13,171,000
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=

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(B) Acquisition of business through acquisition
of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2022 (Continued)

(iv)

In January 2020, a subsidiary of the Company entered into
an acquisition agreement with an independent third party,
pursuant to which the Group acquired 51% equity interest
of ESEPMAAREERAT ("EHFM") at a cash
consideration of RMB74,833,000 (approximately
HK$92,386,000). The acquisition was completed in April
2021, and the control in FE&H#X was passed to the
Group. & is principally engaged in sales of natural
gas and provision of heating and related construction
business. The directors of the Company consider that the
acquisition will bring about a further synergy effect of the
existing business of the Group.

Included in the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March
2022 was a loss of HK$20,194,000 attributable to the
acquisition of &F & A, Revenue of FEF A included in
the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2022
amounted to HK$112,760,000.

BT _—HF=-A=+—HItFE

37. BB B 2 A ()

B) REBE=-ZZE-_F=ZH=
+—HLEFEEBREN

JERNCIN - ES 3
vy, RZE-_ZTF—FH XQA

R BB AR B —F B E
=HERIM B E - Bt
AEEBUNRERBEARE
74,833,000 7T (4992,386,000
BT WREE B ARAE A 2
BEERARAISEHRMK]
S51% i - WEE N =T =
—FOARK B8R
ESREEBEEAEE-F
EFREERERAZH
ERREHIERERZR
¥ -ARREEZRHWE
EEHAAAEBEREER
TSR % 15 B AKE o

AAREBREHEE-_T -
FZA=T—HLEEFEE®D
wmAH BRKEBSTSESHRE
15 /&5 20,194,000 T °
FARERHEE-_ZT -
FZA=Z+—HLFEHN
WARNSESFREAB
112,760,000 7T °
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZ=—ZE-—=F=A=+—HItFE

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 37. WEEF B A 3] (@)

(B) Acquisition of business through acquisition
of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2022 (Continued)

(v)  InJanuary 2020, a subsidiary of the Company entered into
an acquisition agreement with an independent third party,
pursuant to which the Group acquired 100% equity
interest of JE R REZFAERICEBR AT ("It RREE")
at a cash consideration of RMB4,600,000 (approximately
HK$5,679,000). The acquisition was completed in April

ey

2021, and the control in bR EEwas passed to the
Group. dbFRFEZEE is principally engaged in sales of
natural gas and gas pipeline construction business. The
directors of the Company consider that the acquisition will
bring about a further synergy effect of the existing business

of the Group.

Included in the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March
2022 was a loss of HK$3,220,000 attributable to the
acquisition ofdb LR F = . Revenue of bR R EZEincluded
in the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2022

amounted to HK$911,000.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(B) Acquisition of business through acquisition
of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2022 (Continued)

(vi)

In April 2021, a subsidiary of the Company entered into an
acquisition agreement with an independent third party,
pursuant to which the Group acquired 80% equity interest
of ERHPMELRERAT (WEZXFI") at a cash
consideration of RMB22,400,000 (approximately
HK$27,654,000). The acquisition was completed in
December 2021, and the control in JEZH A was passed
to the Group. #EZ## is principally engaged in engaged
in sales of LPG business. The directors of the Company
consider that the acquisition will bring about a further
synergy effect of the existing business of the Group.

Included in the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March
2022 was a loss of HK$270,000 attributable to the
acquisition of JEZH A, Revenue of JEZH A included in
the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2022
amounted to HK$11,592,000.

BT _—HF=-A=+—HItFE

37. BB B 2 A ()
B) REBE=-ZZE-_F=ZH=

_1__
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EPNGIILE S 30 )

(vi)

R-ZTE-—FMNA  KQH
R BB AR B —F B E
=HERIM B E - Bt
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FZA=+—"BLFEHN
st F) A U BB & A MR TE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-=F=A=+—HItFE

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(B) Acquisition of business through acquisition
of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2022 (Continued)

(vii) In January 2021, a subsidiary of the Company entered into
an acquisition agreement with an independent third party,
pursuant to which the Group acquired 51% equity interest
of METELHZMARBERAT ("HM5EF") at a cash
consideration of RMB117,000,000 (approximately
HK$144,444,000). The acquisition was completed in
December 2021, and the control in 42f54 %= was passed
to the Group. #8F5% Zx is principally engaged in sales of
natural gas and gas pipeline construction business. The
directors of the Company consider that the acquisition will
bring about a further synergy effect of the existing business
of the Group.

Included in the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March
2022 was a profit of HK$8,843,000 attributable to the
acquisition of #3f5& 2Z=. Revenue of #2f5& 2 included in
the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2022
amounted to HK$140,241,000.

The above transactions have been accounted for as acquisition of
business using the acquisition method. The directors of the
Company consider that each of the above acquisitions is not
individually material considering the amount of consideration
transferred, fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed
and goodwill arising thereon. As such, information about the
acquisitions has been disclosed in aggregate below:

37. BB B 2 A ()
B) REBEZE=-ZE=-_=—F=A=

+—HLEFEEBREN
EPNGIILEE S 30 )

Vi) R—E=-_—F—F AR
AMWE QR E—FB
VA=t i VA
Bt REENE KB
A K #117,000,000 7T ( %)
144,444,0007% 70) Y & 43 B5
%J\X%ﬁﬁﬁﬁf‘ﬁ(ﬂﬁ
& F1)51% M 1 - Ur BB
75/\ T-—F+-H%
K BB EREHERER
EAREE BB EFEEHR
ERARBEERRREE
KWEEEAAAEBIES
EBEREZ HFRIBE -

FAREEREHE-ZT ==
FZA=T—HLEEFEE®
wm A ABKESRG S RE
15 % 78,843,000/ It °
FARERHEE-_ZT -
FZAZ+T—HLEEFEE
WARNBEEERAB
140,241,000 JT °

LR B TR B AR ER
WBEAKR - RRREERR Z
BEFEZNRESE KB
MEENMAENRAENATFE
AkmEEENEE  LAEA
WiEERp X NEBEKX - AL A
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Consideration transferred EEERE
HK$'000
FET
Cash consideration HeERE 434,266
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZ=—ZE—-_=F=A=+—HItFE

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 37. WEEFY R A =] i)

(B) Acquisition of business through acquisition B) RBEE-—_ZE_-_—_HF=2=
of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March T—BLEFEEBWKREK
2022 (Continued) EPNGIILE S 30 )

Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed AEBERBEEKE R BRI
at the respective dates of acquisition recognised by ZFIWBEERARES
the Group: BZ2AFE:
HK$'000
FAT
Property, plant and equipment Y BB M 369,548
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 31,981
Intangible assets B EE 267,131
Inventories FE 20,060
Trade and other receivables B 5 AR TE & H th fE AR TR 67,062
Contract assets AREE 10,473
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEEEHEEE 61,776
Trade and other payables E 5 IRIE R H A JE T BR1E (171,061)
Contract liabilities AHBaE (14,068)
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIBAE (66,783)
576,119
Goodwill arising on acquisition WEEMEL 2HE
HK$'000
FABT
Consideration transferred EEZERE 434,266
Add: Non-controlling interests N SRR R 211,103
Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired B BRI EHRFEECATE (576,119)
Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries WENB AR ZEHE 69,250
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZ=—ZE-—=F=A=+—HItFE

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(B) Acquisition of business through acquisition

37. BB B 2 A ()
B) REBE=-ZZE-_F=ZH=

of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2022 (Continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisition (Continued)

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of #&@) AR, FPi E2 iR,
HEHRK, ERREE and 4&2FB4E&%FE was attributed to the
anticipated profitability of its sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
construction business and a further synergy effect of the existing
business of the Group. The goodwill arising on the acquisition of
FIETE and EZHBR was attributed to the anticipated
profitability of its sales of LPG business and a further synergy
effect of the existing business of the Group.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition was expected to
be deductible for tax purposes.

Non-controlling interests

The non-controlling interests in #E@HE, TSR, HELHR
and #[5&Z recognised at the respective dates of the
acquisition were measured by reference to the respective
proportionate shares of recognised amounts of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries and amounted to HK$211,103,000 in
aggregate.

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition

+—HLEFEEBREN
EPNGIILEE S 30 )

HWEmELE 2B E @

g Em s B HERE
EERR tRREERKES
EMELEZABNERERAR
HEMMREBEREB 2EB
BANENURBAEERE XD
R E % 15 R RE o B SR
RENREZPMRMELEZEET
EREREOHRFEEXEHZHE
HBEMENUESAEERE X
5 R E 2 1 R ARE -

BERYENZRAKENEEZD
B A HIBBA

FERERS

REBRAERZEGTH -5
R SRR RGBS S R IEE
R E2ZRERBRRFE
ENSHBEEERASHELLHFE
4 £ 45211,103,00078 7T ©

BT EE 2R e R
5

HK$'000

FET

Cash and cash equivalents acquired FrE sl RREEEEE 61,776

Cash consideration HERE (434,266)

Deposit paid BEffiE® 141,579
Unsettled consideration (included in trade and other RKEEREBEGIAESENEEREK

payables) H b ETRRIR) 73,501

(157,410)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(Q

(D)

Acquisition of assets through acquisition of
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2023

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group acquired
certain subsidiaries at an aggregate consideration of
RMB26,986,000 (approximately HK$30,841,000, of which
HK$30,350,000 was paid as deposit as at 31 March 2022) which
are treated as acquisition of assets, comprising intangible assets
and cash and cash equivalents amounting to HK$29,635,000 and
HK$1,206,000 at acquisition date.

Acquisition of assets through acquisition of
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2022

In June 2021, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in Lofty
Intellect Limited and Nova Gas Limited (the “Nova Group”) which
holds 49% equity interest in It REHEL S M AFAEAR AR (4t
WIER") at a total cash consideration of RMB483,660,000
(approximately HK$580,566,000). 1t R #E)H is engaged in the
natural gas and gas pipeline construction business.

BT _—HF=-A=+—HItFE

37. BB B 2 A ()

(D)

REBE-_ZE-_=F#=/8=
T+ —HILEFEFEEBIWEK
BArRWEBEE

BIEFE  AEELAREBAR
& 26,986,000 7T ( #730,841,000 /5
JC © E #30,350,000/8 7t £ 1E &
BReEN—_E-_—_F#=A=+—8H
THKREETHWELR BB
WREEEWEERBEEE 21
R UYHE B B3 5 Bl A 29,635,000%
7T 5% 1,206,000 7% 7T H) 2 & 2= LA
FRENRLEFEEE -

RBE-ZZE-_—_£=/8=
+—BLEFEEBREKH
BARWBEE

RZZTBEZ—FRA AEENE
] 4 R E A R #483,660,0007T
(49580,566,000/8 ) W =B E
RARk#ERLMRRERAR(#
REBDE2BBRE -HREER
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%

Consideration transferred CHEENRE
HK$'000
BT
Cash consideration BeRE 580,566
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZ=—ZE-—=F=A=+—HItFE

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(D) Acquisition of assets through acquisition of
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March

2022 (Continued)

37. BB B 2 A ()

D) RBEZE-ZE_-__H=AHA
+—BHLEFEEZEBKE
B A e W iEEE @

Ff

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date AEERWBRER ZAA

of acquisition recognised by the Group:

WBEEERMAERR:

HK$'000

TE T

Interest in associate REE AR 2w 578,126
Bank balances and cash RITHETFE AR 47,184
Trade and other payables B 5 e IR IR K H 4th FE < AR IR (44,744)
580,566

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition

AWBEmMEE 2RERD

HEE

HK$'000
FET
Bank balances and cash acquired i 2 IRTTHEFERRE S 47,184
Cash consideration BHeRE (580,566)

Unsettled consideration (included in trade and other AEEREBGIAEZEMERER
payables) H A ETBRTE) 201,525
(331,857)

The acquisition was completed with significant influence
exercised in 465 ZEH in June 2021. During the year ended 31
March 2022, Nova Group and JtFZEH contributed to the
Group's revenue and profit of HK$nil and HK$55,527,000

respectively.

WERRN T - —F AT
WHIL RERTFEERTLE S -
BE_ET-_—_F#=A=+—HI1t
FE - #BAREERIEREHRAAR
SEHNRARENERTAE TR
55,527,0007%; JT, ©
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39.

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZ=—ZE—-_=F=A=+—HItFE

38. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 38. EXEfEE
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will AREBEBHEAER  UERANEEE
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to TEREIAHEENFTESEREEK
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. Z RIEEBELERKRRAF&EE
The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year. RKEEREBIH 5§ FF##E KREBEZE
BERBEFITE -
The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which include AREBZEARAEBAEEK (AR
amounts due to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries, lease liabilities o A KTEE29 « 30 313X EE 2 FE B
and bank and other borrowings disclosed in notes 29, 30 and 31 BAradEERiEmRIE HEABEU
respectively, and equity attributable to owners of the Company, RIBTREMES) RARGHEE A
comprising issued share capital disclosed in note 32, reserves and FEEEm(ANEREEZEEHTR
accumulated profits as disclosed in the consolidated statement of KURGEESEHRPEZHER
changes in equity. 25 FIAERK) ©
The management reviews the capital structure by considering the cost EEEBEREZEAKAREZE]R
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on BEREEZRABRTENGEHE - ER
recommendations of the management, the Group will balance its EEEBEZ AEBRBEBIRMAKR
overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share B BIHREBRTHANELORSAS
issues as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing & 765 T H B BE A AN 4B o
debt.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 30. T B
Categories of financial instruments SRTEER
2023 2022
—EZ=fF —EF-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Financial assets TREE
Equity instruments at FVTOCI EAFEFAEMEEEAZ
BRATA 922,498 738,064
Held-for-trading investments BIEEERE 104,536 104,638
Amortised cost B8 Ak K 25,536,526 24,050,139
Financial liabilities EEMEE
Amortised cost RIS IN 79,646,066 77,187,665
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE—ZT-—=F=A=+—HItFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity instruments at
FVTOCI, held-for-trading investments, trade and other receivables,
pledged bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents, amounts due from
associates and joint ventures, trade and other payables, amounts due to
associates and joint ventures, amounts due from/to non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries and bank and other borrowings. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risks
Currency risk

The Group collects most of its revenue in RMB and most of the
expenditures as well as capital expenditures are also denominated in
RMB. However, the Group has certain bank balances and bank and
other borrowings that are not denominated in functional currency of
the respective group entities. The appreciation or devaluation of RMB
against foreign currencies may have positive or negative impact on the
results of operations of the Group.

39.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZ=—ZE—-_=F=A=+—HItFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. £/t T B @)
Financial risk management objectives and MERREEBEEREE @
policies (Continued)
Market risks (Continued) ™% & ke @)
Currency risk (Continued) B (8
As at end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of the Group's RNEpEER KREBUIINEABEZ
material monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign TENEENBEBEZEEENOT

currency are as follows:

Assets Liabilities
BE afE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E2-= —_E-_— —_EgE2-= ==
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET TERT FET
usb ETT 437,516 102,681 - 390,000
HK$ BT 87,868 364,780 498,542 1,175,292
JPY H - = 359,783 410,445
Intra-group balances EERATBEER
Assets Liabilities
BE afE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E2-= —_E-— —E2-= -
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET TERT FET
usb ETT - — 7,671,326 6,082,462
HK$ & T - — 6,842,440 6,724,357
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risks (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 10% (2022: 5%)
and 5% (2022: 5%) increase and decrease in the functional currency of
the relevant group entity against USD or HK$ and JPY respectively. The
respective percentages are the sensitivity rates used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and
represent management'’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the end of the reporting period for a 10% (2022: 5%)
and 5% (2022: 5%) change in foreign currency rates of USD or HK$
and JPY, respectively. A positive number below indicates an increase in
post-tax profit where the USD, HK$ and JPY weakens against the
functional currency of the relevant group entity. For a 10% (2022: 5%)
and 5% (2022: 5%) strengthening of USD or HK$ and JPY respectively
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the result for the year
and the balances below would be negative.

39. €/t T B @)

HEEEEEREREE @)

™ 5 & ke (@)
B R B (%)

BRED N
TRAMAEBREEAEREZRNY
EEESREETSK BT R AEBEAE
REEI0%(ZZE = —F :5%) k5%
(ZCE - F 5% Z2HRERE- &7
DLHARATEEEAS N2 HINE
ERAAZHBEELER TREREE
EBaiNiE RSB e E BT 27
fly o BURIE D AT E B IEEITEINZ I
BAESEEEE  YMETIB TR
HEIIEEEZESF10%(ZFE ==
5%) B5% (=& = =4 :5%) v &
RREPARAABEBE - TRAIRZ
EHEHMWERL B kBB EH
EEEENIREEERE BEER
FlermamEgme wWETHKBTRAE
DRFAEIN(ZF = —F:5%) &
5% (ZEBE - —F:5%) B BHFEE
¥EBAERERMZEE BT
EHEBAaR-

Decrease in post-tax profit

for the year
FERBBRFRD
2023 2022
—_EgE-= —_=F_

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
USD impact ETHE 542,536 238,867
HK$ impact B & 543,984 282,557
JPY impact =NERA 13,492 15,392

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of
the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the year.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE_—_TE-=F=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risks (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group manages its interest rate exposure based on interest rate
level as well as potential impact on the Group'’s financial position arising
from volatility.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk mainly in relation to
amounts due from associates and joint ventures, lease liabilities and
fixed-rate bank and other borrowings (see notes 26, 30 and 31 for
details of these balances respectively).

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk mainly in
relation to variable-rate bank balances and floating-rate bank and other
borrowings (see notes 28 and 31 for details of bank balances and
borrowings respectively). It is the Group's policy to keep its borrowings
at floating rate of interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate
risk.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure to
interest rate risk for both floating-rate bank and other borrowings,
together with the interest capitalised to construction in progress at the
end of the reporting period. Floating-rate bank balances have not been
included in the sensitivity analysis as the management considers that
the interest rate would not fluctuate significantly in the near future and
therefore the financial impact to the Group is not significant. A change
of 100 basis points (2022: 100 basis points) was applied to the yield
curves and interest rate on both floating-rate bank and other
borrowings, together with the interest capitalised to construction in
progress. The applied change is used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates. If the
interest rate of floating-rate bank and other borrowings had been 100
basis points (2022: 100 basis points) higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, after taking into account the interest capitalised to
construction in progress, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year, after
taking amount of interest capitalised to construction in progress, would
decrease/increase by HK$339,081,000 (2022: HK$326,486,000).

30. €@ T H )

HEEEEEBEREE @)

m iﬁﬂm (#&)
M 2 3 B

AR EARRFI KK KRR IE S A K E
MBRAA B2 BERBEERLR
2@ o

AEEERETZHBRBERARTRE
BERrpE HEEBEUREBRT
& E At ﬁ%(ﬁ%ﬁ;ﬁ?%ﬁﬁ%ZiF"
A R M sE2630K31) BBz AFE
ﬂrﬂﬁuu °

AEBAEREIES MZEBRITET
RZEBRTREMEBRGETERTER
BEEFHFEBES AR E28R31) 2R %
MEFMEER ANEEZBETDFER
BELNFHFERGFE  ZEREQF

(R
BRBREDMN
FREOM R FBRITREME
EzMXRER ERXNBESHREE

REZRIREAEZANEETE - AR
EEBRAERAURERIETE XIE
HE HAEENMBEEETIK
W T BRITETTARBMED T
P BERMZFEBRITEREMEE 2 WS
HMEKHERCGERBEAERIRZER
{2z FBE)FEAI00EHEL(—T — —
F o 100fEEE) BE BB - EAmI
DEBAENBERFNEZARETSF
FA @R & ¢t“§b1ﬁ'«%§f§;ﬁu
Ry ABAIRe &8 2 5T - M7 B4R
ﬁ&ﬁﬁﬂ%i‘fZ%IJ%tﬂ/Tﬁ%oo
AEZS(ZE-—F:100@E %)
ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ@“%{fﬁhT“ KRB
BERraEgIREANZFER AR
EEFEBRBMBRANR RE &
RERTIREALZFBBERD,
# $1339,081,00058 o ( — T — — 4F:
326,486,000 7T) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE—ZT-—=F=A=+—HItFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risks (Continued)
Equity price risk

The Group's certain equity instruments at FVTOCI and held-for-trading
investments are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting
period. Therefore, the Group is exposed to equity price risk. The
management manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risk profiles.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risks of listed equity instrument at the reporting
date. A 10% (2022: 10%) change is used when reporting equity price
risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in equity
price.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, if the market bid prices of the listed
investments had been 10% (2022: 10%) higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year
would increase/decrease by HK$8,729,000 (2022: HK$8,737,000) and
the Group’s investment revaluation reserve will increase/decrease by
HK$51,737,000 (2022: HK$13,577,000) respectively. This is mainly
attributable to the changes in fair values of the listed held-for-trading
investments and equity instruments at FVTOCI respectively.
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A% A (B & &

AEBZETRAFEFARMCEZE
WAZBATARFEEEREZR
BRERRZAFEAE Bt X%
BAAZBEANERRAR -BEEEC#H
HIARREEZREHEHANEEIL
73 E Z B e

BRED N
TXZHBEEDWMIIBRBELEWRAT
BERBEBHBEAT ZRABRRR
MET REETEEEABEABLER
BREAEXRRRFEEFEMA10%(ZE=Z
F:10%) ARHEMN HARREEE
HRAEWR AR e EE) 2 51 o
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties default on
their contractual obligations resulting in financial losses to the Group.
The Group's credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to trade
receivables, contract assets, other receivables and deposits, amounts
due from non-controlling interests of subsidiaries, amounts due from
associates and joint ventures, pledged bank deposits and bank balances.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to
cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets and financial
guarantee contracts.

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts
with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model on trade receivables
based on provision matrix and contract assets based on collective
assessment.

Deposits and other receivables and amounts due from non-
controlling interests of subsidiaries

The Group has taken into account the economic outlook of the
industries in which the counterparties operate, and concluded that
there has been no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. The ECL on deposits and other receivables and amounts
due from non-controlling interests of subsidiaries are assessed based on
12m ECL and are considered to be insignificant.

39. €/t T B @)

B RS R be E I B A R IBUK (&)

1= 8 B B2 KR B 7 (d

FEERREASENXZHETEN
BERAEEEIVHERENER - K
SENEERRIEXRBEHEK
RE -AMEE HMBRKREALR
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R ERRARAERARRE EX
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B AR m S B A (5 R IE AR IS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZ=—ZE-—=F=A=+—HItFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Amounts due from associates and joint ventures

The Group has assessed the financial position of associates and joint
ventures as well as the economic outlook of the industry in which the
associates and joint ventures operate, and concluded that there has
been no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The
ECL on amounts due from associates and joint ventures are assessed
based on 12m ECL and are considered to be insignificant.

Pledged bank deposits and bank balances

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are
reputable banks in the PRC or banks with high credit-ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies and the Group has limited
exposure to any single financial institution.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group performs impairment assessment on
bank balances by reference to the average loss rates for respective
credit rating grades published by international credit-rating agencies
and concluded that the ECL is insignificant.

39.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE=—ZT-_=F=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

For financial guarantee contracts, the aggregate amount of outstanding
financial guarantees issued to banks in respect of bank facilities granted
to and utilised by the Group’s associates and joint ventures that the
Group could be required to pay amounted to HK$7,798,198,000 as at
31 March 2023 (2022: HK$7,118,225,000). The fair value of these
financial guarantees, as at dates of initial recognition, were considered
insignificant. At the end of the reporting period, the management has
performed impairment assessment, and concluded that there has been
no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the
financial guarantee contracts. Accordingly, the loss allowance for
financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group is measured at an
amount equal to 12m ECL. No loss allowance was recognised in the
profit or loss.

As at 31 March 2023, other than the concentration of credit risk of an
amount due from a joint venture of HK$3,619,271,000 (2022:
HK$3,732,176,000), the Group does not have other significant
concentration of credit risk on trade receivables, with exposure spread
over a number of industrial, commercial and household customers. In
order to minimise the credit risk of those receivables, the management
of the Group closely monitors the recoverability of the amount due. In
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

BB T B

HEEEEEBEREE @)

EE R & &R E S @
MEERE S

R BEREAME RZTE_=F
—A=+—H AEFAEEBRZQ
AIRGERRIBEAREE A EFELHN
KE R IT R E T A R AT B A K AR
B 4 1 B 7S PR R 4888 /5 7,798,198,000
Boo(=—F = = 4 :7,118,225,000 &
TL) e A ARRBZZTHERRYE
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE—-ZT—=

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the
following categories:

Internal credit

F=RA=1t—HILFE

39. €/t T B @)

B 75 Bl b B 1R B

Z K BUR (|)

EE R & &R E S @

TRRBIAK :

Trade receivables/

AEBOHABEERR

e A% Bl BF 5 B BA

Other financial assets/

rating Description Contract assets other items
EZEWERE HthemEE
A BRI BT AR it BHEE HfE B
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired
15 2 B2 HFFEAORRE UTEEMEHR FEHEBRREES 2B ABEBEEEE
BB RIA B—YEEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
but usually settle in full not credit-impaired
EREE EHALERIBEMNR BEREE2 HFEAAHEBHEES NREAAEHREEESRE
BEER B—IEEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit risk since initial recognition through not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
information developed internally or external
resources
RAE BERERLE EERAREANINEE HFEHPEEHRAEEE FERHNEHEES
S e SR & TR ER 15 B9 & K hn Bl B—ITEEERE B—YEEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
e BERAEELREERE FESRAPEEES GFENEEHEERS
BE—E2REERE BE—E2EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor ~ Amount is written off Amount is written off
is in severe financial difficulty and the
Group has no realistic prospect of recovery
1 84 EEBRAGHKABARENTBE RIEDHME TRIE B 3

% B A B ERIE R 2R
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE—-ZT—

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's financial
assets, contract assets and financial guarantee contracts, which are

subject to ECL assessment:

39. ﬁr‘ﬂl (&)
B 7% R B E 3R B

AENEREE A

=F=ZA=t—HLHFE

Z K BUR (|)

EE R FKRES G @
TRFARNEEEE

TRBEEER

ReENMEERNEERR

’JEE&EH%%

External Internal
credit credit
Notes rating rating 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
HBEE ABEE
MaE R TR REARFEHNEEHNEEFE IRE#AE
2023 2022
—g=-= —E--
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Financial assets at amortised cost
RBHEAATENEREE
Trade receivables — contracts with customers 25 N/A (Note i)  Lifetime ECL (provision matrix) 7,171,907 6,623,062
BORNEE—EFPEH TER (fizti) HFEDERDEEFRBEER)
Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 99,979 129,265
FEHARBBEEHE(BEERE)
7,271,886 6,752,327
Deposits and other receivables and amounts 25 N/A Low risk ~ 12m ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed individually) 2,202,549 2,077,124
due from non-controlling interests of
subsidiaries
T R % L At W R TR T R M B /B 8 R
FEVE R 2 R TE M Y=Y 2 AEHEEER (Y EEERERERNTME)
Amounts due from associates 26 N/A Low risk ~ 12m ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed individually) 474,088 541,621
JE Bk ' X B FROR T EREE REARBEEEHE(LEGERERERNTR)
Amounts due from joint ventures 26 N/A Low risk ~ 12m ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed individually) 5,959,576 5,501,944
B EERBIFIE TEMA ERR NREABHEESEXEEERERMBANFMG)
Pledged bank deposits 28 Al N/A 12m ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed individually) 178,696 177,968
BEARITER Al TER NEARBREESRUEGCEHNERERNTG)
Bank balances 28  Aa2to N/A 12m ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed individually) 10,438,990 10,010,518
Baa3
RITHER AR2E TEA NEARBREEERRUEGEHNERERNTG)
Baa3
Other items
Hittg B
Contract assets — contracts with customers 24 N/A Low risk  Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed collectively) 6,078,747 11,094,389
EHNEE—BPEN TEMA BRKR FEANBHEEEBUECERERIRFTM)
Watch list  Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed collectively) 5,715,416 5,897,117
ERLE GFRAONBEHEEER(UECERERILRTM)
Doubtful  Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed collectively) 1,601,745 990,189
R FEAHNASHEEHE(WECERERLRTMG)
13,395,908 17,981,695
Financial guarantee contracts (Note ii) 18,19 N/A Low risk  12m ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed individually) 7,798,198 7,118,225
B ERE £ (B i) TER BRER REARREESE(LEEERERMERNTG)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #z & BA TS RR M

203



204

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/T\

B IR R R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE—-ZT—

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes:

@

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in
HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group
determines the ECL on trade receivables grouped by aged analysis of
debtors. When there are indicators that the relevant trade receivables
maybe credit impaired, the relevant amount will be assessed for ECL
individually.

The Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its customers
in relation to its operation because these customers consist of a large
number of customers with common risk characteristics that are
representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in
accordance with the contractual terms. Based on the Group's assessment
of historical credit loss experience of the existing debtors and all available
forward-looking information, including but not limited to the expected
economic conditions in the PRC and expected subsequent settlements, the
Group does not consider that default occurs for those contractual
payments that are more than 90 days past due.

The Group used estimated loss rates based on aging for classes with
different credit risk characteristics and exposures, and the estimated loss
rates are estimated based on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort, for example the
economic growth rates which reflect the expected general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZ=—ZE—-_=F=A=+—HItFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(U]

(ii)

(Continued)

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk
for trade receivables which are assessed on a collective basis by using

provision matrix within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired).

39. € T A um)

BEEMREERZERBE®

FE Rk & E G @

sk« (58)

(i) (&)
TRRHEEABESRKREBEERR

MO ER  ZEREKRBACAFES
MEHEEBE(LEFEEREBE) AH

BB A K88 5 AT o
2023 2022
—E-=F —_F-—
Gross carrying amounts Average Trade Average Trade
(provision matrix) loss rate receivables loss rate receivables
BREAE (REER) FHBER BEZEWERE TR R E 5 EWRE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
0-180 days 0E180H 3.3% 3,341,473 2.7% 2,705,639
181-365 days 181 365H 10.5% 792,279 7.7% 1,305,026
Over 365 days 365 H A £ 22.8% 3,038,155 27.1% 2,612,397
7,171,907 6,623,062
For financial guarantee contracts, the gross carrying amount represents (ii) BB ERAANMS  REAEEANE

the maximum amount the Group has guaranteed under the respective

contracts.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE—ZT-—=F=A=+—HItFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been
recognised for both trade receivables and contract assets under the
simplified approach.

39. €/t T B @)

B S EbE S B A R IBUR (&)

EE R & &R E S @

TRETREBEEICTZEEREZE
WRBERENEENFENBMEMRE

Trade receivables

B EWRE
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

Contract assets

BHEE

(credit- (not credit- (not credit-
impaired) impaired) impaired) Total
FESE FESE FESE
BHHEE HHEE HHEE
&5 BiE(LE EiE (L&
(FEERHE) EERE) EERE) &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TAT FAT FAT
As at 1 April 2021 RZZEZ—FMA—H 118,534 686,161 412,692 1,217,387
Changes due to financial R-ZE-—FWMA—H
instruments recognised as at BReBIANES—
1 April 2021 — Impairment ERERESE
losses reversed — (452,977) (260,409) (713,386)
New financial assets/contract BRZTEREE/
assets originated EHEE 4,717 621,420 584,333 1,210,470
Exchange adjustments [E 5 2 6,014 27,494 106,810 140,318
As at 31 March 2022 R-ZZE-_—F=H=+—8H 129,265 882,098 843,426 1,854,789
Changes due to financial RZE-_Z_FMA—H
instruments recognised as at BREBRIANEH—
1 April 2022 — Impairment EREREBE
losses reversed (37,672) (574,845) (353,585) (966,102)
New financial assets/contract BRIFEREE/
assets originated BHEE 31,351 647,553 255,114 934,018
Write-offs k| (12,627) — —  (12,627)
Exchange adjustments bE i R (10,338) (65,526) (55,744)  (131,608)
As at 31 March 2023 RZE_=F=A=+—H 99,979 889,280 689,211 1,678,470
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE=—ZT-_=F=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. In addition to issuance of new shares, the
Group also relies on bank and other borrowings as a significant source
of liquidity. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis because the directors of the Company believe
that the Group has sufficient funds to finance its current working
capital requirements taking account of the cash flows from operations
and assuming the continuing ability to utilise the available bank
facilities. As at 31 March 2023, the Group had available unutilised bank
facilities of HK$99,672,155,000 (2022: HK$111,293,793,000). Details
of the Group’s bank and other borrowings as at 31 March 2023 are set
out in note 31.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity
for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent
that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived
from the interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.

39. €/t T B @)

B RS R be E I B A R IBUK (&)

MENE £ E R

REBRDESRERE  AEBEE
RERFCEEHEEKERBEERS
FEEEBERARHBNAEEEE
FFERBERSRESZEZKF-
BREITHRIN REETTERBRRTR
HEEERETERDESRIR
HRARRIESHAE ERINLERHN
SRR ERBREHEDRIHER
RITHEZEEN AEBBERZEZESD
NAEBRMEEEST EREES
WA BRRDNIEFELEREE
EE -RN_EBE_=F=A=+-—80"
AEB s RAERSAZBITHRE
/99,672,155,0007%8 o ( = T = — F :
111,293,793,0008 ) - AEBR ==
T ZFEZRA=t+—HZROTREME
B BERMEE3 -

TRALAKSERENETESRHAR
ZHBRTENIRER - BRINKREAR
SEAWEBRLNRZZE AN E
BERBRRERIIR -

RPERMNERASHEESRE - WK
FPMEHE AUBRSREREH
RN KRMARSH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZZT-_=F=-F=1+—HItFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. €@t T A )
Financial risk management objectives and BHEEREEBEZERBER @

policies (Continued)

REE R @

Liquidity risk (Continued)

208

Liquidity tables MENE &K
Carrying
Weighted  Payable on amount
average  demand or Between Between Between Total  attheend
contractual less than 1to 3 months 1to Over undiscounted  of reporting
interest rate 1 month 3 months to 1 year 5years 5years  cashflows period
AEEZR
MEFHY HEIDR -fBAE =A% KEE  REEHR
EEE ki @R =fiA - -5Z1f IENL BEREE REEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TAR TAT TAT
At 31 March 2023 RZE-=£=A=1-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities 3 474 ﬁ BER
Trade and bill payables BHENEARENRE - 11491057 1710989  1,445826 - - 14647872 14647872
Other payables and accruals HitERRERESER - 4,561,270 - - - - 4,561,270 4,561,270
Amounts due to non-controlling ERHBAREERER .
interests of subsidiaries Y] - 197,965 - - - - 197,965 197,965
Bank and other borrowings ROREMES
— fixed rate —E& 3.58 1,343,546 1,400510 7,136,094 5588333 1,460,586 16,929,069 15,963,092
— floating rate —%5 4.57 2,286 9,246 12,643,253 35,972,642 437,974 49,065,401 44,047,709
Amounts due to associates [ERBERE 2 2B - 72,050 - - - - 72,050 72,050
Amounts due to joint ventures EREEA T Z,TAIE - 156,108 - - - - 156,108 156,108
Lease liabilities HEERE 4,64 22,482 44,606 190,782 880,683 478594 1,617,147 1,376,044
17,846,764 3,165,351 21,415,955 42,441,658 2,377,154 87,246,882 81,022,110
Financial guarantee contracts BB ERA X - 7,798,198 - - - - 7,798,198 -
At 31 March 2022 RZZEZZf=A=1-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities {74 £RAE
Trade and bill payables EoRNRERENER — 10,555,737 1,605,958 4,128,375 — — 16,290,070 16,290,070
Other payables and accruals HiERRARESER — 3229187 752,349 335,556 = = 4317092 4,317,092
Amounts due to non-controlling ENNBAREERER
interests of subsidiaries E:) — 311,706 — — — — 311,706 311,706
Bank and other borrowings ROREMEE
— fixed rate ) 4.16 — 1275421 1920352 9,608,017 535,681 13,339,471 12,048,628
— floating rate —28 429 - 3,972,002 15575383 26,700,764 1,877,488 48,125,637 44,080,461
Amounts due to associates ERBEAR 2B = 70,399 = = = = 70,399 70,399
Amounts due to joint ventures ENAERRZIE — 69,309 — — - — 69,309 69,309
Lease liabilities HE&RE 4.64 24,400 48,382 207,027 913469 685,830 1,879,108 1,569,918
14,260,738 7,654,112 22,166,693 37,222,250 3098999 84,402,792 78,757,583
Financial guarantee contracts BREREH = 7,118,225 = = = = 7,118,225 =

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2022/23

FEIRRIERERAT 2022/238 5HE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR ERR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE T - =F=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity tables (Continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are the
maximum amounts the Group could be required to settle under the
arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed
by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations at the end
of the reporting period, the management considers that it is more likely
than not that no amount will be payable under the arrangement.
However, this estimate is subject to change depending on the
probability of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a
function of the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the
counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for floating-rate bank and other
borrowings are subject to change if changes in variable interest rates
differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.

Interest rate benchmark reform

As listed in note 31, several of the Group’s LIBOR/HIBOR bank loans
have been or will be subject to the interest rate benchmark reform. The
Group is closely monitoring the market and managing the transition to
new benchmark interest rates, including announcements made by the
relevant IBOR regulators.

LIBOR

As at 31 March 2023, all LIBOR settings have been either ceased to be
provided by any administrator or no longer be representative, except for
US dollar settings (other than the 1-week and 2-month settings) which
will be ceased immediately after 30 June 2023.

HIBOR

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average (“HONIA") has
been identified as an alternative to HIBOR, there is no plan to
discontinue HIBOR. The multi-rate approach has been adopted in Hong
Kong, whereby HIBOR and HONIA will co-exist. The Group’s bank
borrowings linked to HIBOR will continue till maturity and hence, not
subject to transition.

BB T B

B RS R be E I B A R IBUK (&)

REE R @
MENE &K (B)

NEFAMBEREONEEREAS
BERRYF I HEREAECERRIE
PHRERTELHFTREENNRS S
BM-BREXRGRSHRNEMG EHEE
RREFTRELZHEMRENA KT
Bme A BURRE FHREER
REBFRMAEE(RERTRIEEER
BENHFIAFENERIANA
BEME) - ARt ENE -

e V5 B A R 1) B2 B) B Bl X S BR AR
BEMMBRNE AR EFAZERR
TREBEENSHENSNRE -

FEEERE

MR AEENE THRBIR
TRERE BEBRTRAERBERT
BERERBSXHNF REERE -
Kﬁlﬁﬁﬁw%&m%l = 18 I8 K
EHALEFNENBARE  BREMEBERT

FIEFEEETRBERMHHAL -

RBIRITRIER R

RZEZ=F=ZRA=+—HB ' KEx
HRENBR2EAZRE) I IERHA
RITAEFREXEC THHEMBNT
MERERMHSIAIBAERKRYE EH#E"?%
¥ _E_—FANAZ=ZTHEBEHR

BB RITRFFE

BB LRRFHE B (THONIA]) B #
ﬁEfE%%ﬁfﬁfEﬁﬂ%?ﬁgE’ﬁ*ﬁﬁ
BT EKIERBRTRZREDH
aJr%U FEERAZMETA BAER
TRAZFKERETRERFHEHESL
F-  AEEEFBRITAZFESHN
MIRITERBEEE2NH - AHA
RN BIE LBk
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE_Z_=4=-A=1+—HI[FE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Interest rate benchmark reform (Continued)

0

Risks arising from the interest rate benchmark reform
The followings are the key risks for the Group arising from the
transition:

Interest rate related risks

For contracts which have not been transitioned to the relevant
alternative benchmark rates and without detailed fallback clauses,
if the bilateral negotiations with the Group’s counterparties are
not successfully concluded before the cessation of LIBORs, there
are significant uncertainties with regard to the interest rate that
would apply. This gives rise to additional interest rate risk that
was not anticipated when the contracts were entered into.

There are fundamental differences between IBORs and the
various alternative benchmark rates. IBORs are forward looking
term rates published for a period (e.g. three months) at the
beginning of that period and include an inter-bank credit spread,
whereas alternative benchmark rates are typically risk-free
overnight rates published at the end of the overnight period with
no embedded credit spread. These differences will result in
additional uncertainty regarding floating rate interest payments.

Litigation risk

If no agreement is reached to implement the interest rate
benchmark reform on contracts which have not been transitioned
to the relevant alternative benchmark rates (e.g. arising from
differing interpretation of existing fallback terms), there is a risk
of prolonged disputes with counterparties which could give rise
to additional legal and other costs. The Group is working closely
with all counterparties to avoid this from occurring.

39. €/t T B @)

HEEEEEREREE @)

FZREERE @)

0}
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE_ZT_=6=A=+—HIL5E

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Interest rate benchmark reform (Continued)

(i)

Progress towards implementation of alternative
benchmark interest rates

As part of the Group’s risk management for transition, new
contracts entered into by the Group are linked to the relevant
alternative benchmark rates or interest rates which are not
subject to reform to the extent feasible. Otherwise, the Group
ensured the relevant contracts include detailed fallback clauses
clearly referencing the alternative benchmark rate and the specific
triggering event on which the clause is activated.

For floating rate loans that are linked to HIBOR, the Group had
confirmed with the relevant counterparty HIBOR will continue to
maturity.

During the year, certain bank loans linked to LIBOR have been
transitioned to SOFR. The Group accounted for the changes using
the practical expedient in HKFRS 9 which allows the Group to
change the basis for determining the contractual cash flows
prospectively by revising the effective interest rate.

The Group is planning to transition the majority of its remaining
IBOR-linked contracts through introduction of, or amendments
to, fallback clauses into the contracts which will change the basis
for determining the interest cash flows from IBOR to SOFR at an
agreed point in time.

The Group is planning to transition the majority of its remaining
LIBOR-linked contracts through introduction of, or amendments
to, fallback clauses into the contracts which will change the basis
for determining the interest cash flows from LIBOR to alternative
reference rate at an agreed point in time.

39. €/t T B @)

HEEEEEBEREE @)

FZREERE @)

(i)

BRABEENRNER

7 o 3B 3 L B 5 2 A — 2B
5 AEBITTMA N EEH
EREEF R ATREREND
I8 B 2 ) SR 4 80 o U5 - A IR
ERRIEMA O R EREN &G
B RS EEREEFER
ERMAZRANEEBE S
f o

PEFBRITRERSHBNZ
BMEXER AEEDEZBRAX
SHFEAFBRITARXFER
HEZDIH -

R 5T RGRETRZRA
A RTE RO HREARR
R A R o Ak BB
B 75 4 25 Y B 25 0%% o ) 7 77 12
B AH BRI R R %
AR AR A B RBE
TERFERBRREEANR
SRBAORER -

AEEFEBEBAHNTIIARE
T HO 1R 48 16 OB R B K R 10 B AR
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-=F=A=+—HItFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Interest rate benchmark reform (Continued)

(i) Progress towards implementation of alternative
benchmark interest rates (Continued)
The following table shows the total amounts of outstanding
contracts and the progress in completing the transition to
alternative benchmark rates as at 31 March 2023. The amounts
of financial liabilities are shown at their carrying amounts.

Financial instruments Carrying
prior to transition Maturing in amounts
BEAMNEMIA EH £ 5 IREE
HK$'000

FHETT

39. €/t T B @)

B S EbE S B A R IBUR (&)

FZREERE @)
(i) BHEASEEANRNER(E)

TRITR-ZB_=F=ZA=T
—HARBEEANEBRLR KRR
REEMNZTBENER - BE
BEBEAEREEIIR -

Hedge Transition progress for
accounting financial instruments
5
ik SBIANBEER

Non-derivative financial liabilities

FTESHARE
Bank loans linked to HIBOR 2024 to 2025 9,899,536
EEBRITEAZER BB —EMF

IRITE E
Bank loans linked to LIBOR 2024 2,808,000
BB ITRERSHBE —EMF

IRITE

N/A HIBOR will continue till maturity
TEA BAEARTRAEREBESEE
) &

N/A  Expected to transition to SOFR by
30 June 2023
TER HEEHR_-_FT_=FXA
=t+HABEZERE
RIR R AL E A =
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE—-Z—=

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group determines fair

39. €/t T B @)

FZA=+—HILFE

TRMTHEAFEFE
AMEREERASENNEESH

values of various financial assets. SRBEEANTFTBEZER -
(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are () XEERBFEEERN
measured at fair value on a recurring basis FTHEIATEZEMEEDNF
(=

The Group's held-for-trading investments and equity instruments
at FVTOCI are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. The following table gives information about how the fair

values of these financial assets are determined.

AREHEEEREREAFE
AR RERAZRARE T
REREMARATETE T

FRFEABUNNEEZSERE

EAFEZER
Fair value
AFE
Fair value

2023 2022 hierarchy

—E-=F —ET- = AEEEBR
Financial assets
SREE
Held-for-trading Listed equity securities in Hong Listed equity securities in Hong Kong  Level 1

investments Kong — HK$104,536,000 (Note i) — HK$104,638,000 (Note i)

FEERRA BEBELTRAES— BB EMRAESF— F—

Equity instruments at
FVTOCI

BT EFAEA
2EWAZRA
®E

104,536,000 7% T (B &£i)

Listed equity securities in Hong
Kong — HK$119,500,000 (Note i)

BEBLTRAES—
119,500,000 & 7T (Bt &Fi)

Listed equity securities in the
PRC — HK$397,872,000
(Note ii)

HRE LT RAES—
397,872,000 % 7T (Fff X ii)

Unlisted equity investments
— HK$402,928,000 (Note iii)

FLETRARE—
402,928,000 7T (Fff &Eiii)

104,638,0007% 7T (Fff 5%i)

Listed equity securities in Hong Kong
— HK$135,773,000 (Note i)

BB LTRAZS—
135,773,000 7T (Fff 7Ei)

N/A

Unlisted equity investments
— HK$600,093,000 (Note i)
JELETRARIRE—
600,093,000 7T (Fff 5 iii)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #3
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZZT-_=F=-F=1+—HItFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. € T A um)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis
(Continued)

Notes:

(i) The fair values of the listed equity securities in Hong Kong are
determined based on the quoted market bid prices available on the
Stock Exchange. The fair value measurement is classified as Level 1
of the fair value hierarchy.

(i) The fair values of the listed equity securities in the PRC are
determined based on the quoted market bid prices available on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange. The fair value measurement is classified
as Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

(i) Unlisted equity investments represent the Group's investments in
entities which are mainly engaged in (a) investments in financial
assets measured at fair value and holding of bank and cash
balances; and (b) trading and storage and logistics of natural gas
and LPG.

The fair values of the unlisted equity investments are determined
by reference to market-based factors such as price-to-book ratio
and enterprise value to sales ratio, asset-based factors considering
the nature of underlying assets and liabilities held by the investees
and net assets value of the investees. The fair value measurement
is classified as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The directors of
the Company consider that none of these investments is
individually significant.

There were no transfers between instruments in Level 1, 2 and 3
in both years.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2022/23 HEIRARIZRER AT 2022/230 % HE

EMITEANFEEFTE @

(i)

\

N

AEBRBEFEEERND
FEFTEZEMEELF
EXE)

B i -

() BELTERABZFHRAFEER
M?%%ﬁZﬁ BEEMmEE -
AFEFESBRAFERBRE

—

(ii) *@Lm%$ FHAFEER
RINBEHER SRR TS ﬁﬁ
ﬁ?mo@?@ﬁsﬂﬁ%
BREMRE—

(i) FLEMERAREEAEEHTE
REF@QULNTEFAENSREE
RERFKARTRAESESR X
O)RARR BB HROE S
REERDRNEROKE -

FLETRAKRENRTFEDZ
EmEE  PEEHEXEIMHE
R EZEMBREBMFANER
EERBENMENEERE
M&W&EEWEEEEWE
AFEFEDERAFERE
mﬁiﬁ ARREERE &%
SREHTRERNEX -

“R=RTAEZHERMIE
FEHEER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZ=—ZE—-_=F=A=+—HItFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. £/t T B @)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments ERMITEAFEETE @

(Continued)

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are () X"EERBEZFEEERAD
measured at fair value on a recurring basis FTEFEZEREENAE
(Continued) EXE)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of CREEEF=ZHAFEFEZ

financial assets HEE

Unlisted equity

investments

at FVTOCI

5 A PEEA

Hit 2 EUKA

ZFELETRAE

RE

HK$'000

FAET

As at 1 April 2021 R-ZZE-_—FWA—H 582,991

Addition NE 25,995

Disposal & (24,956)

Exchange adjustment PE 5, 3 2 16,063

As at 31 March 2022 R-ZE_—_F#=A=+—H 600,093

Disposal ke (92,012)
Decrease in fair value recognised in other FFAEMEEmEKA Z A FER D

comprehensive income (67,869)

Exchange adjustment b 5 B (37,284)

As at 31 March 2023 RZB_=%f=RA=+—H 402,928

(ii) Fair value of Group's financial assets and financial (i) XEERBEEEEN I
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a BANFEEIIEZCEREE
recurring basis RERAasATE
The fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities is HitsmEERSRHBEATE
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models TIIREARZ EEBEAIZILIFIR
based on discounted cash flow analysis. The directors of the ERENPITIMEET AAFES
Company consider that the carrying amounts of other financial REIREEKAYNEZE S
assets and financial liabilities carried at amortised cost MEENSHABAERERAEHRESR
approximate their respective fair values. BZAEEHBESE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE-T-=F=A=+—HItFE

40. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 40. & ZBHEEX v ABYHE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from TREBAEEMETHEL 2 EBER
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. BHFE BHEBESNLIERSES 7
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows BEHELAZ7EBBEIIREREH KK
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated B RENAERGZEEREESTRERD
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities. HARE LIRS RECAGE -
Amounts due
Borrowings to non-
(including loan controlling
Dividend Consideration interest Lease interest of
payable payables payables) liabilities  subsidiaries Total
EE KR
(BREEM NREER
ERARE ENRE EXFE) HEEE E&ERE a3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAET FTAT FTHEL FTAET FTHET FTAT
(notes 29 and 31)
(B E29131)
At 1 April 2021 RZZEZ—FmMA—H — 181,753 49,260,639 715,449 424,134 51,581,975
Financing cash flows BERENE (3,062,449) (19,188) 3,290,168 (296,708) (60,763)  (148,940)
Foreign exchange translation ~ SMEHTE — 5,581 1,814,422 8,528 14321 1,842,852
Interest expenses MERX — — 1,929,253 76,232 — 2,005,485
Dividend declared SRS 3,062,449 — — — — 3,062,449
New leases entered AL = = = 66,417 = 66,417
Consideration payables ERRE = 275,026 = — — 275,026
Disposal and windingupof ~ HEMB R R K
subsidiary MBREER — — = = (65,986)  (65,986)
At 31 March 2022 R-_ZE__%
=A=+t—H — 443172 56,294,432 1,569,918 311,706 58,619,278
Financing cash flows BERERE (2,992,185) (114,973) 4,510,415  (280,666) (90,595) 1,031,996
Foreign exchange translation ~ SME#TE = (32,921) (3,038,111)  (15,253) (23,146)  (3,109,431)
Interest expenses FISRAX = = 2,497,312 68,483 — 2,565,795
Dividend declared EIRRE 2,992,185 = = — — 2,992,185
New leases entered KR = = = 33,562 = 33,562
At 31 March 2023 RZZZ=F
“A=+—H — 295,278 60,264,098 1,376,044 197,965 62,133,385
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41.

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE T -_=F=FA=+—HIFE

COMMITMENTS

Operating lease arrangements
The Group as lessor

All of the Group’s premises, equipment, vessels and motor vehicles held
for rental purposes have committed lessees for the next one and after
five years (2022: next one and after five years).

Lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

41. EE

REHENZ B
AEBESHAA

AEBEMMARELNERENDE &
B MR ERAEERAR—FRAF
BHTEBEA(CZCEZZF : REK—F
MEFE) -

HEEENEKESIT

2023 2022

—E-= =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Within one year —F R 138,659 82,450
In the second year F_F 14,002 22,337
In the third year F=F 3,115 15,483
In the fourth year 0 F 2,862 3,723
In the fifth year ERF 2,142 3,489
After five years AFE 6,033 2,888
166,813 130,370

Leases are negotiated for an average term of one to twenty years (2022:
one to twenty years) with fixed rentals.

Capital commitments

The Group has capital commitments in respect of the acquisition of
property, plant and equipment, construction materials for property,
plant and equipment and properties under development contracted for
but not provided in the consolidated financial statements amounting to
HK$179,574,000 (2022: HK$284,911,000), HK$134,206,000 (2022:
HK$243,323,000) and HK$235,176,000 (2022: HK$671,940,000)
respectively.

As disclosed in note 19, the Group cooperated with CIIF to establish the
Fund. The capital commitment regarding the Group’s remaining capital
contributions to the Fund amounted to RMB279,792,000 (approximately
HK$319,762,000) (2022: RMB1,085,365,000 (approximately
HK$1,339,956,000)).

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #3

BNz FHFBERER—E- 14
- m-im) aEs

=

B3 -

BAENE

AEERETNKRBERREA Y
BHRxBEHBRZME BEARE

ME BMEREBENEEMN B K3
&Y% 5 R EE A #0179,574,000
o ( = & = — £ :284,911,000#

JT) ~ 134,206,000 T (=T — — F :
243,323,000 Jt ) & 235,176,000 7% 7T
(ZZT = — % :671,940,000/8 L) 2 &
ARHEHE -

MK 19T E A& EEAP R
AERYZES AEBYEZES
FlepHEBBONERAAKERARKE
279,792,000 7t ( #7319,762,0007% JT )
(ZZE =% : AR ™1,085,365,0007T
(#91,339,956,0007%8 7T) ) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE_—_ZE-_=F=FA=+—HIFE

certain subsidiaries were pledged to a bank for credit facilities granted
to the Group.

Restrictions on assets

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$1,376,044,000 (2022:
HK$1,569,918,000) are recognised with related right-of-use assets of
HK$1,299,636,000 (2022: HK$1,531,344,000) as at 31 March 2023.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor and the
relevant leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2022/23 HEIRRIZRER AT 2022/238 K&

42. PLEDGE OF OR RESTRICTIONS ON ASSETS 42. EEEK AR &
Pledge of assets B EEH
The Group pledged certain non-current and current assets and equity AEBBERETHBRAR Z2ETIER
interests over certain subsidiaries to banks or financial institutions to HRRHEENMBRAERZER FEIT
secure loan facilities granted to the Group. Carrying amount of the L MEE  (FEAEEERE ERR
non-current and current assets pledged to banks or financial institutions BZHER-BEMBFRITNSEE
to secure loan facilities granted to the Group is as follows: EAREBERZZERREERZIE
mEBERBEERAENDT
2023 2022
—EBE-=F -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Long-term loan facilities RHER@E
Property, plant and equipment and investment ME - B MR E K
properties REWE 5,907,983 2,992,542
Other deposits Hiiz s - 67,902
Short-term loan facilities HHERmME
Pledged bank deposits BEEFRITER 178,696 177,968
6,086,679 3,238,412
At the end of the reporting period, the Company's equity interests in RBEEHR NAFRETHBA A

ZERAEZCABR T AEBE ZEER
BHEAT —MERT

EERS

o RZZE=Z=F=A=+— EIEE
RIEERAE1,376,044,0008 T (—E =
— % :1,569,918,0007% T ) & 8 #8 &
7 & #1,299,636,000 T (—Z & = —
£ :1,531,344,000/8 ) - B A
EMHEELEETPMEBESIN HE
WETEMNERNRE  MAREEER
ENSAERTER-
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44,

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HE_ZT_=6=A=+—HIL5E

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group has joined a MPF Scheme for all employees in Hong Kong.
The MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Authority under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in funds under the control of an independent
trustee. Under the rule of the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the scheme at
rate specified in the rules. The only obligation of the Group with respect
of the MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions under the
scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution
payable in the future years as at 31 March 2023 and 2022.

Employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are covered by the
retirement and pension schemes defined by local practice and
regulations. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a specific
percentage of their payroll costs to the retirement and pension
schemes. The only obligation of the Group in respect to the retirement
benefits scheme is to make the specified contribution.

The calculation of contributions for PRC eligible staff is based on certain
percentage of the applicable payroll costs. The contribution to the MPF
Scheme is calculated based on the rules set out in the MPF Ordinance
which is 5% on the basic salary of the relevant employee subject to a
specific ceiling.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Apart from the amounts due from (to) related parties and transactions
as disclosed in notes 19, 25, 26 and 29, the Group entered into the
following transactions with major related parties that are not members
of the Group:

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group purchased gas
for total amount of HK$58,603,000 (2022: HK$67,420,000)
from a joint venture.

(i)  During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group sold gas
appliances, consumables and spare parts for a total amount of
HK$306,181,000 (2022: HK$837,519,000) to joint ventures and
associates.

43.

44,

iR 4K 48 A &1 8l

AEBAMEREREES NGBS
glo BB NBREREELTES
BHl - mEEEAEEHEEERE
fl-BBESHBECEERASEZE
ENRABEETHBIITAETE 1R
BRESFEZRAN BREREER
AUARBIETE 2 b R M & ar 8 3K -
AEBRABESHE ZH ST AL
AT ZEBERER - RFT_=ZFK
—E-—FZRA=+—H TELRK
AT ERAR R REF B 2 5K o

AEBETREMBRARZEREXMITIE
Bl R R E FE 2 BAK S BRIK & 5T &R
(= - M8 A BZARERNKKEKRE G S
BRETEXRAZEEA D LIELH
Re AKRBERAKRBAFE cRETE
RIERREMRK -

TEAERBTIHANDREERTE
KRAETEDLAE - HREDSAE
Z BRI AR5 58 78 & 15 B B 71 BA A5 R
AE RBREERFH Z5%MEE L
BB

BT RS

M BfsE19 25 26 2290 BRIl I &8 ~ JiE
W (ER) BB A 2 RBBRER S I K
SEAYIFAEEKXERRIZEEH
Bt RIS RAIR 5 ¢

) H#E-_ZTZT-_=Z=F=Z/F=+—
BEFE AEBNUNREHE
58,603,000 ;L (= & = = F:
67,420,000 T) M —B A& E R A

(i) BHE—DZE-_=F#=H=+—
BEFE AEBNUNREE
306,181,000 (=T = — F :
837,519,000 L) WA & A A &
HENRHERRZE  HRE®
M A -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE—ZT-—=F=A=+—HItFE

44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(iif)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group received
engineering design and construction revenue for total amount of
HK$1,089,462,000 (2022: HK$588,875,000) from joint ventures.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group received
design and construction fee for the building of property, plant
and equipment of the total amount of HK$414,435,000 from
joint ventures (2023: Nil).

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group purchased
consumables and spare parts for total amount of
HK$175,431,000 (2022: HK$181,878,000) from joint ventures.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group sold gas for
total amount of HK$195,243,000 (2022: HK$181,359,000) to a
joint venture.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group entered into
sale and purchase agreements with the respective holders of the
remaining equity interests holders for a total consideration of
HK$2,032,058,000 (2022: HK$3,325,453,000). Details of the
transactions has been disclosed in note 36.

44. BB R 5 )

(iii)

(iv)

(vii)
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Bz Z2-_=%=ZHA=+—H
HEFEE AEEREGE QAR
MIBEZFEREIWRABLRES
1,089,462,000/% jt( = & = =
£F : 588,875,000/8 7T) °

BE_ET-_—_##=ZA=+—HIt
FE - AEENREGE QA IREHE
BYE - BERRBERE KiE
T & 48 %8 /414,435,000 T (=
To=F |
BE_Z_ZF#=ZA=+—HL
FE AEEREGELRREHE
Fem M E M - 4% /8175,431,000
BT (& = — 4 181,878,000
BIL) °

BHE-_ZE-_=%F=H=+—
BEFE A"EBUNRBREE:
195,243,000 (=& = =
181,359,000 L) M — & E R
AL EMER -

BE_ZT_ZF=ZA=+—HL
FE ASEHESBRBREZREA
ZEENBEBEARILEE RS &
R {8 5$2,032,058,000/8 T (==
— — £ :3,325,453,000/8 T) c R
SHBERKIE36HE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE T -_=F=FA=+—HIFE

44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(viii)

(ix)

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group entered into 2
time charter contracts with a joint venture for the lease of vessels.
The value of right-of-use assets recognised under the transaction
was approximately HK$1,580,993,000 at the commencement
date of the lease. During the year ended 31 March 2023, the
lease payment, lease liabilities and interest on lease liabilities for
the leased vessels are HK$197,923,000 (2022: HK$197,923,000),
HK$1,215,460,000 (2022: HK$1,353,467,000) and
HK$59,917,000 (2022: HK$66,165,000) respectively.

The Group provided guarantees for banking facilities granted to
the Group's associates and joint ventures. Details are disclosed in
notes 18 and 19 respectively.

44. BB R 5 )

viilh 2 —E-_—_F=A=+—H81t
FE AEEHE-—HMEEARH
HEMMITLMHOMMEES
B MXSETERINEREE
Efﬁf‘ﬁ%ﬁﬂa‘ﬂﬁfﬁﬁaﬁsﬁmi’]
1,580,993,000/8 L - HE T =
=F=A=+—HLFE" fﬂf‘f
WHMHHEENR BHEaEBERE
E8EFEBE D5 A197,923,000
BT (& = — 4 197,923,000
7 7T) ~ 1,215,460,0007 T (= &
— — £ :1,353,467,0008 T ) &
59,917,000 (=& = =
66,165,000 7T) °

(i) AEBAASEEBRLZ NG E
NaEESHMRTREREER-
FBED RN 18R 191K FE -

The remuneration of key management of the Group was as follows: REBTEZEEEEB M0 T :

2023 2022
—=E=-= —E-=

HK$°000 HK$'000
TERT FET
Short-term benefits = HIfE A 51,706 37,555
Post-employment benefits BB 12 12 A 72 72
51,778 37,627

The remuneration of key management is determined by the
remuneration committee having regard to the performance of
individuals and market trends.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #3
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE_Z_=4=-A=1+—HI[FE

45. LEGAL CLAIMS

On 30 March 2017, the Company received a form of claim filed by a
former director of the Company in the Labour Tribunal of Hong Kong
claiming approximately HK$140 million (being the alleged loss of salary
in the sum of HK$21.6 million (annual salary of HK$7.2 million) for the
three financial years ended 31 March 2014 and the aggregate bonus in
the sum of approximately HK$118.4 million for the four financial years
ended 31 March 2014) and other unliquidated damages and interest
from the Company for the alleged wrongful dismissal by the Company
of a former director of the Company as a director and an employee of
the Company on 29 March 2011. By the mutual consent of the parties
to the claim, the claim has been transferred to the Court of First
Instance of the High Court.

In addition, the above former director and several other share option
holders initiated legal proceedings against the Company with regard to
their respective purported exercise of share options, which would have
entitled the relevant persons to a total of 110,000,000 shares of the
Company.

In respect of the aforementioned legal proceedings, the Company has
sought advice from its legal advisors and has been advised that there is
a sound basis for defending the above claims, no amount of contingent
liabilities was provided as at 31 March 2023 and 2022. For details of
the legal proceedings, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 2 June 2017 on the website of the Stock Exchange
(please note that the above former director has since withdrawn his
claims against the Company in respect of HCA751/2017 referred to in
the said announcement).

45.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZZT-_=F=H=+—HItFE

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. TEM B L BFE

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FTEWMBARGFBOT
Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/ Form of business capital/registered issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
AR HEERTRA AARFBECBRITRE
HEAREH oM/ EEeE  EREERI /EMER /EMEREE L TEER
2023 2022
—EB-=E —E-CF
% %
FRRREZ(RINERAA  PRC Wholly-foreign owned Registered 100* 100" Investment holding and treasury
enterprises USD234,589,000
(“WFOE")
H SEBELE A REERKER
234,589,000 70
FHREERB A PRC WFOE Registered 100" 100" Investment holding and treasury
USD250,000,000
FE SNEBERE i REERRES
250,000,000% 7T
LERPRIRARBEMERLDE  PRC Sino-foreign equity Registered 60" 60" Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
joint venture RMB20,000,000 construction
HE FINEERE A RARHERMAEERR
AR #20,000,0007C
EERRETRAEEERAR  PRC Sino-foreign equity Registered 80* 80* Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
joint venture RMB44,022,000 construction
e RARBLE Al AARHERMATEER
AR #44,022,0007C
EHPRATRALEERAA  PRC Sino-foreign equity Registered 90* 90" Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
joint venture RMB100,000,000 construction
HE FINEERE A RARHERMAEERR
A K #100,000,0007C
HETRHETRAEREER LA PRC Limited liability Registered 70% 70% Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB70,000,000 construction
e BERERAT i AARHERMATEER
AR #70,000,0007C
ERTRATHRRERERAA  PRC Limited liability Registered 100% 100" Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB72,000,000 construction
HE BERERERA A RARHERMAEERR
AR #72,000,0007C
ERPMRAREB A PRC Sino-foreign equity Registered 100% 100* Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
joint venture RMB118,950,000 construction
e RARBLE Al AARHERMATEER
AR 118,950,0007C
ZRPDHTRREREAERDA  PRC Sino-foreign equity Registered 100* 100* Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
joint venture RMB16,002,000 construction
HE FINEERE A RARHERMAEERR
AR #16,002,0007C
BT RERERAR  PRC WFOE Registered 100" 100" Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
USD6,060,000 construction
el SNEBERE i AARHERMATEER
6,060,000% 7T

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #3
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE—-ZT—

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = E[E A 7

(Continued)

=F=ZA=t—HLHFE

ESACY

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/ Form of business capital/registered issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
HAMAIR BREBITRE ARAAMBERTRE
) PR oM/ EEn EREHEEI /EMER /EMEREE LA TEEH
2023 2022
—E-=H —E-CfF
% %
BMRRATRRERERDA  PRC Sino-foreign equity Registered 75" 75 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
joint venture RMB40,000,000 construction
HE FINEERE i AARHERMAEBRR
AR #40,000,0007C
EETPRHATRREEERLR  PRC Sino-foreign equity Registered 64* 64" Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
joint venture RMB265,725,582 construction
FE FHNEERE A RARBEERMREEER
AR 265,725,582 7T
BEPREZFMAEE PRC Limited liability Registered 64" 64* Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
BERAR company RMB38,000,000 construction
HE BEREMEAR i AARHERMAEBRR
AR #38,000,0007C
BETRBARABEARLR PRC Limited liability Registered 64* 64" Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB20,000,000 construction
FE BEREAERARA A AARHERMATERR
AR #20,000,0007C
ARPRATRRERERAR  PRC Sino-foreign equity Registered 100* 100* Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
joint venture RMB200,000,000 construction
HE FIHNEERE i AARHERMAEBRR
AR #200,000,0007C
EIER A TR EEERAR  PRC Sino-foreign equity Registered 70% 70" Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
joint venture RMB133,330,000 construction
FE FIHNEERE A RARBEERMREEER
AR 133,330,000
BEMRRERAAF PRC Limited liability Registered 80% 80" Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB 183,800,000 construction
HE BEREMEAR i AARHERMAEBRR
AR #183,800,0007C
BEMRARRATERMER  PRC Limited liability Registered 80" 80" Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
BRAR company RMB20,000,000 construction
FE BEREAEARA i AARHERMATERR
AR #20,000,0007C
FERHERERERAR PRC Limited liability Registered 100* 100* Investment in petrochemical facilities
company RMB1,130,000,000 of storage and transportation,
fundamental facilities of pier and
sales of LPG
HE BEREMLAR A f E{t f%ﬁﬁr&éim&ﬁ%”ﬁ
AR #1,130,000,0007 SERERIPGHE
IR ESERERAR PRC Limited liability Registered 100* 100" Sales, producing and storing LPG and
company RMB300,000,000 chemical products
FE BEREAEARA i WE EERRAELGR
AR #300,000,0007 tIES
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. EE[i & A A

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE—-ZT—

=F=ZA=t—HLHFE

ESACY

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/ Form of business capital/registered issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
HAMAIR BREBITRE ARAAMBERTRE
) PR oM/ EEn EREHEEI /EMER /EMEREE LA TEEH
2023 2022
—E-=H —E-CfF
% %
BMEZENRARRERD A PRC Limited liability Registered 100% 100* Sales and manufacturing of highly
company USD60,000,000 purified LPG, highly purified
propane and butane
FE BEREAEARA i HEREERFILG &F
60,000,000 7T Ak RT b
Rl EEBER AR PRC Limited liability Registered 100* 100* Sales of LPG
company RMB400,000,000
HE BEREARA i PG E
AR #400,000,0007C
Fortune Gas Investment Holdings Hong Kong Limited liability Ordinary 100* 100 Investment holding, sales of natural
Limited company HK$876,980,000 gas and CBM business
BHRAREBRERAA B BEREAAA L@ REER  AARHERGBM
876,980,0007% 7 EBER
LREERRERAA PRC Limited liability Registered 80" 80" Sales of natural gas
company RMB50,000,000
FE EREEAF Fali RARHE
AR #50,000,00070
BEHRRREERADA PRC WFOE Registered 100* 100" Investment holding
UsD30,000,000
FE SEBELE A REER
30,000,005 7T
EHEHREERAR PRC Sino-foreign equity Registered 100* 100* Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
joint venture RMB64,000,000 construction
HE FINEERE i AARHERMAEBRR
AR #:64,000,00070
EHIHRRAER DA Hong Kong Limited liability Ordinary 70% 70" Exploration and production of coal
company UsD102,460,140 bed methane
(2022: USD59,027,780)
Bk EREMEAF @ HRREERER
102,460,140 % 7T
(ZB=-=F:
59,027,780 L)
MR RE TR AERERAG  PRC Limited liability Registered 100% 100" Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB100,000,000 construction
FE BEREAEARA i AARHERMATERR
AE#100,000,0007
EERPRARREERADA PRC Sino-foreign equity Registered 75% 75" Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
joint venture RMB16,000,000 construction
HE FINEERE i AARHERMAEBRR
AR #16,000,0007C
ERFRRBETRRER PRC Limited liability Registered 99" 99* Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
BRAR company RMB150,000,000 construction
FE BEREAEARA i AARHERMATERR
AR #150,000,0007

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #3
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE—-ZT—
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = E[E A 7

ESACY

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/ Form of business capital/registered issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
R L BRERTRE ARRABERTRE
) PR oM/ EENE  EBERES /EMER /EMEREE LA TEEH
2023 2022
—E-=H —E-CfF
% %
HERKATRRERERAE PRC Limited liability Registered 100* 100* Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB300,000,000 construction
HE EREMEAR i AARHERMAEBRR
AR #300,000,0007C
RIRERER ORI BER AR PRC Limited liability Registered 100 100" Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
company USD59,600,000 construction and investment
holding
H BEREMERAA Fali AARHERMAEBRR
59,600,0003 7T KRR AR
FI TR R AR MERAT  PRC Limited liability Registered 100* 100" Development and investment in clean
company RMB10,000,000 energy projects
FE BEREAERARA A RERZREERERER
AE#10,000,0007C
TEREATRRERERAR  PRC Limited liability Registered 85" 85" Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB397,050,000 construction
HE BEREMEAR i AARHERMAEBRR
AR #397,050,0007C
RREARERE SERAT PRC Limited liability Registered 100% 100" Wholesale and trading of natural gas
company RMB300,000,000 and liquefied natural gas
FE BEREAERARA A RARRRICR AR T
A& #300,000,0007C $EEH
A RS E (R PRC Limited liability Registered 100* 100* Provision of procurement services to
BERARF company RMB100,000,000 group companies
HE BEREMERAR i AEBRDRRBEERE
AR #100,000,0007C
Panva Gas Holdings Limited BVI Limited liability Ordinary 100* 100" Investment holding and sales of LPG
company UsD0.01
(2022: USD1,111)
BIRRERERA KEEXHS EREMEAF L@ REERKLIPGHE
0.01%7T
(ZB=-=F:
(RIESP)
China Natural Gas Investment BVI Limited liability Ordinary 100° 100" Investment holding
Limited company Usb100
FEAARREER AT HERLEHE BERAERTF E@ REER
100X 7T
Panriver Investments Company Hong Kong Limited liability Ordinary 100* 100* Investment holding
Limited company HK$1
BIRERRAA Bk BREFARA @ REER
18T
Energy Link Investments Limited Hong Kong Limited liability Ordinary 100° 100" Investment holding
company HK$1
KERREERATF N BEREAARA L@ REER
1H T
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZZT-_=F=H=+—HItFE

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. T EH B A 7
(Continued)

ESACY

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/ Form of business capital/registered issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
HAMAIR BRERTRE ARRABERTRE
) PR oM/ EEn EREHEEI /EMER /EMEREE LA TEEH
2023 2022
—E-=H —E-CfF
% %
China Gas Energy Utilization Hong Kong Limited liability Ordinary 100 100" Investment holding
Holdings Limited company HK$1
R RN B ER AR Bk BREFARA @ REER
18T
Zhongran Energy Network Hong Kong Limited liability Ordinary 100 100" Investment holding
Development Limited company HK$100
TR RBEERERAR N BEREARQR L@ REER
1007 7T
REFMEREEERAR PRC Limited liability Registered 100% 100* Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB390,310,169 construction
HE BEREMEAR i AARHERMAEBRR
AR #390,310,1697C
Beijing Gas Development Limited BVI Limited liability Ordinary 100* 100" Investment holding
company usD100
TRBERERDA KERTHS BEREARQR L@ REER
100X 7T
BN RERERAA PRC Limited liability Registered 99% 99* Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB300,000,000 construction
HE BEREMEAR i AARHERMAEBRR
AR #300,000,0007C
EMFREAARERAA PRC Limited liability Registered 88.91% 88.91% Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB118,000,000 construction
el BERAMERTF i AARHERMATERR
AR 118,000,000
FREARERIEER PRC Limited liability Registered 100% 100* Development and consultancy services
company RMB80,000,000 in gas pipeline construction
HE BEREMEAR Al MREELRERBARY
AR #:80,000,0007C
HRE T AR TR R B R PRC Limited liability Registered 100* 100" Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
BERRA company RMB80,000,000 construction
el BERAMERTF i AARHERMATERR
AR #80,000,0007C
LT REEENERRIER PRC Limited liability Registered 85" 85" Development, consultancy services
BERARF company RMB107,500,000 and investment in clean energy
HE BEREMEAR i BRERRAE FARBR
AR #107,500,0007 k&
FhmRahEREBERAT PRC Limited liability Registered 100* 100 Provision of distributed heating
company RMB300,000,000 services
el BERAMERTF i REtH A H 2RSS
A K #300,000,0007
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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46. PARTICULARS
(Continued)

OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. X EME A T

=F=ZA=t—HLHFE

ESACY

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/ Form of business capital/registered issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
R L BRERTRE ARRABERTRE
Lol PR oM/ EENE  EBERES /EMER /EMERAEELL TEXK
2023 2022
g S 3 —E-CfF
% %
RREHENEERR PRC Limited liability Registered 100* 100* Sales of electricity and development,
company RMB500,000,000 consultancy services and
investment in clean energy
el BEREERTF i BENHERBRERAE
AR #500,000,0007T RS RRE
FYITARRRRER6RRER  PRC Limited liability Registered 100* 100" Investment holding
BERARF company RMB700,000,000
Rl BEREARA Fali REER
A& #700,000,0007C
Zhongran Energy Limited Hong Kong Limited liability Ordinary 100 100" LPG trading
company HK$50,000,002
hRRRERER A Eit BERAERTF 3 lPGE 5
50,000,002 7 7T
Sky Access Holdings Limited BVI Limited liability Ordinary 100* 100" Investment holding
company usD100
RERAREE BEREARA @ REER
100% 7T
Fresh Goal Limited BVI Limited liability Ordinary 100° 100" Investment holding
company usD1
EHEBRAF KBRS BERAERTF E@ REZRK
(EYH
China Gas Capital Management BVI Limited liability Ordinary 100* 100" Group financing and treasury
Limited company usb100
TERRERERBRARF RERAREE EREMEAF @ SERERER
100% 7T
BERREREEER AR PRC Limited liability Registered 100* 100" Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB100,000,000 construction
el BERAMERTF Al AARHERMREBER
AE#100,000,0007
RERRREEBR AR PRC Limited liability Registered 100" 100* Investment in the construction of ity
company RMB69,980,000 gas pipeline network,
petrochemical and natural gas
projects
HE BEREARA i HHTRREMER Al
AR #69,980,000 7 AARMBERETRE
IERERERAR PRC Limited liability Registered 65" 65* Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
BERERARA company RMB133,000,000 construction
el BERAMERTF Al AARHERMREBER
AR 133,000,000
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZZT-_=F=H=+—HItFE

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = E[E A 7

(Continued)

ESACY

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/ Form of business capital/registered issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
HAMAIR BRERTRE ARRABERTRE
il PN oM/ EEn EREHEEI /EMER /EMEREE LA TEEH
2023 2022
—E-=H —E-CfF
% %
HAEER AT RRER PRC Limited liability Registered 96.5" 64.1% Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
BERAR company RMB774,027,200 construction
HE BREFAR i AARHERMAEBRR
AR #774,027,2007C
BEhRkmRR R PRC Limited liability Registered 100* 100" Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
BRERA company RMB40,000,000 construction
el BERAMERTF i AARHERMATERR
A K ¥ 40,000,000 7
EMEAERBRER PRC Limited liability Registered 7" 71* Provision of value-added services and
company RMB200,000,000 wholesale and retail of household
equipment, electric appliances,
kitchen appliances and others
HE BEREMLAR A f RELERERRAR
AR #200,000,0007C EX HEERERBRTE
RREER(RINERARA PRC Limited liability Registered 100 80" Research and development,
company RMB30,000,000 wholesale, retail, installation, and
maintenance of household
equipment, electric appliances,
kitchen appliances and others
HE BEREMAR F ZARE EX HEEHRE
AR #30,000,0007C ME #fE TE 2R
R
Rich Legend International Limited BVI Limited liability Ordinary 100* 100" Investment holding
company usD100
KEEXHS EREMEAF @ REER
100% 7T
FITRRRRERA A PRC Limited liability Registered 100* 100 Investment holding
company RMB50,000,000
el BERAERTF i REER
A K ¥50,000,000 70
WERAEZERER AR PRC Limited liability Registered 100* 100* Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB200,000,000 construction
HE BREFARA A AARHERMAEBRR
AR #200,000,0007C
EERRATRREEERLAR  PRC Limited liability Registered 89.55 89.55" Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB50,000,000 construction
el BERAMERTF i AARHERMATERR
A K ¥50,000,000 7
Hai Xia Finance Limited Hong Kong Limited liability Ordinary 100* 100% Securities investments
company HK$2
BIRSBEERD A Bk BREFARA @ BHERE
2B
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = E[E A 7

(Continued)

=F=ZA=t—HLHFE

ESACY

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/ Form of business capital/registered issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
HAMAIR BRERTRE ARRABERTRE
) PR oM/ EEn EREHEEI /EMER /EMEREE LA TEEH
2023 2022
—E-=H —E-CfF
% %
EEMINRKR IR RAMER PRC Sino-foreign equity Registered 65" 65* Design, construction and maintenance
joint venture RMB6,000,000 of city pipeline projects
HE FHNEERE FEai MR EREA R ER
AR #6,000,000 7 L#e
FYITRREZERER PRC Limited liability Registered 100* 100" Development and consultancy services
BRERA company RMB10,000,000 in natural gas projects and
investment holding
H BEREMEAR Fali RARER 2 % R#E?
A& #10,000,000 7 PR bA R 3% B IR
FYNLBRRIREBAR PRC Limited liability Registered 100* 100" Provision of construction services
company RMB40,000,000
FE BEREARQRA A REZZRY
AR #40,000,0007C
EERREREREERAA PRC Limited liability Registered 100* 100* Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB158,214,000 construction
HE BEREMEAR i AARHERMAEBRR
AR #158,214,00070
ERTPREREREEERLF  PRC Limited liability Registered 60* 60" Development, consultancy services
company RMB50,000,000 and investment in natural gas and
clean energy
H BEREMEAR i AARRBRERAE 7
AR #50,000,000 70 MR k& &
AR RATRREEERLF  PRC WFOE Registered 100* 100" Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
HK$59,450,000 construction
FE SNEBELE A AARHERMATERR
59,450,000 7T
2EIPMRETRARE PRC Limited liability Registered 100* 100* Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
BERAR company RMB234,358,158 construction
HE BEREMEAR i AARHERMAEBRR
AR #234,358,158 ¢
REERMRRER AR PRC Limited liability Registered 70% 70" Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB30,000,000 construction
el BERAMERTF i AARHERMATERR
AE#30,000,0007C
Electronic Business Development BVI Limited liability Ordinary 7" 71* Investment holding
Company Limited company usb100
EFHBERAERAA KEEXHS EREMEAF L@ REER
100% 7T
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZZT-_=F=H=+—HItFE

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = EME A 5 =15 @)
(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/ Form of business capital/registered issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
HAMAIR BREBITRE ARAAMBERTRE
) PR oM/ EENE  EBERES /EMER /EMEREE LA TEXK
2023 2022
g S 3 —E-CfF
% %
Lofty Intellect Limited BVI Limited liability Ordinary 100* 100 Investment holding
company USD50,000
FEERAA KEEXHS EREEAF @ REER
50,000% 7T
Nova Gas Limited BVI Limited liability Ordinary 100% 100 Investment holding
company usb2
HERLEHE BERAERTF e REER
2ET
IHAMRIACERDR PRC WFOE Registered 100% 100* Sales of chemical products and
USD8,100,000 provision of transportation services
HE SEBELE i tERHEERER
8,100,000% ¢
BETRRETRRERDF PRC Limited liability Registered 51% 51% Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB110,000,000 construction
FE BEREAERARA A AARHERMATERR
AE#110,000,0007
REPRATRRERERDA  PRC WFOE Registered 100* 100* Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB50,000,000 construction
HE SNEBELE i AARHERMAEBRR
AR #50,000,0007C
EEPRATRREEERLR  PRC Limited liability Registered 80% 80" Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
company RMB68,550,000 construction
FE BEREAERARA A AARHERMATERR
AR ¥68,550,000 70
# Directly held # BHERA
e Indirectly held "" MERE
The above table lists the principal subsidiaries of the Company which, in FTRENESA AU AEEBEFSE
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or assets of EETEXEZARRSETENRBA
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of Al -BERAREEMHNBE AR
the directors, result in particulars of excessive length. SEFERBRTE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZ=—ZE-—=F=A=+—HItFE

47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 47. Zx D B Bt #& 4k 7 &

COMPANY

Information about the statement of the financial position of the

ARRRNBEMR I BRAKRER

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: mR
2023 2022
—EgE-= = _
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENEE 1,940 2,730
Interests in subsidiaries NB AT 2 16,776,323 15,512,979
Investments in associates REEANRIZKE 1,354,757 1,363,305
Investments in joint ventures REERAIZKE 603,146 606,774
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BRATEAEMEEKA
ZBRATHE 2,900 2,900
Amounts due from subsidiaries Al NI Q] 26,539,289 30,161,499
45,278,355 47,650,187
Current assets MENVEE
Other receivables and prepayment H b pE W BR T8 K T8~ F 18 2,645 6,597
Cash and cash equivalents BeMIReEMEIAEH 577,492 727,490
580,137 734,087
Current liabilities nEa &
Other payables and accruals b B A BR 1B K B RT SRR 79,011 102,484
Amounts due to subsidiaries FE TR B A R RRIE 15,339,287 13,323,899
Bank and other borrowings — RITREMEE—
due within one year R—F A H 980,221 4,034,354
16,398,519 17,460,737
Net current liabilities mEBEFE (15,818,382) (16,726,650)
29,459,973 30,923,537
Equity s
Share capital A& 54,403 54,403
Reserves % 5 24,469,028 24,516,599
Total equity P T ABRE 24,523,431 24,571,002
Non-current liability EREBEE
Bank and other borrowings — RITEEMERE—
due after one year N—F %5 H 4,936,542 6,352,535
29,459,973 30,923,537
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47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 47. 7 &) Bf #& Ak R 3% ()

COMPANY (continued)

Movement in the Company’s reserves:

Treasury
Share shares Translation
premium reserve reserve

BROEE FERRE BREHS

ARG ZHBES -
Employee
share-based Capital
Capital compensation redemption Accumulated
reserve reserve reserve profits Total
EER®B X
EAGRE BMRHE BEREE RHEN @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET FHET FTHT FHT FHET FET FHET
(Note)
(F¥ &%)

At 1 April 2021 —T--F¥MA-H 11,522,188 — (1,008,269) 65,475 — 1,794 5,502,120 16,083,308
Profit for the year i EaF — — — — — — 4,304,473 4,304,473
Exchange differences arising from B EAZEXEE

translation — — (477,020) — — — — (477,020
Issue of shares, net of transaction BIIRH NBRR S

costs BA) 11,598,871 — — — — — — 11,598,871
Repurchase of shares o] B8 A% 1 (2,845,464) (1,085,120) — — — 1,641 (1,641) (3,930,584)
Dividends recognised as distributions  #32 &9 & 2 i & — — — — — — (3,062,449) (3,062,449)
At 31 March 2022 R-FE-—

=A=+—H 20,275,595  (1,085,120) (1,485,289) 65,475 — 3,435 6,742,503 24,516,599

Profit for the year FEET = = - — — — 3,633,521 3,633,521
Exchange differences arising from BB EAZELEE

translation — — (689,252) — — — —  (689,252)
Recognition of equity-settled share  BERIL AL E AR5 A

based payment EWmHEZ = = = — 345 — — 345
Shares vested under the share award 18 1 ik ) 2 B 5t 21 55 B

scheme a3l — 380 — — (171) = (209) =
Dividends recognised as distributions #3272 & 2 i & — — — — — — (2,992,185) (2,992,185)
At 31 March 2023 R-E-=&

=A=+—-H 20,275,595  (1,084,740) (2,174,541) 65,475 174 3,435 7,383,630 24,469,028

Note: The capital reserve of the Company represents the difference between the
underlying net assets of the subsidiaries acquired by the Company as a
result of the group reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s
shares in 1995 and the nominal amount of the Company’s share capital
issued as consideration for the acquisition.

Biet  AEBZEAREBIEARDB KIS

ME ARz O EERARR R RGR
— AR F LT GEEEARRET
WHEABETARBRDABE L ZE -
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48. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Grant of share options under Share Option
Scheme

On 24 May 2023, the Group granted 3,000,000 share options under
the Share Option Scheme to an external consultant with exercise price
of HK$10.50 per share. The options are valid for a period of two years
from the date of grant, and subject to the fulfilment of the performance
targets and the options not being cancelled pursuant to the clawback
mechanism, shall be vested within two years from the date of grant.
Details are disclosed in the Company’s Announcement dated 24 May
2023.

Repurchase of the Company’s shares

On 25 May 2023, the Company purchased 4,762,600 shares of the
Company with aggregate repurchase costs of HK$43,723,000 from the
market. The shares are not cancelled as at the date of these
consolidated financial statements.

Proposed spin-off listing of part of the value-
added service businesses

The Company has received the approval of the Stock Exchange under
Practice Note 15 of the Listing Rules in relation to the proposed spin-off
and separate listing (the “Proposed Spin-off”) on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of part of its value-added service businesses (the “Spin-
off Business”). The Spin-off Business is operated under the “Yipin Smart
Living” platform that primarily engages in the sale and provision of
kitchen-focused household products and services including, among
others, kitchen appliances, safety products, household consumables,
and related services, will be held by a holding company as the listing
entity (“Spinco”) and that Spinco will remain as a subsidiary of the
Company upon completion of the Proposed Spin-off. The Proposed
Spin-off, if implemented, will enable Spinco to be valued as a separate
entity and reflect the intrinsic value of the Spin-off Business. Details are
disclosed in the Company’s Announcement dated 16 June 2023.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
pEHE | -

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=t—HLFE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EC=F —T-o—f —ET-—# =—ZE-FTH&E —T-NE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET TR TR TR TR

Results E i
Revenue WA 91,988,445 88,225,193 69,975,381 59,539,681 59,386,062
Profit for the year ViN/NETEZ ¥ =N
attributable to owners of FE(EE %A
the Company 4,293,484 7,662,036 10,478,683 9,188,474 8,224,382
At 31 March
R=A=+—H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=F —EBE-—-F —ZTE-—F ZE-TFE —ZZT-hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FA&T FE&T FHET FET
Assets and liabilities EEREE
Total assets BEE 157,291,209 163,146,352 140,720,642 112,099,544 109,899,276
Total liabilities wafE (92,500,830) (91,077,199) (80,856,510) (66,299,594) (69,106,688)
64,790,379 72,069,153 59,864,132 45,799,950 40,792,588
Equity attributable to NN
owners of the Company A AN Em 57,900,584 63,577,893 51,936,860 39,604,964 35,321,051
Non-controlling interests FEVE AR #E 2 6,889,795 8,491,260 7,927,272 6,194,986 5,471,537

64,790,379 72,069,153 59,864,132 45,799,950 40,792,588
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RARTIQU!.ARS OF MAJOR PROPERTIES
 EELES

Location Type Group’s interest (%) Lease term

b B 5l REMEZER(%) HH

Leasehold land and buildings

HELHRET

In Hong Kong:

BB

16/F., Capital Centre Office premises 100  Long term lease
No. 151 Gloucester Road /N R HIME A
Wan Chai

Hong Kong

BB

T

HEITEI515

EBARFR D161

In the People’s Republic of China:

R EARLRME :

tEmAREEL M B Office premises 100  Medium term lease
MAEYE FRHAZE A4Y

Bkt ES Commercial 100 Long term lease

B0 2 1y B B B AR 3R EES RHBEL

RERFI A

Investment properties

REYHE

Rkt ES Commercial 100 Long term lease

70 2 i E B AR IR [EES FHBELY

ZER L A

RN B A KB 5022 5% Commercial 100 Medium term lease

A EISBREEABAE 618 - 84 and office premises fh AR 49

1048 « 1348 + 1448 « 1548 2 1848 EENBATYE
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